STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
- ) SS. ]:] Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF COOK ) D Reverse [:] Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
' D PTD/Fatal-denied
[Xj Modify [ | IE None of the above

- BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Craig Eidrid_gef, | | S o
Pefitioner; B 2 i E W @ @ % 3
- v, | | | _' NO: 14 WC 2899
Kehe DistriI;)utofs LLC,
' Responden’t_.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

szely Pet1t10n for Revzew havmg been filed by the Petltloner hereln and notice glven to
all parties the Commission, aﬂer consndermo the i 1ssues of permanent partial dxsablhty, '
permanent total disability, and penalties and fees being advised of the facts and law, modifies
the Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and otherwise affirms and adopts the Demswn of
the Arbztrator Whlch is attached hereto and made a part hereof :

T he Comrmssmn modlﬁes the Decmon of the Arbltrator with respect to the issue of .
penalties and fees. Petitioner submitted two Petitions for Penaltles and Fees under sections 19(1)
19(k), and 16 of the Act. The first, filed on February 13, 2018, concerned unpald medical bills.
Petitioner attached a Section 12 teport from Dr. Brian Forsythe as confirming; that Petitioner’s
medical treatment had been reasonable and necessary. Petitioner also attached a group exhibit
including letters to Respondent’s counsel and medical bills from: Dr. Finn ($166.00 dated May
15,2017y Premlum Healthcare Solutions ($2,336.00 dated May 19, 2017); and Weiss Memorial
Hospital ($1,066.82 - ad}usted to $321.11 - dated May 15, 2017). The group exhibit also
included Dr. Rabb’s prescription for a functional capacity evaluation (FCE) dated June 27,2017
and Petmoner ] counsel S letter to Respondent s counsel seeking approval.

3

The sec_ond Petition for Penaltles and_ Fees, filed on Mareh 14, 2019, primarily addressed
Respondent’s termination of Petitioner’s maintenance benefits on March 6, 2019 based on
Petitioner’s alleged refusal of two jobs. The petition denied that Petitioner refused two jobs but
also alleged that Petitioner would nevertheless be entitled to wage differential benefits between
his previously determined average weekly wage of $1 720.39 and the $640.00 he would earn
workmg full- tHne at $16.00 per hour
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Petitioner maintains that the Arbltrator erred in denying both petitions, argumg that
Respondent had no good faith basis to deny these payments. Petitioner also claims that
Respondent stipulated that Petitioner was entitled to temporary total disability (TTD) and
maintenance payments from May 15, 2017 through March 1, 2019, but did not issue these
benefits from May 15, 2017 through August 17, 2017. However, the Request for Hearing

indicates that Respondent disputed Petitioner’s claims for TTD and maintenance and cialmed
that it already paid beneﬁts from May 15 2017 through March 1,2019.

“The standard for grantmg penalt:es pursuant to section 15(1) differs from the standard for
granting penalties and attorney fees under secnons 19(k) and 16. Section 19(1) pr0v1des in
pertinent part, as follows :

“ij‘ rhe employee has made written demand for payment of benef s
under Section 8(a) [820 ILCS 305/8] or Section 8(b), the employer shall have
14 days after receipt of the demand to set forth in writing the reason for the
delay. In the case of demand for payment of medical benefits under Section
8(a), the time for the employer to respond shall not commence until the
expiration of the aHotted 30 days specified under Section 8.2(d) [820 ILCS
305/8.2]. Incase the ernp]oyer or his or her insurance carrier shall without
good and just cause fail, neglect, refuse, or unreasonably delay the payment of
benefits under Section 8(a) or Section 8(b), the Arbitrator or the Commission
shall allow to the employee additional compensation in the sum of $30 per
day for each day that the benefits under Section 8(a) or Section S(b) have been
so withheld or refused, not to exceed $10, 000. A delay in payment of 14 days
or more shall create a rebuttable presumption of unreasonable delay.”
(Emphases added) 820 ILCS 305/ 19(1) (West 2016).

Penalties under secﬁon 1_9(1) are in the nature of a late fee. Mechanical Devices v.
Industrial Comm’n, 344 111. App. 3d 752, 763 (2003). In addition, the assessment of a penalty
under section 19(1) is mandatory “[i]f the payment is late, for whatever reason, and the employer
or its carrier cannot show an adequate justification for the delay.” McMahan v. Industrial
Comm 'n, 183 111, 2d 499, 515 (1998). The standard for determining whether an employer has
good and just cause for a delay in payment is defined in terms of reasonableness. Mechanical
Devices, 344 11l. App. 3d at 763. ‘The employer has the burden of justifying the delay, and the
employer’s justification for the delay is sufficient only if a reasonable person in the employer’s
position would have believed that the delay was }ustiﬁed Board of Education of the City of
Chicago v. Industrial Comm'n, 93 111. 2d 1, 9-10 (1982)

The standard for awarding penalties under section 19(k) is higher than the standard under
19(1). Section 19(k) of the Act provides, in pertinent part, as follows:
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“In case where there has been any unreasonable or vexatious delay of
payment or intentional underpayment of compensation **#* then the :
Commission may award compensation additional to that otherwise payable
under the Act equal to 50% of the amount payable at the time of such award.”
(Emphases added) 820 ILCS 305/19(k) (West 2016)

'Seetron 16 of the Act provrdes for an award of attorney fees when an award of ad ditional
compensatlon under section 19(k) is appropriate. 820 ILCS 305/16 (West 2016). “The amount
of [attorney] fees to be assessed is a matter committed to the discretion of the Commission,”
Williams v. Industrial Comm’n, 336 1L App. 3d 513, 516 (2003).: The calculation of a penalty
award under section 19(k) is srrnpiy a mathematreak eomputatron of 50% of the amount payable
at the tlme of the award . : . . N :

Sectlons 19(k} and 16 requ;re more than an unreasona‘ole delay in payrnent of an
award. McMahan v. Industrial Comm’'n, 183 111, 2d 499, 514-15 (1998). It is not enough for the
claimant to show that the employer s1mp1y failed, neglected or refused to make payment or
unreasonably deiayed payment without good and just cause. /d. at 515. Instead, section 19(k)
penalties and section 16 fees are “intended to address satuatlons where there is not only a delay,
but the delay is deliberate or the result of bad faith or improper purpose.” Id. In addition, while
section 19(1) penalties are mandatory, the zmposmon of penaitres and attorey fees under
sections I9(k) and section 16 is dlseretlonary Id. ' -

_ Regardmg the first petrtron Petrtloner satisfied the seetion 19(1) requrrement of a written

demand regarding the specified medical bills.: The Arbitrator’ s conclusmn that Petitioner failed
to prove that he presented the outstandmg baiances to Responden’s prior to the hearingis -
contradicted by the group exhibit to the first petition. The Arbitrator relied on testimony from
Joanna Aqumo who worked as a return-to-work claims adjustor for Travelers Insurance, to
conclude that Respondent paid all of the medical bills presented by Petitioner. However Ms.
Aqumo testlﬁed that Respondent dld not pay the briis in thrs ﬁrst petitron :

- Theissue then becomes whether Respondent had good and just cause for a delay in
payment of the medical bills identified in the first petition. Respondent claims that Petitioner
returned to Dr. Finn on May 15, 2017, two years and one month after his last office visit, but this
overlooks that Petitioner treated with Dr. Finn on July 13, 2016 and with Dr. Raab on multiple
visits in 2016 and early 2017. Respondent observes that Dr. Finn’s May 15, 2017 did not contain
an opinion on causation and that Dr. Wolin’s June 13, 2017 note diagnosed unrlateral post-
traumatic osteoarthrltrs of the right knee. However the Request for Hearing and the transcript of
hearing clearly estabhsh that the parties consrdered the issue of causa} connection to have been
determined in prior proeeedmgs and not in d1spute

Respondent claims that had it bee_n afforded_ the opportunity, it would have offered
evidence to rebut the petition, including Respondent’s June 2017 denial letter and an August
2017 pretrial agreement wherein the sitting Arbitrator recommended that TTD was to be paid
through the date of the Section 12 examination. The record does not reflect, and Respondent
does not explain, how it was precluded from offering any evrdence particularly 1nclud1ng the
denlai letter -
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Respondent’s Response Brlef further refers to Petztzoner $ ethbIts generally shovvmg
various payments by Respondent’s group insurer. However, Respondent s own Exhibit 4 does
not show any payments to the providers listed in the demand letters during the penod fromn May
15,2017 through August 17, 2017. Respondent s Exhibit 4 does indicate a payment to Weiss
Memorial Hospital of $582.16 on July 9, 2016, OutSIdE: the period which is the subject of the first
petition. The Weiss bill included in the first pet1t1on is also included in Petitioner’s Exhibit 9.
The May 15, 2017 bill from Dr. Finn mcluded inthe ﬁrst pet1t1on is mcluded in Petlttoner S
Exhibit 8, bearing indications that nothing was paid by insurance or self—payment The May 19, -
2017 bill from Premium Healthcare Solutions is also Petitioner’s Exhibit 11. Respondent notes
that Petitioner did not testify that this bill rematned unpatd but again, Respondent sown .
_payment ledger shows no payment for these services. - : -

_ in short Respondent offered no good and }ust cause for a delay in payment of the
medical btlls identified in the ftrst petition well beyond the 14 days specified by section 19(1) of
the Act.  Given that more than a year elapsed between the filing of the first petttton and the
hearmg, the Corntmssxon nnposes the max1mum sectton 19(1) penalty of SlO 000

- The remammg issue regardmg the ﬁrst petztlon is Whether Respondent’s refusal to pay
was deliberate or vexatious. Petitioner’s Statement of Exceptions asserts that Respondent was
clearly aware of the rion-payment due to the multiple penalty petitions Petitioner filed, but there
is only one petition regardmg the medtcal billing. Moreover, Petitioner asserts that Respondent
- recewed notice ofhis petitions but produced no evidence of the alleged notice, Accordmgly, the
~ Commission exercises its dlSCI'GﬁOl’l to deny Petitioner’s request for penalnes pursuant to section
l9(k) and fees pursuant to section 16 of the Act S :

Petttloner 8 second petltton whﬂe ﬁled shortly after the termmatlon of maintenance, does
not attach a written demand required by section 19(1) and Petitioner identified no evidence that
Respondent was served with the second petition (assuming that such would constitute a written
demand). Moreover, the record establishes that Respondent had a good faith reason to dispute
continued payment of maintenance after hearing that Petitioner was telhng interviewers that the
salaries being offered were 1nadequate Petltloner alleges that he would have been entttled wage
'dlfferenttal payments buta permanency award dtffers from maintenance payments.
Accordingly, the Arbitrator correctly denied section 19(1) penalties on the second petition and it
follows that Petitioner also cannot meet the higher standard required to impose penaltles under
section 19(k) of the Act or award fees pursuant to section 16 of the Act. :

In all other respeets the Commtssmn afﬁrms and adopts the Dec1s1on of the Arbitrator

ITIS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSiON that the Dee1s1on of the _
Arbitrator filed on March 20, 2020 is hereby affirmed and adopted as modified herein. '

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $1,146.93 per week for the period from May 15, 2017 through August 17, 2019, for a
period of 13 and 4/7ths weeks, that belng the pertod of temporary total 1ncapac1ty for work under
§8(b) of the Act.



Page 5 . . o | 211%%3@@@@%3

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay Petitloner s
reasonable and necessary outstanding medical bills, pursuant to the fee schedule and §§8(a) and
8.2 of the Act, for the services provided by: Illinois Bone & Joint Institute in the amount of
$238.00; University of Chicago Physicians Group (Dr. Henry Finn) — University of Chlcago
Bone & Joint Replacement in the amount of $166.00; Weiss Memorial Hospital in the amount of
$3,851.94; Metropolitan Advanced Radloiogtcal Services in the amount of $68.00; Premium
Healthcare Solutions in the amount of $2,336. 00; and the Center for Athletic Medicine in the
amount of $2,931.00. Respondent shall recewe a credit for medical benefits that have been paid
and Respondent shall hold Petitioner harmless from any claimis by any prov1ders of the services
for whzch Petztioner is recewmg this credtt as prov1ded by §8(]) of the Act.

i

T IS F URTHER ORDERED BY TI—IE COMMISSION that Respondent shail pay
Petitioner permanent partiaf disability benefits, commencing January 31, 2019, of $570.29 per
week until Petitioner reaches age 67 or five years from the date of the final award, whichever is
later, because the 11’1_]01‘183 Sustalned caused aloss of e earnmgs as provzded in §8(d)1 of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Petlttoner 1s awarded
$10,000 in penaltles pursuant to §19(1) of the Act regarding the petition filed on February 13,
2018. Petitioner’s Petitlons for Penaltles and fees are otherwxse denied.

_ T IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay to
: Petltaoner mterest under §19(n) of the Act if any

T IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shali have
credit for all amounts patd if any, to or on behalf of the Pentloner on account of said acc1der1tal

injury.
Bond for removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at the

sum of $75,000.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall
file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

DATED: o

0::1/21/21 FER 1~ 200 Barbara N Flores _

045
Deborah L. Simpson

Marc Parker
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) . Injured Workers Beneﬁt Fund (t;4(d))
B )SS. 0 [ Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF Cook y - o | [[] second Injury Fund (§8(c)18)
E Ncne of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
CORRECTED ARBITRATION DECISION

Craig Eldridge B s IR Case#14WC2899

Empioyee/Peti_tionetf _ _ _ .
Voo S SRR ICERR T _Consohdated cases:
KEHE Distributors, LLC ' ' o SR
Em'ployer/Respondent '

An Applzcanon for Aa};ustment of Clazm was ﬁled in this matter and a Noace of Hea: ing was malled to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Charles M. Watts, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Chicago, on July 15, 2019. After reviewing all of the-evidence presented the Arbitrator hereby makes '
ﬁndmgs on the dlsputed issues checked below, and attaches those ﬁndmgs to this document ' o

DISPUTED ISSUES

A'; D Was Respondent operatmg under and subJect to the Hlmms Workers' Compensatmn or Occapatzonal

~Diseases Act? i o _ RS :

D Was there an employee~empfoyer relatlonshlp‘? S

D Did an acc1dent occur that arose out of and in the ccurse of Petltloner s employment by Respondent"

D What was the date of the accident? - L : '

D Was timely notlce of the accident given to Respondent‘?

D Is Petltloner s current condition of ill- -being causally related to the m}ury"?

D What were Petltloners earnings? '

D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

D What was Petitloner S mantal status at the time of the accident? : :

B were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary° Has Respendent
* paid all appropnate charges for all reasonable and necessary medzcal services? :

What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[JTPD [X] Maintenance - X TID

. What is the nature and extent of the imjury?
. Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent"
[ ]1s Respondent due any credit?

D Other

ICArbDee 200 100 W. Rendolph Streer #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312:814-6611  Toll-free 8667352-3033  Web site: wiww iwee il gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3430 Peoria 3696713019 Rockford 813:987-7292  Springficld 2177837084

e*maemccw 
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FINDINGS

On November 18, 2013, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

~ On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $89,460.38; the average weekly wage was $1,720.39.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 54 years of age, married with 0 dependent children.

Petitioner Aas received all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent has paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $N/A for TTD, $NJA for TPD, $N/A for maintenance, and $SN/A for other
benefits, for a total credit of SN/A. _ : L

Respondent is entitled to a credit of SN/A under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $1,146.93/week for 13.571 weeks,
commencing 5/15/2017 through 8/17/2017, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act.

Respondent shall pay reasonable and necessary medical services of $9,590.94, per Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.

Respondent shall be given a credit for medical benefits that have been paid, and Respondent shall hold petitioner

harmless from any claims by any providers of the services for which Respondent is receiving this credit, as provided
in Section 8(j) of the Act.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability beneﬁfs, commencing January 31, 2019, of
$570.29/week until Petitioner reaches age 67 or five years from the date of the final award, whichever is later,
because the injuries sustained caused a loss of earnings, as provided in Section 8(d)1 of the Act.

Petitioner’s request for penalties and fees pursuant to Sections 16, 19(k) and 19(1) of the Act is denied.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Pefition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this

decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission. '

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however, if
an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

R o7 -

Signature of Arbitrator

March 19, 2020
Date

MAR 2 0 2020
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Procedural sttorv

Petitioner prevmusly tried this case before Arb Hegarty on May 1,2014 and a dec151on
was rendered on June 2, 2014. No petition for review was filed. (Px. 15) A second hearing before
Arb. Hegarty took place on Décember 4, 2014, - Arb. Hegarty issued that decision of April 13,
2015 and the decision was affirmed and adopted by the Workers” Compensation Comnnssmn on
Febraary 1, 2016 (Px. 14) The Commission’s decision prov1des the law of the case, Ieavmg the
followmg 1ssues in d1spute . : .

[J] Payment of Reasonable and Necessary Medzcai Expenses
[K] Payment of TTD and/or Mamtenanee -
~-[L] Nature and Extent; and

[M] Imposition of penalties and/or fees_

. .o_'o .

: Fmdmgs ofFact

Craig Eldridge testified that after the ongmal 19b hearing he returned to work for KeHe
until 2017. Durmg that time, he had been referred by Dr. Rabb to Dr. Finn for right knee pain in
2015 receiving two injections. In July 2015 Dr. Finn mentioned Eldridge mlght be a total knee
candidate down the road but otherwzse released Petltzoner to full duty

Mr. Eldmdge returned to Dr Rabb in June of 2016 aﬁer expenencmg pa:n while at work
'unloadlng and stackmg product.  An FCE was ordered at thls point. Petitioner underwent an FCE
on July 20, 2016. Dr. Rabb would release Petitioner back to work with restnctlons per the FCE of
no kneelmg, chmbmg or squattmg Petltzoner contmued workmg at thiS pomt :

In 2017 Mr. Eldrldge clalmed he was havmg d:fﬁcuity gettmg “up’ and down from certain
positions and returned to Dr. Rabb on February 13, 2017, who, in turn, referred him back to Dr.
Finn. Dr. Finn evaluated Petitioner on May 15, 2017. Petitioner was taken off work. “An MRI -
scan was ordered. Post MRI Petitioner sought a second opinion with Dr. Preston Wolin who
evaluated the Petitioner on June 5, 2017 prescribing a Synv1sc Injection and an off- loader
’orace Eventualiy Dr Wohn released Petltzoner back to work agam per the FCE '

_TTD payments started on August 17 2017 in conjunctlon w1th a scheduled IME w1th Dr.
Bryan Forsythe. On September 13, 2017 Dr. Forsythe opined the barring proof of preexxstmg
injury and treatment, the degeneratlve condition of the knee was related, and treatment to that point
was reasonable Once determined that KeHe would not be able to take Eldridge back with the
current restrictions, Eldridge then claimed he started a self- dlrected job search In November 2017
Petltaoner demanded formal vocational rehabmtahon :

A vocational counselor, Ms. Mary McMillan, began working with Petitioner in August
2018. S ' '

Mr. Eldridge testified that he began working for Jlewel 1n 1977 and took on a management
job in 1979 which prompted him to quit college. In 1994 Eldndge citing the need for more family
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© time, took a posztlon w1th Manischewitz Company. Three years later, KeHe purchased the

distribution rights to Manischewitz and Petitioner started working with the Respondent through
until 2017.

Eldndge tes‘ﬁﬁed that he has apphed for or researched over 1300 Jobs over ¢ the penod of
1.5 years securing less than 5 in-person interviews and about 15 what he called “phone screening”

discussions with prospective employers. Eldridge denied turning down any job offers claiming
none were made.

On cross-examination Eldridge testified that he would be on the computér approximately
one hour in the moring to research and/or apply to positions on-line; in the afternoon he would
spend an additional one hour reading and responding to emails. Of the prospective employers he

would only provide prior salary levels if asked and if the application called for it, his minimal
salary threshold was listed at $50,000.00.

Mr. Eldridge denied telling Integrated/Ms. Weaver in January 2019 that he would not take
a position that did not pay $90,000.00.

~ Eldridge claims his knee remains stiff, sore and swollen which he treats with ice and
rest. He did return to Dr. Wolin who altered the restrictions to include sit/stand breaks every hour.

Laura Fldridge, Petitioner’s wife, testified that she would get him 1 ice several times a day
for his knee. On cross-examination Mrs. Eldridge testified her husband would spend four to six
hours or more on the computer looking for work.

Susan Entenberg (Vocational Expert for Eldridge) testified in her evidence deposition that
she agreed with the Genex vocational plan as it existed in January 2019 but felt no stable job
market would exist if Eldridge did not secure employment by April 2019.

Respondent’s Witnesses:

Johanna Aquino testified that she is a return to work claims adjustor for Travelers Insurance
for the past two and a half years. Ms. Aquino testified that she has been the claim specialist
assigned to the claim since April 2018 and that TTD benefits were paid until March 2019 when
benefits were suspended following discussions with the assigned vocational specialist. On re-
d1rect test1mony Johanna testified that she had paid all related bills that she had received.

Mary Mchlhn testlﬁed that she is a vocational case manager for GENEX Services,
initially met with Mr. Eldridge in the fall of 2018 to provide job placement services. Ms. McMillin
testified that specifically he assisted Petitioner in revamping his resume, conduct bi- weekly
vocational meetings to go over his job search, provide weekly job leads, follow up with potential
employers and cold call employers to inquire about jobs within his capacity. Ms. McMillin
provided vocational services for Petitioner from August 2018 through March 2019. She generated
multiple reports detailing the progress and ultimate suspension of vocational efforts. Ms.
McMillin testified that Petitioner complied with her recommendations for vocational services.
However, from a compliance standpoint she was told differently from employers from follow-up
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phone calls Ms. McMillin testlﬁed that she called back three potential employers that 1nterv1ewed
Petitioner. :

Ms. Rebecca Weaver with Integrated Access Corporation reported that Petitioner told her
that he was not open to a salary that paid $45,000.00. His previous salary was twice that,
$90,000.00. According to the report, Ms. Weaver was very surprised being a seasoned Salesperson
that Petitioner did not present himself pleasantly. She had recently hired someone of a similar
background in that type of position and wanted to make a job offer to the Petitioner. The second
interviewer that Ms McMﬁhn followéd up with was Lucy with Midwest - Goods for a sales
associate/account executive position. Lucy advised that the job paid between $16.00 and $18.00
per hour. Petitioner told Lucy that he was not interested in the ‘position due to the pay. Aecordlng
to Lucy, the _}Ob offer was declined and that 1'{ was “not on ‘her end ‘but on his.” :

On cross-examination Ms McMiilin testiﬁed that she believed that based on the two
potential job offers that Petitioner turned down that there was a stabie labor market available for
the Petitioner if he would be open. to a lower salary. . ' :

Concluswns of Law

The Arbitrator adopts and meorporates the ﬁndmgs from the prior decisions of Arb.
Hegarty from June 2, 2014 (Px. 15) and the Hlmozs Workers Compensatlon Commlsszon from
Februaryl 2016 (Px 14) : : S B

[J] Were the medical services that were provnded to Petxtloner reasonable and necessary _
Has Respondent paxd alI approprlate charges for all reasonable and necessary medlcal_
serv:ces" : : ' : :

At the time of the heanng, Pet1t10ner clanned the followmg blHS on the Request for Hearlng
form (Arb. 1, Px. 7-12): -

_ Provider : o Amount
Illinois Bone & Joint Institute (Px. 7): ' $ 23800

U.niversi’ty of Chioago Physicians Group
Dr. Henry Finn ~ University of Chicago Bone & Jomt

-Replacement (Px 8) g e | ' 166.00
Weiss Memorial Hosp1tal e 385194
Metropolitan Advanced Radiological Services (Px 10) : 68.00
Premium Healthcare Solutlons (Px 1 I) _ _ | 2,336700
The Center for Athletic Medicine (Px. 12) : ©2,931.00

Based on the teStimony of the Petitioner and the September 12, 2017, IME report of Dr.
Brian Forsythe (Px. 16), the Arbitrator finds the listed, outstanding bills to be reasonable and
necessary. To the extent that the listed bills remain outstanding, the Arbitrator assigns lability to
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the Respondent to pay the reasonable and necessary medical services as provide in Sections 8(a)
and 8.2 of the Act.

[K]  What temporary benefits are in dispute?

The Arbitrator finds that Petitioner was ternporarily and totally disabled from May 15,2017
to August 18, 2017; or 13.571 weeks.

Maintenance benefits were terminéted on March 1, 2019. Based on the Arbitrator’s award
of a wage differential benefits as outlined in Section L, the Arbitrator denies maintenance benefits
past the January 30, 2019 job interview and offer.

[L] Whatis the nature and extent of the injury?

Petitioner claims to be permanently and totally disabled as a result of the November 18,
2013 work incident.

An employee is totally and permanently disabled when he is unable to make some
contribution to industry sufficient to justify payment of wages to him. AM.T.C. of Illinois v.
Industrial Comm’n, 77 111.2d 482, 487 (1979). If the employee’s disability is limited in nature so
that he is not obviously unemployable, or if there is no medical evidence to support a claim of total
disability, the burden is upon the employee to establish by a preponderance of the ev1dence that he
falls into the odd lot category, that is, one who, though not altogether 1ncapac1tated to work, is so
handicapped that he will not be employed regularly in any well-known branch of the labor market.
Westin Hotel v. Workers' Compensation Comm’'n, 372 T11. App 3d 527, 544 (2007).

An employee satisfies his burden of proving that he falls into the odd lot category by
showing either (1) diligent but unsuccessful attempt to find work or (2) that because of his age,

skills, training, and work history, he will not be regularly employed a well-known branch of the
labor market. /d. at 544.

Once the employee establishes that he falls into the odd lot category the burden shifts to
the employer to prove that some type of regular and continuous employment is available to the
employee. City of Chicago v. Workers’ Compensation Comm’n, 373 Ill. App. 3d 1080, 1091.

Applying the applicable law to the facts before the Commission, the Arbitrator finds that
the Petitioner failed to meet its burden of proof to establish that he was permanently and totally
disabled. The Arbitrator finds that While on the surface he appeared to be diligent and compliant
with the vocational services and recommendations, the evidence clearly shows that the Petitioner
had very specific recommendations for salary expectations. Based on the foregoing, the Arbitrator
finds that the Petitioner failed to make a threshold showing that he was unable to find work. To
the contrary, the Arbitrator find that the Petitioner was able to successfully secure employment
with two separate entities and but for his own effort to undermined and sabotage his employment
he would have then offered a job. Therefore, the Arbitrator does not need to determine whether or
not the Respondent can show that there is a stable labor market with some type of regular and
contmuous employment available to the claimant. The Petitioner established that on his own.

Section 8(d)1 of the Act provides in pertinent part:
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If, after the accidental i injury has been sustained, the employee as a result thereof becomes
partially incapacitated from pursuing his usual and customary line of employment he shall,
.'receive compensation for the duration of his disability . equal to 66 2/3% of the
dlfference between the average amount which he would be able to earn in the full
performance of his duties in the occupation in which he was engaged at the time of the
accident and the average amount which he is earning or is able to earn in some suitable
wyloyment or business afrer the accident. . . . For accidental injuries that occur on or after
September 1, 2011, an award for wage d1fferent1a1 under ﬂ’HS subsection shall be effective
only until the employee reaches the age of 67 or 5 years from the date the award becomes
ﬁnal whrchever is later. (emphams added)

- The Arb1trator ﬁnds that Petltroner sustamed his burden of proof to estabhsh beneﬁts under
a wage differential analy31s It was establ:shed via Respondent s vocational expert that Pet1t10ner
turned down a job making $45, 000. 00 a year. The Arbitrator finds this to be a credible job offer
based off the fact that Miss Weaver even expressed exc1tement with the prospects of hmng
Petltzoner because his background mrrrored that of a recent hire and but for Petitioner’s re}ectlon
of the salary offered Ms. Weaver wouid have offered Petitioner the gob This i 1s corroborated by
Petitionetr’s own testimony on direct examination that he would only accept a minimum- salary of
$50,000,00. "It Is further noted that at the time Petltzoner was looking for employment he was
recelvmg TTD/maintenance benefits of $1,146.93 a week whrch annualized comes to $59,640.36.
While not dispositive on the i 1ssue Petmoner s own testlmony was that he spent two hours a day
-1ookmg for empioyment ' A L : :

_ Petrttoner $ salary on November 18, 2013 was $89 460 38 Havmg found that Pet1t:oner
was able to obtam suitable employment for $45,000.00 effective January 30,2019. This creates a
wage dlfferentzal of $44,460.38 annually. Pursuant to section 8(d)1 of the Act, Petitioner shall
receive 66 2/3% of that amount until the Petmoner reaches the age of 67 or 5 years frorn the date
of the ﬁnal award whlchever 15 later. :

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial d1sab1hty beneﬁts commencing J anuary
31, 2019, of $570.29/week until Petitioner reaches age 67 or five years from the date of the final
award whichever is later, because the i mjunes sustained caused a loss of eamlngs as prov;ded in
Sectlon 8(d)1 of the Act. ' :

[M] Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Responder_nt?
The Arbitrator finds Respondent acted in good faith at all times. Respondent’s termination

of indemnity benefits on March 1, 2019 was based on the evidence that Petmoner had subverted
his own vocational placement :

The Arbitrator finds that based on the testimony of Ms. Aquino, all medical bills that were
presented to the Respondent for payment had been paid pursuant to the appropriate fee schedule.
The Petitioner failed to prove that he presented the outstanding medical balances to the Respondent
prior to arbitration. Ms. Aguino testified tlnt she has never denied any medical bills that have been
presented to her for payment.

For the above reasons the Petition for penalties and fees is hereby denied.
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. D Affirm with changes I:] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF COOK ) [ ] Reverse || Second Injury Fund (§ 8(e)18)
[ ] PTD/Fatal denied
D Modify None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’* COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Lori Cesario-Farraj, 0 - |
Petitioner, 2 1 I @y C C 0 0 4 %
Vs. NO: 16 WC 19582

UChicago Argonne LLC,
Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given to all
parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, causation, medical, temporary
disability and nature and extent and being advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision
of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the Arbitrator
filed November 12, 2019, is hereby aftirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under $19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have credit for
all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at the sum of
$48,000.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file with the

DATED: 4 -
012/17/20 FER 1= 202

BNF/rm
046

DISSENT

I respectfully dissent from the Decision of the majority. I would have found that Petitioner failed
to meet her burden of proving that repetitive typmg activities caused her to develop De Quervain’s
tenosynovitis and a right trigger thumb.
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No evidence was presented quantifying the amount of time Petitioner spent typing, except for the
GSS Injury Report that indicated Petitioner’s typing equated to only four pages at most per day from
March 7, 2016 through April 1, 2016. Although it is not clear who specifically authored the GSS Injury
Report, Petitioner testified that she had no idea how to estimate how much typing was required on her
busier help desk days. When asked how long it would take to create a JIRA ticket and fill out its
different fields, Petitioner responded that she had no idea and it would depend on the issue. Petitioner
testified that she was constantly typing but failed to provide a number of minutes or hours that she typed
on average. There was also no testimony quantifying the amount of time Petitioner spent performing
her other work duties unrelated to her typing activities.

Dr. Michael Treister, the Section 12 examiner selected by Petitioner, also did not have
knowledge as to the amount of time Petitioner spent typing. When asked if Petitioner told him if she
was typing nonstop or doing other activities, Dr. Treister testified that he did not get into that with
Petitioner and did not know. He also did not recall ever seeing a job description. Dr. Treister’s lack of
knowledge as to how much time Petitioner spent typing fatally weakens his opinion that Petitioner’s
conditions were causally related to her repetitive typing activities.

In addition to failing to quantify her typing activities, Petitioner also testified that she used a
traditional keyboard and typed in a classic fashion. Although Petitioner suggested that she “slammed”
her right thumb down on the keyboard’s hard plastic strip, her description of forcefully slamming her
right thumb down is logistically unciear .

For these reasons, 1 would have found that Petitioner failed to prove her right hand and thumb

conditions were causally related to her alleged repetitive typing activities. As such, I would have
reversed the Decision of the Arbitrator and accordingly denied all benefits.

DLS/met W ofd W"‘J

46 Deborah L. Simpson
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ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION CO\/E%ESSH}\
ARBH RATIO\ DECISION

Lori Gesario- Farra; S o f - Ldae#'is WC ’19582

meio‘.cuf’ctz{ioncr _ A .
v SRR : _ e Consoildatcd cases:

UChxcaqo Arqon ne, LLC

E,mp overfRespondent

An Applrcazzon for Adjustment oj Ct’azm was fuied in thls matier, a,nd a ]\iotzce of Hew mg was mculed o edch '

party. ‘The matter was heard by the Honotable Frank Soto, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the cityof -
Wheaton, on. Juiy 24, 2019. After reviewing all of the gvidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
tmdmgs on the dlsputed 1ssues checked belou and dttache,s those findings to this document

DISPUTED iSSUES .

A. D Was Respondent operalmg, under and sub_;ect to the Hlmms Workers Compensatlon or OCLupanonai
= Diseases A(ﬂ _ _ _
Was 1here an employee employer relatienship

. What was the date of the. acmdent" YR

. Was tlmelv notice of the acc1dent gw en to Respondent‘?

. ls Peﬁtloner s current condition of ill- bemg cauqal}y related to ihe mjury‘?
1:] What were Petitioner's eammgs’> o L

D What was Petitioner’ s age at the time of the acmdent‘?

[j What was Petztmner 5 mantal status at the time of the acmdent‘? : : : :
] Were the medma} services that were provzded to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondem
» paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medtcal services'"’ ' -
. <] What temporary benefits are in chspute" S : S

1TPD [[] Maintenance E} TTD
L. . {] What is 1he nature and extent of the lnjury'? :
M. D Should penalnes or fees be imposed upon Respondem"
N. D Is Respondent due any credit? s
0. ] Other

T E _Q - mﬁ-p'@”w |

?"

21?@@0*644

. Dld an acc1dent ocelr, that arose out of and in the course of Peﬂtwnel 5 employmcnt by Rcspondenﬁ .
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On March 14, 2017, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act. L34

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of empt_oyment.

Timgly notice of this accident way given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being fs causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $78,403,52; the average weekly wage was $1,507.76.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 50 years of age, married with 2 dependent children.

Petitioner has received all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent sas nof paid all appropriate charges for afl reasonable and pecessary medical services.

Respoﬁdent shalt Ee given a credit éf $0 for T'I’Ij, $0 for TPD, 30 for maiﬁtenance, and $0 fo_r other benefits, for a total credit of 38,
Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Respondent shail pay the bills of Palos Surgery Censer and MidAmerica Orthopaedics/Dr. Anton Fakhouri in accordance with the
provisions of Section 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act. o :

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $1,005.26/week for 6 4/7 weeks, comumencing 06/27/2016
through 08/11/2016, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act. ' I .

‘The Arbitrator finds that Petitioner sustained permanent partial disability to the extent of 20% loss of use of the right hand pursuant to
Section 8(e) of the Act. Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partia} disability benefits of §755.22/week, as provided in Section
8(e) of the Act. o S o o

Respondent shall pay o Petitioner compensation that has accrued from March 14, 2017 through July 24, 2019 and shall pay the
remainder of the award, if any, in weekly payments, as set forth in the Conclusions of Law attached hiereto.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unuless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this deciston,
and perfocts a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the decision of the
Commnission. : S

. STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice of
Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below 1o the day before the date of payment; however, ifan”
employee's appeal results in gither no change ora decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

il

Signature of Asbfrator Date

iCArbDec p. 2

nov 12 2018
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This case was fried on July 24, 2019, The disputed issues were \xhcﬂzaz or not

Petitioner sustained an accident that arose out of and in the course of her eyl‘;ployment‘
whether or not Petitioner’s current condition of ifl-h ing is {.ausalh cor}nuigd to her
injury; whether or not Respondent is liable for Lertam unpaid medical bills; v»h&,‘thu or
not Respondent is liable to pay certain temporary total dmabthiv bcnehts and the nature
and extent of Petltloncr 5 m_}ur} '
o  FINDINGS OF FACT

On March 14, 2016 Lori Cesamo&“arraj, heremafter Pctltloncr was employed

by UChicago Araonno, LLC, hereinafter © Respondem a Department of Energy
laboratory which focused pnmdrzly on research, science aud iechnology She s‘{arted
working there in 1999 domg mechamcal des1gn work, and she held several dlf:terent
roles over the years (Tr. pg. 9) In 2005 she was promoted toa GIS Amalyst domg
backgmund packages for Homeiand Secunty, and in 2008 she was promoted to Data
Managcment Specmhst still workmg on nataona} secumy proararns but ina dlfferent
mpacﬁy Petmoner was workmg, in that posmon on Maroh 14, 20 16 (Tr Pg. g.9- l{))

When she fi rst bccame a data manag,cmcnt spemahst Pentzoner r cated and
:mpiemented training programs, prov&ded support tor the software engmeermg team and
did software cngmcermg Easks, such as use case scenarios, the pnmary foundation
utilized by software. engmeers to bmld the logic behmd programmmg and codmg She
also provided {et,hmuai support and documentation (Tr PL. 1{}) -

Asa datd management spemahst Pe‘utioner worked at a help desk, as d1d everyone
else on staff, two to three shifts per week, either i in the mornmg or m the afternoon. A
shift was fou.r to five hours. The help desk prowded technical support to ensure that all
users, whether they were Federai employees or the end~users, who were non-Federal
employees, could access the system. The technical assistance ranged frmﬁ tasks as simple
as reseiting passwords to changing the designated administrator. Two service channels
were used on the help desk, telephone and email (Tr. Pg.11-12).

Petitioner testified that, in the fall of 201 5, her job duties significantly changed
when she returned from FMLA leave. She. was assigned to work on the help desk four

days per week on both the morning and afternoon shifts. Previously she had worked

Page | 1
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L elther the.niomi‘ng or the aftefnoon shift and never on consecutive days. She testified that
Mondays and Tuesday were busier on the help desk than the other days of the week; they
had a higher traffic flow. She Was .a.ss.igr.;e.d.to thé desk on.Mérid'a.ys, Tﬁés&ays, N
Wednesdays and Fridays (Tr. Pg.12-13).

In addition to spending more time at the help desk, the nature of the work she did
there had changed in that the JIRA ticketing system had been implemented. For every
contact that was made to the help desk, she had to create a JIRA ticket that was
associated with that contact. It was a tool for tracking whether the contact was from a
Federal employee or non-Federal user, which system the user needed to access, whether
the contact was made by telephone or email, and the reason for the contact. It was
valnable tool for tracking the metrics, but it created more work for the person staffing the
help desk. Previously, a simple task, such as resetting a password, required only a single
click of a button. Incorporating JIRA meant that after clicking the button to reset a
password, it was necessary to also create a JRA ticket. What had been a single click
became several steps. to complete the same task. To create a new ticket, she had to type
and hit the tab bat to go to and complete the required fields. According to Petitioner,
when she used the space bar, she always used her right thumb (Tr. Pg.13-15).

Petitioner testified that in the beginning in the fall of 2015, in addition to working
on the help desk both shifts, four days a week, she was also assigned the task of updating
the user guides for all the systems, some of which had not been updated since 2013. The
task involved constant typing, She explained that she was essentlally starting from
scratch, because the back end of the system design had changed significantly when it
switched over to a sequel data base (Tr. Pgs. 15,41).

On March 14, 2016, a Personnel Security Investigation Survey was launched to
ensure that all designated facility clearance officers had the proper credentials to be in
their positions. A “blast” was sent to 12 or 15 thousand contractors to advise them that
the requirement would have to be fulfilled within 30 days (Tr, Pg.16).

Prior to the launch of the PSI Survey, JIRA records, as posted by Petitioner in a
system called BOX, reflected that the number of contacts to the help desk averaged 20-

something per day. During the week before the “blast,” for example, the average was 26.

Page |2
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On March 14, 2016, Peamomz personally resolved €1 contacts onthe help desk (Tr. Pg
16-18, 1 *A5-p. 17-19).
On'the aitemoon of March 14,2016, Petitioner tesuimd that on her way to her car
{0 go home she notmed 50Teness m her dominant ;zvht hmd and that it was n.ali\ hard for
hel to start the i&,nmon in her vehicle. (h Pg.18- 19) According to Petztioner she had
nev er expemenced any sxgmhcant pain in her rmht thumb or 11ghi hand pnor to that date.
Petitioner tcs‘ﬁhed that she had never before consuited a doctor or recewed treatment _
from anv medxcai practltloner for problems mth or pam in her ri,:,ht thurnb or right hand :
(Tr. Pg.19). - | _ '
Petmoner returned to work the next day and contmued 1o experx ence a h1 gh
volume of contacts She netlced qddmonal pam and sweihnrr in her hand. The foilowmg
day, \’Iarch 16, she returned 1o work a:ad experlenced e*ccruczatmg pain in her hand and
noted that it was swoilen like a balloon. She testifi cd that she went to Argonne \/Iedlcal
and explained that ihere had been a significant i mczease in her vsork and keyboardmg and
- that, as a result her hand was swolien and that she was havmg tz‘emendous pam (Tr
Pgs. 20-21). ' : _ SRR
| L The notcs oi the Argonne Health and Employee Weliness Chmc wniirm that
Petumner was seen on March 16, 2016 by Dr. Lisa Pocius, complammg of sweilmg and
soreness of the nght hand and base of the thurnb with no humbness or weakness due tc:-

repetmve 1ypmg and wr;tmg The clinical assessment was hand swelhng and pam, hkeiy

tendonitis, wnbibu,m with ihb sub_}wm;e desurtpuon of whdt had occurred. A cool pack
was applied with some relch and decrease i in swelhng, and Petitioner ’was given .
Ibuprofcn She was adwsed to rest her hand and the doctor stated that she should
remam/retum to work W;th a job transfer ord restricﬁon of no keyboarding or
handwmmg with the ri ght hand until March 28. She was gwen a follow- -up appomtment
of March 21, 2016 (PXI~p 2-4). _ .

Petitioner testified that she returned to the company clinic on March 21, 2016, her
first day back at work after scheduled time off, with reduced swelling but ongoing pain
(p.21). Dr. Pocius® notes reflect that the edema in the hand had res'elved but that the
patient still complained of mild soreness in the base of the thumb and in the lateral aspect

of the distal right forearm. Mild tenderness was still note to deep palpation along t_he_
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course of the extensor longus tendon. The doctor advised breaks from typing, ergonomic
assessment of the workstation and Ibuprofen and/or cool pack if needed. Petitioner was
instructed to take a break from keyboarding for three minutes every hour and to elevate
the hand during that period (PX1-p.2-4). '

On March 21, 2016, another e-mail reminder about the PSI survey was sent,
resulting in what Petitioner recalled was an average of about 50 contacts per day rather
than the normal 20 (p.22-23). According to Petitioner’s weekly highlight in the BOX
system, the sending of the reminder produced 267 issues resolved that week, an average
of 53.4 per day (PX5-p.19).

Sometime after March 21, 2016, when Dr. Pocius recommended an ergonomic
evaluation of Petitioner’s workstation, such an assessment was performed by
Resi:ondent’ s ergonomic team. Petitioner testified that changes were made, including the
substitution of a soft gel cushion palm rest for the hard plastic strip which had been there
previously, which she stated made “a world of difference.” Previously, she said, it felt as
though every time she hit the space bar, her thumb slammed the hard plastic strip (Tr.
Pg.23-24,51, PX4-p.3).

On March 24, 2016, Petitioner had a previously scheduled appointment with her
primary care physician, Dr. Tom Kim, during which she showed him her hand. She
testified that at that time she was having shooting pain up her forearm, as well. The
doctor prescribed Celebrex and physical therapy and restricted her to no typing for 15
minutes each hour tor two weeks. The next day Petitioner returned o se¢ Dr. Pocius and

provided her with the recommendations made by Dr. Kim (Tr. Pg.24-25). According to
eminence and lateral wrist, which she rated as five on a scale from one to ten, worse with
prolonged keyboarding. The doctor observed no edema but found tf;ﬂdemess to palpation
along the extensor halluces longus tendon from the thumb to the mid-forearm. Range of
motion and strength of the thumb, fingers and wrist were normal, i}ﬁt the patient self-
limited movement of the thumb due to pain. Dr. Pocius changed her diagnosis to
tendonitis of the extensor tendons of the thumb, or de Quervain’s. She adopted Dr. Kim’s

recommendations (PX1-p.2-4}.
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On April 4, 2016, Petitioner was evaluaied at R bpmlm,ni s Health and Employe
Jn{,ss Division/Physical Uxmp\ D‘,pditmbm (p.é.“} 2{1 PX1-p.] ‘}) bhc gave a
Comxgtmt history regarding the onset of p‘un and was noted Lo have swelling in Lhe right
ﬂmm&&mmmmmkmkmmwnmmmmnmmeﬁhmmmmmmmmb&ﬂmnmd
muade belly and abductor pellu.u% longus muscle. Grip and Strength were much less ont
'Hwngnmmﬂmkﬁamﬂ%mmmdmdeunymmnmdwmﬂmmmks&www--
wmmdaﬁmmbﬂﬂmtmbewmmm&tLﬂmmmﬂ{PXI@ESIQ}ThmmwtmgmnnApmi
7,2016 (PX1-p. 20). L e |
: Petltloner reiumcd to see Dr. Pouus on April 7, reporimg that the pain in the right
wmt and base of the nghl 1humb continued. The swelling had lessened but relurned in
the hand and in ’che second and third tmgers The doctor advxsed Petitloner to continue.
wrth the current proaram 111c1udm0 restnmons (PX-p.6- 8) At her next visit to Dr,
Pocms, on Apni 12, 2016 Petxt;oner was ag,am adwsed 1:0 tollow the trcatment plan, but _
ﬂmmmmmmwmwmmmmmmsm@&HGMMM&mme%wmmmm
Pemtioner wouid be seeing Dr. sz on May 13 (PX 1-p.6- -8). _

Peunoner had addl’smnal foiiow’up vm‘gs mth Dr. Pocms on April 26 \/Iay 10
zmd June 2, 2016 She reported slow 1mprovement but she contmued to have pam in the .
mwmmeNmeTrPg272& ' '

On May 13,2016, Petitmner retumed to see Dr K1m at whmh time he !‘Cf&.l‘l‘ﬁd
her toan ortho paedzc surgeon, Dr. Anton dehourl at Midwest Orthopaedxcs (p.28). Her
first. appomtment with the doctor was on May 16, 2016. Afler exammmg her, the doctor’ 5
dlagnoses Were nght thumb trigger and ex’tensor tendmxns of the first dorsal compartment
of theri ight wrist. He noted 1o specific hxstory of trauma othcr than overuse He
prescribed a course of occupatmnal therapy and said that Petm{mer could return to her
normal work duues with the exceptzon of taking breaks everv hour for five to ten
mmutes The doctor. suggested a comsone injection whlch Petitioner wished to avoid (Tr.
Pgs.28-29, PX2-p. 19-20). :

Petitioner a_ttend_ed physical therapy in Dr. Fakhouri’s ofﬁce but reported no
improvement (-Tr. Pgs. 29-30, PX2-p. 32-38). When she retumed to see the doctor on
June 6, 2016 they discussed treatment optlons including the possxbahty of surgery (Tr.
Pg 30,PX2-p.21).
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On June 27, 2016, Dr. Fakhouri performed a de Quervain’s release of the first
dorsal compartment of the right wrist and a right thumb Al trigger release at the Palos
Hills Surgicenter. (Tr. Pg.30, PX2-p.22-23).

' Petitioner saw Dr. Fakhouri in follow-up on July 12 and on August 9, 2016 and
received post-operative occupational therapy in his ofﬁé_e through August 11, She
testified that almost immediately after surgery the shooting pain she had been having in
her right forearm disappeared, but that she still had soreness in her thumb. She was
released to return to work for the first time after surgery'as of August 11. (Tr. Pg.30-32,
PX2-24-27, 39-62).

Petitioner did not return to work for Respondent but started a new job in
September 2016, She testified that she continues to use a computer but spends less time
keyboarding than she did previously. She still feels the soreness-in her thumb and is
unable to perform certain day-to-day activities, such as use a manual can opener or twist
open a jat, and she has trouble pulling up socks or zippers (Tr. Pgs.31,33).

According to Petitioner she was diagnosed with diabetes and took Metformin,
before becoming pregnant with her children in 2005, through approximately 2010. She
was diagnosed with a thyroid condition but no longer takes medication for it. (Tr. Pgs.33-
4.

On March 8, 2017, at the request of Respondent, Petitioner was examined by Dr.
Charles Carroll, IV, a Board certified orthopaedic and hand surgeon (RX2-p.5,7,16}). He
reported a normal examination of the right upper arm, clbow and wrist, with grip strength
of 30 pounds on the right and 40 pounds on the left (RX2-p.10-11). He testified that she
surgery (RX2-p.11-12). He opined that based upon his review of her records, personal
factors and the ergonomic evaluation, her work neither caused nor aggravated her de
Quervain’s tensosynovitis or trigger thumb. He stated that the reason for his opinion was
that her work was repetitive but not heavy or forceful and that typing is not typically a
cause for de Quervain’s. He said that typical causes for de Quetvain’s are activities which
are forceful in nature and have repetition involved in radial and ulnar deviation of the

wrist. With regard to the trigger thumb, he said that it would typically be caused by more
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torceful grasping. 1 12 a*mht te %nmm U5 tigger thumb fo hu age, sexand w uuh
(RX2p.13-15),

Petitioner was examéned by Dr Michael R, T re;zstc; also a Board s,efi;hed
orthopaed;c and hand surg,eon at tfk raqumt of Pc‘tmone; s attorney on April 5, 2017 -
(PX6- p 4.6, PX’?) e noted that her subjective onmmo comphm”{s were residual
' wcakncss in the Grasp of tbe nght hand and occasional aching on the ‘vo}az aspect of the
| ._zmetaciirpophaiangeai jomt that is, Ihe wlar base of ihe rwh"t thumb whcrc the tendon was
-'-'r'eleased partlcuiar}y in bad weathcr {PX{S-p 19) Upon examination, he sasd that h1s ' :
_ ﬁndmgb were similar zo those of Dr. Carroll. He found a dimmutmn in hand grasp, ﬁnger =

pmch dnd prehensmn in the nght hand compared o the 1eﬁ alih()ugh Petmoner is r1ght~.
handed (PX6-p.19- 20).. | | R |

-~ Dr. I‘rexster testzﬁed that ?etmoner s cond;tlons of zllﬂbc,mg,, de. Quervain’s
dlsease and tﬂgger ihumb wcze causaliv reiated o her employment (PX6~p 27).He
e\cplmned that both conditions are caused by stenosmg tenesy’novms which is the result
of tnﬁammanon of the synowal tzssue on the mterlor aspcr,t of the tendons sheaths .
: lmtatzon of the t.ynowai tzssue can resuk irom repetmve movements of the 1endon5
wﬁhm thezr respectzve tendon sheaths and/or frorn contusaons to Ehose sheaths It is
possxble to have a subcimzcai degree of symwal tzssue 1rr1tanon Which is provoked by
repeume acuvzties and/or Lontusmns s0 as 1o become h]ghls, symptomatlc Once the
synowal mﬂammatlon causes thickenmg of the svnowal tissue within the tendon sheath
the spaue avaﬁable for Ienaon movuncni can became constr 1cted Cdusmg pain. Swelhng
of the adgacent sofl t;ssue outSIde the tendon sheath often oceuts. Trequentiy sweihng on
the radial aspect of the dzstal forearm irritates the terminal portzon of the radial ner've .
causmg pam to radtate proxmal!v on the radzal forearm in the course of the radwd nerve
(PX6-p.21-26; PX?-p 5). _ _' SRSy

Accordmg fo Dr. Trexster Petmoner was suscepnble to developmg tenosynowm
on at ieast three lf not more bases bemg fernale heavyset and dlabenc but that the
tr;gger that started the condltlons was usmg her hand for data en’iry, typmg and wntmg
and the thumb to hlt the space bar The repetltwe acimtxe.s he said, led 1o an overuse
syndr ome oi the tendons whlch started an mﬂammatary process and resulted in the

conditions (PXﬁ-p.Z?). Dr. Trelster, dlsagree.mg with Dr. Carroll, noted that ;he Mayo
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Clinic reports that “although the exact cause of DeQuervain’s tenogynovitis ist’t known,
~ any activity that relies on repetitive hand or wrist movement ... can make'it_ worse,” and
that the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons states: “De Quervain’s tendinosis |
may be caused by overuse” (PX7-p.5-6).

Dr. Treister testified that it is not unusual to see isolated de Quervain’s disease or
isolated trigger finger in the thumb, but that having both conditions occur at the same
time is further strong evidence of causal connection, because it indicate.s that all the
forces were at the base of the thumb. Finally, the fact tha‘i the onset of thé new problems
occurred at exactly the same time that Petitioner’s work activities changed, requiring
extra use of the hand, he said also supported a ﬁndmg of causal relationship (PX6-p.27-
28). ' _ . _

The most logical explanation for Petitioner’s conditions of ll-being, opined Dr.
Treister, is that she had a degree of subclinical tenosynovitis in her right thumb and distal
radial forearm and that the repetitive movements of using the spaé_e ke’y- during the p’eried
of suddenly increased keyboarding irritated both the primary thumb flexor and the thumb
abductor/extensors of the first dorsal compartment (PX7-p.5, PX6-p.47-48)

The Arbitrator found the testimony of Petitioner to be credible.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Arbitrator adopts the above Findings of Fact in support of the Conclusions of
Law as set forth below. The claimant bears the burden of proving every aspect of her
claim by a preponderance of the evidence. Hufsan v. Industrial Commission, 223 111 App.

3d 706 (1992)

VITH RESPECT TO lSSUES QCz DID AN ACCII)EVT OCCUR THAT
AROSE OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE OF PETITIONER’S
EMPLOYMENT BY RESPONDENT, AND ISSUE (F) IS PETITIONER’S
CURRENT CONDITION OF ILL-BEING CAUSALLY RELATED TO
THI’; IV.IURY THE ARBITRATOR FINDS AS F(}LLOWS '

When a worker 8 physzcai structures dlsedsed or not, gwe way under the stress of
their usual tasks, the law v1ews it as an accadeni ar1smg out of and in the course of
employment. Sisbro v. Indusr (,om #, 207 111.2d 193, 205 (2003). Workers need only

prove that some act or phase of employment was a causative factor in her ensuing
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inj ur.ics.-f..amf and Lakes Co. v, Indust. Conr'n, 359 HLApp 3d 382, 592 (2003). The
work-related task need not even be the sole or principal causalive factor of the injury, as
long tm, work is a causative factor. See Sisbro, 207 1L ’f‘d at 205, Even if the claimant has
a preexisting degener ative condition w hichy makes him more vulnerable to mjmy.,
recovery for an éccidental injury will not be denied as long as sﬁe can .ShOW that hcr
cmpiovmmi was also a causatwe factor. Id. AL 205. Empfoy ers are to take their -
employees as they find them AC.&Sv. Industr jal (,ommzvszon 710 N.E. 2d 8347 (1L -
/\pp 1 DlSI i999) c1t1n,g, Genem! Eiecx‘rtc Co V. fndustrml Commzss:on 433 N.E.2d
671, 672 (1982} ' : ' R '

" The arbnraior has careiulty rewewed the tesmnonv and the evzdence and
conciudes that Petmoner has’ proven by the prcponderance of the ewdmce that an
accident arising out of and in the course of her employment by Respondem occurred and
that her current conditlon of ﬂl-bmng is causally re}ated to the i m}ury

- Petitioner’ uncontroverted 1est1mony was that in the fall of 2015, when she
: .retumed to Work ior Responden‘{ aﬁcr FMLA leave, her jOb duties chamged szgmiicantiy
in a number of’ ways Whereas she pre\f iously worked on the help desk: two or tbree
mormngs ot aﬂemoons per week not on consecutwe davs she was ass;gned 1o work
mommgs and afternoons, four days per week mcludmg Mondavs and Tuesdays when the
traff ic flow was usually higher. In addzimn to spcndmg more time at the hcip desk; cach
call she received whlie on the desk required more use of Ihe keyboard because of the
1rnp1cmt.n£at10n of thg. JIRA u(,keim;_., sybtem A JIRA udqci had to be crcaied for cach
task and the requlred fields had to be completed She was also doing more typmg m order .
to update user manuals, ‘When usmg the key board she always used her nght thumb to hit
the space bar, and each time she did, she felt her thumb hsmno the I‘lgid urzpadded phstzc
wrist rest attached to her compufer :

On March 14, 2016, an e-blast was éent'io 12 or 15 thousand recipients, advising
them of action they had to take within 30 days. On that day Petitioner resolved 61
contacts on the help desk whlch was more than double the volume that was typical for __
her. By the end of the day she had soreness in her rl_ght hand that made it difficult for her
to start the ignition in her car, The next day the volume remained high and ex_perienced

additional pain and swe_Iiing in her hand. By March 16, the pain and swelling were so

Page |9




i '_ Lori Cé._sqrié-’ﬁ'arﬁgf y.':.UC‘?z_i_cago Argonne, LLC;, Cascelt 16 WC 19582 2 1
| IWCC0044
concerning that she went to Respondent’s Health and Employee Wellness Clinic where
the history recorded was of repetitive typing. She improved after being off work, but
when she returned to work, her symploms worsened.

The Arbitrator finds it significant that the Respondent produced no witness to
contradict any of Petitioner’s testimony. Petitioner testified that she had no prior
symptoms with her right thumb or hand and her symptoms manifested with the onset the
e-blast and resulting increased volume of calls to be particularly compelling.

The Arbitrator notes that Dr. Treister agreed with the treatment, diagnoses and
opinions of Dr. Fakhouri. Dr. Treister noted that Petitioner reported experiencing
discomfort when her workload suddenly increased, and her symptoms continued to
increase with the increase level of data entry work Petitioner was performing and the
symptoms accompanied swelling. Dr. Treister tesﬂﬁed that Péti’tidn’er’s condition is
more common in diabetics, women and people who are heaver, but the causative factor
was the vigorous repetitive use of the tendon or forceful use of the tendons. Dr. Treister
further testified that Petitioner may have been more susceptible to develop her condition
but the trigger that started her condition was her using her hand performing data entering
and picking up the phone which was documented in the ergometric study. Dr. Treister
also testified that the repetitive use of the thumb operating the space bar and typing with
her dominate hand caused an overuse syndrome of those tendons which started the
inflammatory process. (PX 6, pgs. 21-27).

The Arbitrator found the opinions of Drs. Treister and Fakhouri more persuasive
than the opinions of Dr. Carroll who opined that Petitioner’s condition was not caused or
' aggravated by Petitioner’s work activities. The Arbitrator finds that the onset of
Petitioner’s symptoms, which manifested with a significant increase in the amount of
data entry work Petitioner was performing, supports the opinions of Dr. Treister.  The
Arbitrator notes that Dr. Carroll based his opinion upon the existence or requirement of
force to cause de Quervains regardless of the amount or type of repetitive work
performed. The Arbitrator further notes that Dr. Carroll did not cite to any medical

authority that repetitive activity without heavy force can not cause de Quervains.
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‘«‘% iTH R?\%?i"{? ’?@ {3y s RHE %?ﬂ‘%i‘f“\ﬁ" PATD ALL %“PEE{}?RF& i
CHARGES FOHR ALL E‘E,K u-{}\ ABLE AND NECESSARY MEDICA
%ERVI{‘F% ' - o S o

indei Suutson 8{1) of the ”u.,t A L,Ia)mml is entitled to recover xedsondblc medde

expemcs the incurrence of w hlch are ccuzaaliy 1elated to an accident arxsm,g, out of and mn
the scope oi cmplo'vmr.,nt and whzch are rzeu,ssary to dlasznose relieve, or cure the cffects
of the claimant’s injury. Abvoiuie Ci’eamng/S |4 MBL v. [l Workers’ Compemanon
Comm’n, 409 111 App. 3d 463, 470 (4" Dist. 2011). |

Respondent does not dxspute thas Petltloner § freatment was unre'wonabie or
unnecessary. Ret;pondent demed the treatment base:d upon iiablhtv Based npon the
above ﬁndmg, the Arbitrator further finds that Petmoner s ueatment Was reasonabie
necessary causally re]ated tc} an acmdent ansmg out of and in the scope of Petitioner’s
employment that was necessary to d1agnose or rehe\;e Petlttoncr from the effects of her
injury. As such, Arbltmtor s find that Respondmt is liable to pay the bes of Dr
'_ r akhoun and the Palos Hllis Sm gery Lenter in accordance thh the prowsmns of

_Sec.tmns S(d) and 8. 2 of the Act

WITH RESPECT TO (K), WHAT TFMPORARY BENEF iTs ARE IN
DISPUTE ' e

“ Th& pcnod of temporary total d1sabthty encompasses the t;me frorn whtch the
injury mc,apamtates, the C]dlmdnt until quch time as the claimant has recovered as much as
the character of 1he mjury wﬂl permit. ie., untﬂ the condttzon has qtabalzzed Gallentine
V. ]ndusmczl Comm 7, 2@1 1L App. 3d 880, 886 (2nd Dist. 1990). The dlsposmve test is
Whether the cla:mant s condition has stabthzed ie., reached MM.L Sunny Hill of Wil
County v. Tll. Workers' Comp. C’omm n, 2014 IL App (3d) 130028WC at 28 (Iune 26,
2014, Opmton F}led) ’v{echamcal Devices v. Industrzaf Comm’n, 344 1. App. 3d 752
760 (4th Dist. 2003) To show entitlement to temporary total dlsabihty beneﬁts a
claimant must prove not only that he d}d not work but also that he was unable to work.
Gallentine, 201 Ii. App. 3d at 887 (empha31s added) see also City of Granite City v.
Industrial Comm 1, 279 IH App 3d.1087, 1090 (5th Dist. 1996}
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1t appears that the only dispute regarding temporary benefits Respondent’s

Lori Cesario-Fayraj v. UChicago Argonne, LLC; Case# 16 WC 19582

liability for TTD. In view of the Arbitrator’s conclusion that an acc_idgr_if:__dccmed_ arising
out of and in the course of Petitioner’s employment by Respondent and that her condition
of ill-béing is related thereto, and based upon the records of Dr. Fakhouri, the Arbitrator
concludes that Petitioner is entitled to 6-4/7 weeks of TTD, from June 27, 2016, through
August 11, 2016, a period of 6-4/7 weeks, in the weekly amount of $705.17.

WITH RESPECT TO (L), WHAT IS THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF

Section 8.1b of the lllinois Workers' Compensation Act ("Act") addresses the
factors that must be considered in determining the extent of permanent partial disability

for accidents occurring on or after September 1, 2011, 820 ILCS 305/8.1b (LEXIS
2011). Specifically, Section 8.1b states:

For accidental injuries that occur on or after September 1, 2011,

permanent partial disability shall be established using the following
criteria:

{a) A physician licensed to practice medicine in all of its branches
preparing a permanent partial disability impairment report shall report the
level of impairment in writing. The report shall include an evaluation of
medically defined and professionally appropriate measurements of
impairment that include but are not limited to: loss of range of motion;
loss of strength; measured atrophy of tissue mass consistent with the
injury; and any other measurements that establish the nature and extent of
the impairment. The most current edition of the American Medical
Association’s “Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment™ shall
be used by the physician in determining the level of impairment.

(b) In determining the level of permanent partial disability, the

Commission shall base its determination on the following factors:

(i) the reported level of impairment pursuant to subsection (a);
(if) the occupation of the injured employee;

(iii) the age of the employee at the time of the injury;

(iv) the employee's future earning capacity; and

(v) evidence of disability corroborated by the treating medical
records. No single enumerated factor shall be the sole determinant
of disability. In determining the level of disability, the relevance
and weight of any factors used in addition to the level of
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impairment as reported by the physician must be explained in 3
wrilien vider. d '

Considering these t'actors in light ol ihc evidence submitted at trial, the Arbitrator
addresses the fm{ora delineated in the Act for determining permanent partial disability.

With regard to subsection (i) of Sccnon 8.1b(b}, the Arbitrator notes that neither
party has offered into evidence a perrmme,ut partial disability impairment 1epor1 and
thewfore gives no weight 1o this factor. | | '

W}th rcgard to subsection (11) of Secucn 8. lb(b) the Arbltratoz has con51dered
Petitioner’s occupatwn, v,hich requires her touse a computer and ha\re the full use of her
hands and therefore gives greatcr weight to this iactor ' ' o

With regard to subsection (iii) of Section 8. 1b(b), the Arbxtrator notes that
Pelltmner was 50 years old at the time of her acmdent and couid expect to ‘work for
another 17 years or more and therefore gnes greater wug,ht to_ this factor. _

With fegard to subsection (iv) of Section 8.1b (b},' Pctitio_ner’s futu'i*_e earning
: capac.iiy, thé Arbitrator no.tes_'no evidence of impairment and therefore gives no weight to
this fac’ior | | o o B

_ Wlth reoard to subsectmn (v) of Section 8.1b(b), ev idence of dlsablht}
corrobox ated by the taeatmg medical records, the Arbitrator notes the testimony of the
exammmg doctors for both parties. Dr. Treister tesn{’ ed that Petxtmnel has some .
hypersensitivity on the volar side of the metacarpophalang,eal joint of the nﬂht thumb,
Whl!..h he said is not unusual folfomng surgery such as she had, and which is probably
because the digltal nerves to the thumb run right past that area. She also has permanent
weakness in her dominant right hand, which is diffuse rather than focal The weakness is
manifest in grasp, that is, when usmg all the ﬁngers to grab something, and in pmch and
in prehension, that is, when pushmg the thumb agamst the index finger to pick up obj ects.
While Dr. Carroll measured the dnnlmshed gnp strength as bemg 25 percent less on the
dominant side than on the non- dommant Dr. Treister 1est1fied that the dominant side is
usually 25 to 50 percent stmnge-r than the non-dominant side. In other words, Petitioner’s
right hand is much more than 25 percent weaker thah the left (PX6-p.29-31). The rﬁedical

testimony corroborates Petitioner’s testimony that she still has aching in the thumb and is
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unable to perform such activities as using a manual can opener and twisting open the lid
of a jar, and that she has trouble pulling up socks and zippers. S

Based upon the above factors and the record taken as a whole, the Arbitrator
concludes that Petitioner sustained permanent partial disability to the extent of 20 percent
of the right hand pursuant to Section 8(c) and is entitled to permanent partial disability
benefits of $755.22/week for 41 weeks, commencing August 12, 2016, as provided in
Section 8{e) of the Act.
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) DX Affirm and adopt (no changes)
) SS. l:] Affirm with changes
COUNTY OF KANKAKEE ) [T Reverse

[ Modity

D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
I:I Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))

[ ] Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)

[ ] prD/Fatal denied

EI None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Lisa Blacker,
Petitioner,

VS,

Fox Developmental Center,
Respondent.

211IWCC0045

NO: 15 WC 38891

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

T imely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given to ﬁi]
parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of permanent disability, wages and rate and being
advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto

and made a part hereof.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the Arbitrator

filed December 18, 2019, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay to Petitioner

interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Pursuant to §19(f)(1) of the Act, claims against the State of Illinois are not subject to judicial

review. Therefore, no appeal bond is set in this case.

DATED: FER 1- 2021 pond
01/21/21 eorah L Simpsén
DLS/Am

046

(lear i

{(’&L——

Barbara N. Flores

MAw*éQﬁm

Marc Parker
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF Kankakee )}

]___I Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4{d)}
[ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(c))

[_] second Injury Fund (§8(¢)18)

_ None of the above
ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION
Lisa Blacker 7 Case #15 WC 38891
Employee/Petitiones
v. Consolidated cases: N/A
Fox Developmental Center
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adfustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Gregory Dollison, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Kankakee, lllinois, on 10/16/2019. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby
makes findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. [ ] Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

D Was there an employee-employer relationship?
. [:I Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
. D What was the date of the accident?
[ ] Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?
Is Petitioner's cwrrent condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
. What were Petitioner's earnings?
. L] What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?
{___] ‘What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

[X] Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
K. @ What temporary benefits are in dispute?
] TPD ] Maintenance TTD
L. What is the nature and extent of the injury?
M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. [:| Is Respondent due any credit?
0. D Other

YO W

=G T

TCArbDec 2710 100 W. Randolph Streel #8-200 Chicago, IL 60607 312/814-6611  Toll-free §66/352-3033  Web site: www.hree.dl gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450  Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 815/987-7292 Springfield 217/785-7084
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Petztzoner s current condltlon of zll-bemo is causally related to the acc1dent

I the year precedmg the mjury, Petltlonel eamed $40,656.72; the average weekly wage was $781.86.
Petitioner fas received all reasonable and necessary medical services, . _

Respondent lms not paid all approprzate charges for all reasonable and necessary medzcal servmes

Respondent shall be given credlt of $4’7 538 23 for TTD 30 for TPD $28,794. 95 credlt for mamtenance and $0
or for other beneﬁts

ORDER

Respondent shall pay Pet1t1one1 combined temporary total disability benefits and maintenance benefits of
$521.24/week for 173-3/Tweeks, commencing 11/18/15 - 1/24/16, 2/4/16 - 9/20/17, 4/13/18 - 8/13/18 as
provided in Section 8(b) of the Act, and the period of 8/14/18 - 10/16/19 being the maintenance period as
provided in section 8(a), for a total of $90,398.13. Respondent shall receive a credit of $76,333.20 for
temporary total disability and mamtenance beneﬁts pald Wiih Petltloner to receive an add1t10na1 payment of
$14, 064 93 :

Respondent shall pay reasonable and necessary medical services of $71,039.54, as prowded in Sectlons 8(a) and
8.2 of the Act, pursuant to PX1. Respondent shall receive credit for any balances paid prior to the date of
hearing. Respondent shall further reimburse Petitioner in the amount of $30. 00 representing out-of- pocket
payments made for her medlcai care. :

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent paxtzal dlsablhty beneﬁts of $469 12/week for 237 5 weeks, because
the injuries- sustained caused the 47:1/2% loss of the person as a whole; as prov1ded in Section 8(d)2 of the Act,
as Pet;tmnez has 1ost access to he1 occupations asa housekeepel and bus ch 1ver

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petztzon Jor Rev:ew w1th1n 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accmdance Wzth the Act and Rules, then this decision shali be entered as the
decision of the Comimnission. : :

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice

of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

Signature of Arbitrator Date

ICATbDe¢ p. 2 nEC ‘i 8 2819



Attachment to Arbitrator Decision
(15 WC 38891)

Findings of Fact: 2 1 I %g @ C @ @ 4 5

Petitioner, Lisa Blacker, became employed by Respondent, Fox Developmental Center, on November 1,
2015 as a support service worker, which Petitioner described as basically being a housekeeper. Petitioner
testified she had irregularly worked as a housekeeper for elderly clients over many years prior to obtaining work
with Respondent. Her primary, previous employment had been as a school bus or motor coach driver and she
believed she had obtained her CDL in 1991, She was working for Illinois Central School Bus at the time of

injury and testified Respondent was aware of her concurrent employment. (PX22) Respondent offered no
contradictory evidence at trial.

Within a few weeks of her hire for Respondent, on November 18, 2015, Petitioner suffered an
undisputed accident during her on-the-job training. (RX3, AX1) She was attempting to move a large
housekeeping cart through a large fire door when the heavy door struck her right foot, causing pain.

Petitioner’s ensuing treatment can be found in both parties® voluminous supporting exhibits at the time
of trial, including medical records, four IME reports, wage records and employment-related correspondence,
deposition transcripts and a labor market survey. Petitioner also provided the testimony of Michelle Lunacek,

who works for Spare Wheels Transportation, a bus-driving company that used to employ Petitioner and been
hoping to again. :

At trial, Respondent disputed that Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being was related to her
undisputed accident. (AX1) If there was a legitimate dispute, the Arbitrator would find it necessary to
document in this Statement of Facts the entire course of treatment, step-by-step. However, having reviewed the
Record, the Arbitrator finds there is no actual basis for a causal dispute. Respondent’s own Independent
Medical Examiners (IME), Dr. Nirain D’Souza first for an orthopedic evaluation, and Dr. Howard Konowitz
three later times for pain management evaluations, supported both that Petitioner’s current condition was related
to her workplace accident and that all of her treatment over the years, including therapy, injections, etc. was all
reasonable and necessary. (RX10, RX13, RX 15) Nothing in both IME’s subsequent evidence depositions
altered those fundamental facts regarding their opinions, (RX8, pp.27-30, RX11, pp. 35-38) Therefore, the

Arbitrator does not find it necessary to summarize Petitioner’s lengthy treatment records as those are found in
the Record.

Nor is the complete medical history overly relevant to the primary issue in this case: the nature-and-
extend of Petitioner’s injuries. It is the end result of Petitioner’s medical care, not the path in getting there, that
is most relevant to permanent partial disability under the law. And, in reality, there is little dispute as to
Petitioner’s permanent restrictions or their validity. Petitioner last underwent a valid Functicnal Capacity
Evaluation on June 24, 2018 that placed her at permanent medium duty. (PX 24) Dr. Scott O’Connor,
Petitioner’s treating podiatrist, thought she needed primarily sedentary work, and Respondent’s IME, Dr.
Konowitz, testified he thought Petitioner’s permanent, safe limitations would be light-to-medium duty. (RX11
at 44-45) All agreed Petitioner had valid restrictions that kept her from full-duty work and that those
restrictions had a connection to the work accident. '

The dispute on Petitioner’s disability was her ability to continue driving a school bus. Dr. O’Connor
testified it was unsafe for Petitioner to do so and Michelle Lunacek testified Spare Wheels Transportation did
not feel comfortable hiring her with her condition. (PX21, PX23 at 15-18) Dr. Konowitz, Respondent’s IME,
on the other hand thought there was no reason she could not drive a school bus. (RX15, RX11 53-58}
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The partles also dlsputed at what point Petmoner transitioned from her entitlement from Temporary
Total Disability (TTD) benefits to maintenance benefits, though her entitlement to the over-all stated periods
was not disputed. (AX1) On that issue, the Atbitrator notes Dr. Scott O’ Connor declared the final MMI in the
Record on August 13, 2018. The Arbi’ﬂator was unable to locate any other ev1denoe that suggested a different
final MMI date than the one stated by Dr. O’Connor.

With respect to (F ) Is Petmoner’s current condztmn of 111-bemg causally related to the i mjury, the
Arbitrator finds as follows : .

“At trial, Respt)ndént disputed that Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being was causally related to her
undisputed workplace accident. (AX1) However, as stated above, the Arbitrator finds there is no actual basis
for the dispute in this case, Respondent had four IME’s pmfmmed during the course of Petitioner’s care, one
with an orthopedic, Dr. D’Souiza, and three with a pain doctor, Dr. Konowitz. Both doctors not only supported
that all'of Petitioner’s treatment was reasonable and necessary, but that such treatment was causally related to
her workplace i mjury (RXI{) RX13 -15)

The only real dispute is what to call Pent:oner s current nerve condition. Petitioner’s treating doctors
diagnosed Petitioner with Complex Regiona! Pain Syndrome, whereas Dr. Konowitz called it saphenous nerve,
sural nerve dysesthesias with or without sympathetic instability. (RX 13-15) But no matter what it is called,
there is no dispute 1o the existence of a work-related condition that causes Petitioner to have permanen!i work
restrictions. Therefore, the Arbitrator finds Petitioner’s current condition — by whatever name — is causaliy
refated to hel workplace injury. : :

With respect to (Gf) What were Petitioner’s eﬁrnings, the Arbitrator finds as follows:

Pe’mttoner testlﬁed that when she was hned and then injured —at Fox Deveiopm&ntai Center she had
concurrent employment with Illinois Central School Bus. Petitioner stated she filled out “hiring” paperwork
with Shelly in Human Resources that specifically pertained to her second job at the bus company. Petitioner
testiﬁed in Ehe afﬁrmatwe that Respondent was ma&e aware of her concurrent work in wrlting

“As the Arbnrator finds Petztzoner to be a credlble witness, with no ev1dence offel ed in opposition to her
testimony, the Arbitrator finds Peutloner was concurrentiv employed within the meaning of the law at the time
of her accident. :

Petitioner offered Exhibit 22, which consisted of wage records from llinois Central School Bus covering
the date period of 11/18/13 through 11/18/14, totaling $8,375.12 in gross wages. (PX22) Adding that to the
agreed AWW for Petitioner’s work with Respondent, or the equivalent of $32,281.60 per year equates to
combined yearly earnings of $40,656.72, or an Average Weekly Wacre of $781 86. (RX4)

With respect to (J.) Were the medical services that were prowded to Petltmner reasonable and necessary?
Has Respondent paid all approprlate charges for 11} reasonable and necessqry medical servmes, the
Arx bltrator finds as follows

Petltioner has submztted total medlcal bills totaling $71,039.54. (PXI) Petitioner alleged at the time of
trial that Respondent had paid $22,550.94, with $21,983.93 outstanding. Respondent offered RXS, purporting
to show total payments made by TriStar of $32,782.97. The Arbitrator has reviewed the submitted bills and
corresponding records and finds the freatment to be reasonable, necessary and related treatment for Petitioner’s
accident. Respondent’s own IMEs, Drs. D’Souza and Konowitz supported that the totality of Petitioner’s
treatment had been reasonable, necessary and related to the accident. (RX10, RX13-15)
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necessary medical services of
$71,039.54, as provided in Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act, pursuant to PX1. Petitioner proffered that any bills

that may have been made by Respondent, but not yet reflected on PX1, would be payment for which Respondent
receives credit. Respondent shall further reimburse Petitioner in the amount of $30.00 representing out-of-
pocket payments made for her medical care.

With respect to (K.) What temporary benefits (TTD and maintenance periods) are in dispute, the
Arbitrator finds as follows:

At trial, the parties did not dispute that Petitioner was entitled to either TTD benefits or maintenance
henefits for the periods of 11/18/15-1/24/16, 2/4/16-9/20/17, 4/13/18-10/16/19. The only question in dispute
was when Petitioner’s entitlement to TTD ended and when maintenance benefits began. Petitioner alleged on
the Request for Hearing that TTD ended on 8/13/19, with Respondent alleging an ending date of 8/31/18. The

Arbitrator finds neither party is correct and that Petitioner’s entitlement to TTD ended on 8/13/18, when Dr.
0’Connor declared final MMI

Maintenance benefits therefore began on 8/14/2018 and ran through the date of hearing, or 10/16/2019.
The total amount of combined benefits owing during the agreed periods, at Petitioner’s revised AWW, is
$90,398.13, or 173-3/7 weeks at $521.24 per week. Respondent shall receive a credit of $76,333.20 for
temporary total disability and maintenance benefits already paid, with Petitioner to receive an additional

payment of $14,064.93 as reimbursement for Respondent’s underpayment of benefits due to its incorrect AWW
calculation.

With respect to (L.) What is the Nature and Extent of the injury, the Arbitrator finds as follows:

Section 820 ILCS 305/8.1b(b) of the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Act provides that any award of
permanent partie! disability is to be determined using five enumerated factors:

In determining the level of permanent partial disability, the Commission shall base its determination on
the following factors: (i) the reported level of impairment pursuant to subsection (2); (ii) the occupation
of the injured employee; (iii) the age of the employee at the time of the injury; (iv) the employee's future
earning capacity; and (v) evidence of disability corroborated by the treating medical records. No single
enumerated factor shall be the sole determinant of disability.

With regard to subsection (i) of §8.1b(k), the Arbitrator notes that the Illinois Appellate Comt found in
Corn Belt Energy Corp. v. [llinois Workers’ Compensation Comm’n, 2016 IL App (3d) 150311 WC that neither
party is required to submit a written impairment report as part of a final hearing. The Arbitrator finds no

permanent partial disability impairment report and/or opinion was submitted into evidence by either party in this
matter. The Arbitrator therefore gives no weight to this factor.

With regard to subsection (ii) of §8.1b(b), the occupation of the employee, the Arbitrator notes that the

record reveals Petitioner was employed by Respondent as a housekeeper, or “support service worker.”
Petitioner testified she had irregularty worked as a housekeeper for elderly clients over many years prior to
obtaining work with Respondent. Her primary, previous employment had been as a school bus or motor coach
driver and she believed she had obtained her CDL in 1991. Petitioner underwent two valid Functional Capacity
Evaluations, the last one occurring on 6/25/18. (PX24). That evaluation showed Petitioner’s inability to
perform all of the essential functions of a support service worker, which suppcirts that Petitioner has lost full
access to that occupation. (PX24 at 5) Petitioner also provided the opinion of Dr. O’Connor, Petitioner’s
pochatrlst that she was unable to safely return to dnvmg a school bus on a permanent basis due to her work-

related injury (PX21, PX23 at 15-18), which was an opinion disputed by Respondent’s IME, Dr. Konowitz.

5
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(RX15). Petitioner further provided the testimony of Michele Lunacek, who worked for one of Petitioner’s
prior bus employers, Spare Wheels Transportation, and was in on the hiring process. Ms. Lunacek testified that
she would have liked Petitioner to return to work at Spare Wheels Transportation, but that ultimately Petitioner
was not hired due to their belief she would not pass a DOT physical. It is also true Petitioner had concurrent
employment as a bus driver at the time of her work-related injury and never returned to wotk again in that
occupation following the accident. (PX22). The Arbitrator finding that Petitioner, Ms. Lunacek and Dr.
O’Connor are credible witnesses and that it was not unreasonable to specifically restrict driving commercial
vehicles. Coupled with Petitioner’s permanent restrictions from the FCE, the Arbitrator further finds that
Petitioner has lost access to not just one, but two occupations as a result of the workplace injury. The Arbitrator
therefore gives great weight to this factor. Lo : '

With regard to subsection (iii) of §8.1b(b), the Arbitrator notes that Petitioner was 52 years old at the
time of the onset of her work-related injuries. Petitioner is still well before normal retirement age, but had also
been in her occupations for decades Ieading up to her accident which she can no longer perform. Petitioner
must live with any ongoing symptoms, the existence of which was corroborated by Respondent’s IME, Dr.
Konowitz, for a significant period, including presumably many years of further employment in some capacity.
The Arbitrator therefore gives some weight to this factor. ' S : ' '

With regard to subsection (iv) of §8.1b(b), Petitioner’s future earnings capacity, Petitioner provided
proof she had lost access to two separate occupations. She was looking for work as of the date of hearing and
had not been offered permanent light-duty work by Respondent. Respondent offered a Labor Market Survey
that suggested Petitioner could earn between $23,583.00 and $41,881.00 in alternative capacities. (RX7)
Petitioner’s calculated gross earnings for this case between her two prior jobs was $40,656.72, per the
Arbitrator’s previously findings on Petitioner’s AWW, which is approximately at the high mark for her alternate
earning capacities. There is no evidence vocational services were provided to Petitioner and the Labor Market
Survey suggests many alternative occupations may, in fact, pay less than her customary wages. Therefore, the
Arbitrator gives some weight to this factor. S o = - :

With regard to subsection (v) of §8.1b(b), evidence of disability corroborated by the treating medical
records, Petitioner testified to her continued symptoms and limits to daily activities. The Arbitrator finds
Petitioner is a credible historian and witness and does place some weight on her self-reported recurrent
symptomatology, corroborated by the medical records and FCE findings. Respondent’s own IME, Dr.
Konowitz, actually placed Petitioner at a more restrictive permanent level ~ light-to-medium duty — than did the
last FCE. (RX11 at 44-45) Therefore, the Arbitrator gives significant weight to this factor. :

Based on the above factors, and the record taken as a whole, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner sustained
permanent partial disability to the extent of 47-1/2% loss of Petitioner’s person-as-a-whole pursuant to §8(d)2 of
the Illinois Worker’s Compensation Act, as she lost access to both her occupations as a housekeeper and her
long-standing career as a school bus driver.



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) I:] Affirm and adopt {no changes) D Injured Workers™ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
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COUNTY OF DUPAGE ) & Reverse l:l Second Tnjury Fund (§8(e)18)
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BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Anthony Donato,

Petitioner, 2 1 I W C C 0 0 4 6
vs. NO: 17 WC 29615
HD Plumbing & Heating,

Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Petitioner herein and notice given to
all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, causal connection, medical
expenses, temporary total disability and permanent partial disability, and being advised of the
facts and law, reverses the Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below.

L FINDINGS OF FACT
A. Background

Petitioner testified that he was employed by Respondent as a new construction Plumber
working in brand new homes and buildings. He explained that he uses blueprints to drill out
locations where plumbing will be installed, then installs plumbing that will later be hidden by
walls and ceilings. At the time of trial, Petitioner had been a licensed Plumber for 20 years.

Previously, Petitioner suffered a left shoulder injury around 2007 that resulted in a rotator
cuff surgery. A workers’ compensation claim was filed, and the claim was eventually settled.
Petitioner was released back to full duty and testified that after a year or so he felt he was back to
100 percent.

In October of 2017 Petitioner had been working for Respondent for six months installing
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plumbing in a subdivision where the homes were “cookie cutter,” so he knew exactly where the
plumbing was to be installed in each home. He had recently received a raise of $1.50/hr. in July
of 2017.

B. Accident

On October 9, 2017, Petitioner testified he was at work with two co-workers and his
foreman. Petitioner walked into the “really small” duplex he was to work on, which was a unit
24x24 in size. ‘Petitioner testified that the studs, floors, roof, and wrap were all up, but the
drywall and siding was not. At one point, the foreman told Petitioner to go upstairs and start
drilling. After drilling everything out for 45 minutes, Petitioner cleaned up the debris and began
pipe installation. At that time, Petitioner testified that his two co-workers had been told to
retrieve a gas machme thus he was unaware of their location at the time.

Petitioner was running three-mch pipe through the second-floor unit into the attic. He
was standing on a six-foot ladder with a ladder caddy on the side that held his primer, glue, and
Sawz-all. He climbed up into the attic to make his markings. As he bent down to grab the Sawz-
all, he testified that the ladder kicked out to the right and he fell down. When Petitioner fell, his
left arm was hanging on the attic joists and got stuck, as there was only 14.5 inches between the
joist bases, and Petitioner is not a small man. As he fell his arm stayed up in the joist for a
second before he scraped it as he fell

Petitioner testlﬁed that he hit the ground and noticed hiS left shoulder was bleeding and
there was clearly blood on his shirt. At that moment the foreman came upstairs and asked what
was going on. Petitioner informed him of his ladder kicking out. The foreman said “TyJou are
too F-ing old for this type of work, you better go find an F-ing new job.” Petitioner testified that
he got up and got in the foreman’s face and “called him an F-ing maggot and told him to get the
F out of my face and he left.” '

Petitioner testified that at that point he wanted to see if he was able to continue working,
so he picked up his fallen items and was going to perform some work that did not require ladder
climbing. At that moment Respondent’s owner, Jesus Hernandez, came upstairs and terminated
Petitioner, stating “You cannot talk to my Foreman the way you talk to them.” Petitioner asked:
“What about what he said to me?” The owner replied: “Nobody heard that,” and walked away.

Petitioner testified he then grabbed his things and left. He got in his truck and phoned his
wife. After speaking with her, he decided to visit the Sherman Hospital emergency room (“ER”)
in Elgin, Illinois.

C. Medical Treatment

The emergency room record reflects that Petitioner arrived at 10:23 a.m. on October 9,
2017. He was evaluated by a physician who noted at 10:45 a.m. that Petitioner was “[a] 61 y/o
male presents iwth [sic] left shoulder pain s/p fall off of a 61t ladder, he is a painter and the
ladder slipped, he fell to the ground, heft [sic] left arm when flailing [sic].” Petitioner was noted
to be “angry because they then fired him. Has some tingling down left arm into 2nd and 3rd
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finger. No blood thinners.” The first nurse’s note at 10:45 a.m. reads:
Pt to ED rm16 w/ wife in wheelchair from triage. Pt ¢/o fall from about 5 ft up on
a 6ft ladder. Pt states ladder collapsed and he fell with it arm above head. Arm
scraped on wood boards on way down. Pt denies head injury or LOC. Pt ¢/o Lt
shoulder pain with tingling down arm. Sensation intact. Pt has abrasion to
inner/medial Lt upper and lower arm. Bleeding controlled. YSS.

A subseguent nurse’s note at 11:12 a.m. indicates that Petitioner was given a tetanus shot.
The emergency room records reflect that Petitioner’s abrasions were treated and he underwent
chest and neck x-rays, which were negative. The ER doctor suspected a rotator cuff injury,
diagnosed a left shoulder injury, and referred Petitioner to Dr. Cannestra, an orthopedlst
However, Petitioner returned to treat with Dr Ketterling, who had performed his prior rotator
cuff surgery

In the interim, Petitioner treated with his primary care physician (“PCP”) Dr. McGuire.
On October 12, 2017, Dr. McGuire noted a similar mechanism of injury with Petitioner falling
off a ladder and injuring his left shoulder after it had gotten caught over and behind his head.
The record also states Petitioner was fired right before he left and went to the ER. Petitioner was
diagnosed with an unspecified acute rotator cuff injury and was taken off work.

On October 30, 2017, Petitioner still had left shoulder pain, worse at night, as well as
numbness in his 2, 3’d and 4‘*‘ ﬁngers He was diagnosed with strains of muscles and tendons in
left shouider and kept off work :

Eventually, Petitioner began treating with Dr. Ketterling under his group insurance. On
December 4, 2017, Petitioner saw Dr. Ketterling and provided a similar injury history. He
complamed of pain, swelling, soreness, decreased range of motion (“ROM”), decreased strength,
some crackmg and popping and occasional numbness in his hands since the injury. Petitioner
was placed on light duty with no use of the left arm.

An MRI was recommended and performed on December 12, 2017. The radiologist found
a full thickness, complete tearing of the supraspinatus and infraspinatus tendons. He also found
moderate to high-grade partial thickness bursal-sided tearing of the upper subscapularis tendon,
laterally.

On December 14, 2017, Dr. Ketterling reviewed the MRI and confirmed a rotator cuff
tear and impingement, biceps tendinitis with biceps tendon subluxation, and degeneration of
labrum. Petitioner had minimal muscle atrophy, which Dr. Ketterling indicated spoke to the
acute nature of his injury. Dr. Ketterling stated that portions of the infraspinatus tear appeared
chronic, while the majority of the supraspinatus tear was acute. Surgery was recommended. Dr.
Ketterling noted Petitioner’s previous left shoulder surgery, which appeared to consist largely of
a distal clavicle resection.

Petitioner underwent surgery on January 24, 2018 consisting of diagnostic video
arthroscopy, arthroscopic subacromial decompression, and soft tissue biceps tenodesis with
limited open revision rotator cuff repair of the left shoulder. The post-operative diagnosis was
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impingement syndrome with re-tear of the rotator cuff, and biceps tendinitis with subluxation’of
the left shoulder. The operative report reflects Dr. Ketterling’s finding that the tear at the front
of the supraspinatus appeared to be relatively chronic and a re-tear of his previous repair, while
the posterior aspect of the tear extending through the infraspinatus appeared to be acute with
avulsion of the tendon from its footprint and the greater tuber031ty Dr Ketterling stated that the
latter was torn with his recent fall.

Petitioner underwent postoperative physical therapy and remained off work until he
requested a release on May 25, 2018, his final visit with Dr. Ketterling. Petitioner wanted to
return to work for financial reasons, and also stated that work was his therapy. He believed he
was physically capable of work.

Petltloner underwent an zmpairment rating evaluation at Respondent s request with Dr.
Cole on October 11, 2018. Dr. Cole noted a consistent mechanism of injury, as well as
Petitioner’s confemporaneous and significant left shoulder pain, along with left second, third and
fourth digit numbness. Dr. Cole reviewed the December 12, 2017 MRI report as well as Dr.
* Ketterling’s review of the MRI, noting a full thickness tear of the mfraspmatus and supraspinatus
tendons, partial thickness bursa-side tearing of the upper scapularis, superior humeral head
subluxation and loss of the subacromial space with high-grade cartilage loss of the superolateral
humeral head. Dr. Cole also reviewed the operative report, subsequent physical therapy records
and the May 25,2018 record of Dr. Ketterhng releasing Pet1t10ner to full duty.

“Dr. Cole noted that Petitioner’s 1eﬂ upper extremlty QulckDASH score was 22.7.
Petitioner noted that his pain was an intermittent 2/10 and interfered with sleep. Petitioner took
Ibuprofen, described his overall 1mpa1rment as “mlld” and noted slight pain with activity.

Using the 6“’1 Edition Guidelines (“the Gu1delmes”) for impairment, Dr. Cole found that
Petitioner’s principal diagnosis was a full thickness rotator cuff tear, which is a Class 1 category
in Table 15.5 on page 403 of the Guidelines. Petitioner had mild residual functional loss but
with essentially normal motion. He then assessed grade modifiers for the purposes of a net
adjustment. Based on his QuickDASH score, his symptoms with strenuous activity, ability to
perform independent self-care and his occasional Ibuprofen use, Petitioner falls into the grade 1
modifier category of functional history adjustment in Table 15.7 on page 406.

Dr. Cole also found Petitioner qualified for the grade 1 modifier for physical exam
adjustment in Table 15-8 on page 408. He has 0.5cm atrophy in his left biceps versus right,
along with minimal ROM, strength deficit and palpatory findings, but Dr. Cole stopped short of
finding these results “normal.” Dr. Cole found that Petitioner’s diagnosis qualified as a “very
severe problem” and thus a grade modifier four for the clinical studies adjustment in Table 15-9
on page 410.

According to the net adjustment formula on page 411: (1 DN+ (1-D+ @)= 0+0+
3=3. The net adjustment of 3 defaults to a grade of “E.” The corresponding left upper extremity
impairment rating in Table 15-5 on page 403 is 7%. Finally, Table 15-11 converts this
impairment to a 4% whole person impairment.
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Respondent called Robb Swanson (Mr, Swanson) as a witness. At the time of arbitration,
Mr. Swanson had been Respondent’s Plumber Foreman for five years. He testified that on the
date in question, he was on the first floor of a duplex marking floors and cutting pipes. Petitioner
was above him working on the second floor. Mr. Swanson stated that around 8:00 a.m. a piece
of three-inch PVC pipe fell through the ceiling and hit Mr. Swanson in the shoulder. Mr.
Swanson testified that he yelled out some profanities at Petitioner and another employee, Jason
Reyes, came downstairs to see what happened. Mr. Swanson testified that he asked them what
happened and Petitioner said he must have bumped the pipe. Mr. Swanson testified that
Petitioner and Mr. Reyes asked Mr. Swanson if he was ok, which he confirmed he was. Mr.
Swanson then requested to be left alone so he c:ould cool off Petitioner and Mr. Reyes then went
back upsta1rs to Work

Mr Swanson then testified that he phoned Respondent s owner to report the occurrence
and file an Accident Report, having had three prior shoulder surgeries. Mr. Swanson denies that
at any point that day Petitioner informed him of an injury. Mr. Swanson also denies observing
an accident or blood on Petitioner’s shirt. Mr. Swanson did not recall a ladder falling that day
and denies going upstairs to speak with Petitioner. Mr. Swanson testified that, at around 10:00
a.m. on October 9, 2017, Respondent’s owner arrived at the duplex. The owner had a
conversation w1th Petltloner and w1th1n 30 mmutes Petitioner gathered his tools and left the JOb
site.

Mr. Swanson testified to having previous discussions with Petitioner regarding
Petitioner’s work quality, which were documented. He testified that company policy is to notify
a supervisor of any injury on the job. Mr. Swanson testified that he and Petitioner periodically
joked about how nice it was to have apprentices do underground digging, as both of them had a
history of shoulder and back issues.

On cross-examination, Mr. Swanson acknowledged that he did not discuss the
occurrences of the day in question with anyone other than Respondent’s Counsel. Mr. Swanson
also acknowledged that the driving distance from the jobsite to the city of Elgin, IL is about 15-
20 minutes.

ii.  Jason Reyes

Respondent called Jason Reyes (Mr. Reyes) as a witness. Mr. Reyes has been a Plumber
for two-and-a-half years and is currently employed by Respondent. He is a former co-worker of
Petitioner’s. He testified that company policy is to notify a supervisor of any injury on the job.

Mr. Reyes testified that on the date in question he was working on the second floor of a
duplex when he heard a pipe fall and the foreman scream. He testified that only he and
Petitioner were on the second floor at the time. The pipe fell from Petitioner’s work area. Mr.
Reyes and Petitioner went down to check on the foreman, who said the pipe fell on his shoulder,
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but that he was ok. Mr. Reyes and Petitioner went back to working. Mr. Reyes testified he was
working 10 to 20 feet away from Petitioner. The workday then proceeded as normal.

Mr. Reyes testified that he did not see Petitioner injure himself, nor did he notice any
blood on Petitioner. Petitioner did not inform him of any injury. At one point, Respondent’s
owner did show up, and Mr. Reyes became aware that Petitioner had been terminated. Mr.
Reyes testified that six weeks later he, another co-worker named Anthony, and the foreman were
asked by the owner to write a statement about the events on October 9, 2017. Mr. Reyes demed
having any discusswns amongst the group regardmg what to wrzte :

On cross-examination, Mr. Reyes acknow]edged that he has previously installed faulty
plumbing, but neither the owner nor the foreman ever approached him about the mistakes.

in.  Jesus Hernandez

Respondent called Jesus Hernandez (Mr. Hernandez) as a witness. He testified that he
had been Respondent’s owner for eight years at the time of arbitration. Mr. Hernandez usually
works out of his office as opposed to being at the job sites. He corroborated the testimony of Mr.
Swanson and Mr. Reyes regardmg on- the—job m}ury notification procedure.

Mr. Hernandez testified that, at approximately 8:30 a.m. on October 9, 2017, Mr.
Swanson called him and reported that a piece of pipe had fallen on his shoulder. Mr. Hernandez
then went to the job site to check on Mr. Swanson. Mr. Hernandez testified he then went
upstairs and saw Mr. Reyes, Petitioner, and Petitioner’s upright ladder. Mr. Hemandez then told
Petitioner to pack up his belongings because he was being termmated Mr. Hemandez testified
that Petitioner md]cated he saw this coming. :

Mr. Hernandez denied having any conversation about Petitioner being too old for this
work, or telling Petitioner that he could not talk to his foreman that way. Mr. Hernandez testified
that this occurred just after 10:00 a.m. Petitioner then went into the garage to grab his tools and
lifted them into the cab of his truck, then went back to climb a ladder, and grabbed some other
belongings. He shook Mr. Reyes” hand and left. Mr. Hernandez testified that at no point did
Petitioner indicate a work injury to him, nor did Mr. Hernandez observe any indices that
Petitioner was injured. Two days later, Respondent’s Human Resources (“HR”) Director, Erin
Mains, informed Mr. Hernandez that Respondent had been notified by Petitioner’s wife that
Petitioner had been injured in the field. On October 12, 2017, three days after the alleged
accident, the HR Director drafted a Form 45.

Mr. Hernandez testified that he had previously had discussions with Petitioner regarding
his performance, as Petitioner was not installing some piping in compliance with Illinois state
code. He testified that he previously terminated Petitioner’s employment, but Petitioner
requested a second chance as he was going through a family situation, so Mr. Hernandez obliged.

Mr. Hernandez denied discussing the contents of the written statements with his
employees prior to arbitration.
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Petitioner called Sharon Donato (Mrs. Donato) as a witness. She testified that she is
Petitioner’s wife and she met him at the Sherman Hospital ER after he left work on October 9,
2017. Mrs. Donato testified that Petitioner had several scrapes on his left arm and was bleeding.
She later took pictures of his arm on her cell phone when they returned home. These
photographs were admitted into evidence as Petitioner’s Exhibit 11.

E. Additional Information

In rebuttal to the testimony offered by Mr. Swanson and Mr. Reyes, Petitioner testified
that he was unaware of any pipe falling from the second floor to the first floor on October 9,
2017. He does not know if Mr. Swanson was struck by any pipe and denies running downstairs
after any pipe fell. Petitioner did not notify anyone of his accident and does not know the
company policy of glvmg notice, although he did 51gn the company handbook acknowledgment
form.

Petitioner acknowledged an incident one month before the accident where he and fellow
coworkers were written up by the foreman for starting work late. However, Petitioner had no
recollection of installing faulty plumbing on several instances during his time with Respondent.
He denied having a conversation with Mr. Hernandez regarding these issues, as he only spoke
with Mr. Hernandez three times in the six months he worked for Respondent Petitioner
acknowledged however, that it was possible he missed a vent connection in an attlc on Jul 24
2017, aswell as a few basement leaks durmg that time penod

Petitioner was hired by US South Plumbmg begmmng July 16, 2018. However, he only
worked there one week before being hired by Behm Plumbing, which is where he was employed
at the time of the arbitration hearing. Currently, his left shoulder is worse than it was before the
instant accident. He has pain, numbness, cracking, “crickles,” and states that his shoulder falls
asleep. Petitioner testified that his shoulder cracks every time he lifts his arm and he has pain all
the time while working although it is not excruciating. He can perform overhead work, but not
overhead drilling. His drill weighs 25 pounds and he cannot lift it overhead anymore.

Petitioner tends to a large yard at home, cleans his gutters, works on storm doors and
restores old cars as a hobby. He has not treated for his left shoulder since being released by Dr.
Ketterling. He is not on medication. '

11. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
A. Accident

The Arbitrator found that Petitioner failed to prove that he was injured in an accident
arising out of and in the course of his employment with Respondent. In brief conclusions, after
noting that Petitioner was argumentative and not believable, the Arbitrator discussed the
discrepancies in testimony between Petitioner, Mr. Reyes, and Respondent’s owner, Mr.
Hernandez. Though not explicitly, the Arbitrator ultimately found Mr. Hernandez’s testimony
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persuasive that, shortly after being terminated, Petitioner left the jobsite without showing any

physical injury to Mr. Hernandez. The Arbitrator determined that all other issues were moot.

In reviewing the record, the Commission is not similarly persuaded. In so finding, the
Commission notes that the arbitration decision is devoid of reference to uncontroverted,
objective medical evidence of an acute injury to the shoulder evident shortly after Petztioner S
alleged injury corroboratlng his testlmony :

The witnesses are in agreement that Petitioner was terminated by Mr. Hernandez. Mr.
Hernandez testified that this occurred shortly after 10:00 a.m. on October 9, 2017, at which time
Petitioner loaded his truck with his belongings and left the jobsite. Respondent’s foreman, Mr.
Swanson, acknowledged that the jobsite is located 15-20 minutes away from the city of Elgin,
which is the locale of the Sherman Hospital emergency room that Petitioner visited. The earliest
time noted in the emergency room record is time-stamped at approximately 10:23 am. The
record 1nd1cates a mechanism of injury consistent with Petitioner’s testimony. Notably, when
Petitioner presented to the emergency room, both a physician and a nurse documented
Petitioner’s left arm abrasions and bleeding. Petitioner was also provided with a tetanus shot.
Moreover, the emergency room doctor suspected a rotator cuff injury, diagnosed a left shoulder
injury, and referred Petltloner to an orthopedlst

The foregomg evidence of acute trauma to the left arm \ consistent with Petltioner s
described mechanism of injury, which involved his arm hangmg on the attic joists and getting
stuck, was noted by emergency rootn personnel less than an hour after Petitioner left the jobsite
and within hours of his alleged fall from a ladder at work. The Commission declines to string
together the version of events of Mr. Swanson, Mr. Reyes, and Mr. Hemandez to conclude that
Petitioner is not credible in 11ght of this objectwe evidence. :

In addition fo contemporaneous medical records, the sole medical opinion in the record
regarding causation was provided by Petitioner’s treating physician, Dr. Ketterling, and it
supports Petitioner’s claim as well. Dr. Ketterling found evidence intraoperatively of acute
trauma to the left arm in addition to the relatively chronic ﬁndmg at the front of the
supraspinatus and the re-tear of his previous repair,

It is within the Commission’s province to assess the credibility of witnesses, draw
reasonable inferences from the evidence, determine what weight to give testimony and resolve
conflicts in the evidence, particularly medical opinion evidence. Berry v. Industrial Comm'n, 99
111.2d 401, 406-07 (1984). The Commission cannot disregard the objective evidence of acute
trauma to Petitioner’s left arm as documented by emergency room personnel shortly after the
alleged accident in sole preference for a credibility assessment among witnesses discussing a
soured employment relationship and what they did not see. To do so, the Commission would
have to believe that Petitioner left the jobsite in good health—albeit angry about losing his
employment—and that he then suffered a left arm injury causing abrasions and bleeding during a
15-20 minute drive to the emergency room. With contemporaneous medical evidence
corroborating Petitioner’s recitation of the facts, the record supports the conclusion that
Petitioner’s injuries occurred during a work-related accident as claimed.

In consideration of the record as a whole, the Commission finds that Petitioner offered
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credible testimony of his mechanism of injury, which was corroborated by contemporaneous,

objective medical evidence as well as the sole medical opinion offered by Dr. Ketterling.

Although Respondent presented unified testimony to the contrary, it cannot be reconciled with

the foregoing objective evidence. Thus, the Commission finds that Petitioner has established

that he sustained an accident arising out of and occurring in the course of his employment with

Respondent. The Commission reverses the Arbitrator’s decision and finds that Petitioner has

proven by a preponderance of evidence that he sustained an accident under the meaning of the
Act on October 9, 2017. :

B. Causal Connection

In order to obtain compensation under the Act, a claimant must prove that some act or
phase of his employment was a causative factor in his ensuing injuries. Land & Lakes Co. v. '
Industrial Comm’n, 359 111. App. 3d 582, 592 (2005). Recovery will depend on the employee’s
ability to show that the employee’s current condition of ill-being can be said to have been
causally connected to the work-related injury and not simply the result of a normal degenerative
process of a preexisting condition. Sisbro, Inc. v. Industrial Comm n, 207 11, 2d 193, 204-05
(2003). “Accidental injury need not be the sole causative factor, nor even the primary causative
factor, as long as it was a causative factor in the resulting condition of ill-being.” (Emphasis in
original.) Id. at 205. | : . ' L R

Our supreme court has held that “medical evidence is not an essential ingredient to
support the conclusion of the [Commission] that an industrial accident has caused the disability,”
but rather, “[a] chain of events which demonstrates a previous condition of good health, an
accident, and subsequent injury resulting in a disability” may be sufficient to prove a causal
nexus between the accident and the employee’s injury. International Harvester v. Industrial
Comm ’n, 93 111 2d 59, 63-64 (1982). Tt is well established that proof of prior good health and
change immediately following after an injury may establish that an impaired condition was due
to the injury. Navistar International T ransportation Corp., 315 111 App. 3d 1197, 1206 (2000).
A causal connection between work duties and a condition may be established by a chain of
events, including a claimant’s ability to perform duties prior to the accident and inability to do
the same following the accident. Id.

In this case, the Commission concludes that the evidence supports a finding that
Petitioner has met his burden of proving causal connection to his current condition by a
preponderance of evidence. On the date in question, Petitioner suffered a left shoulder rotator
cuff injury. Petitioner acknowledged a prior left rotator cuff repair, but testified that it eventually
healed and he felt as if he had returned to 100 percent approximately nine years prior to the
instant accident date. The record is devoid of any pre-accident left shoulder treatment within
more than a decade, and it is only after the accident that Petitioner’s left shoulder became
symptomatic. Moreover, Petitioner had worked for Respondent as a Plumber for six months
without seeking treatment for left shoulder pain. After the accident Petitioner exhibited
immediate left shoulder pain which deteriorated to a state of disability.

Although causal connection has been sufficiently proven under the ‘chain of events’
analysis above, the Commission notes that its” causal connection ruling is also corroborated by
medical opinion. After diagnosing Petitioner, Dr. Ketterling performed left shoulder surgery on
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January 24, 2018. Subsequently, he opined that the posterior part of the surgically repaired
rotator cuff tear extending through the infraspinatus appeared to be acute and was related to the
instant accident. Causal relationship can be based on a medical expert’s opinion that the injury
“could have” or “might have” been caused by an accident. Mason & Dixon Lines, Inc. v.
Industrial Comm’n, 99 111.2d 174, 182, 457 N.E.2d 1222, 1226, 75 Tl1. Dec. 663 (1983).

In total, the Commission finds that the chain of events regarding Petitioner’s left shoulder
injury are well documented. Petitioner had no prior left shoulder treatment before suffering a
work accident, which was followed by consistent left shoulder complaints and treatment which
lead to surgical intervention. Based on the above, the Commission finds that Petitioner has
established a causal connectlon between his accident and current left shoulder condition.

C. Medical Expenses

Under the provisions of §8(a) of the Act, an employer is required to pay for all necessary
medical, surgical, and hospital services that are reasonably required to cure or relieve the effects
of an accidental injury sustained by an employee and arising out of and in the course of her
empioyment 820 ILCS 305/8(a) (West 2006). An employer’s liability under this section of the
Act is continuous so long as the medical services are required to relieve the injured employee
from the effects of the injury. Second Judicial District Elmhurst Memorial Hospital v. Industrial
Comm ’'n, 323 1ll. App. 3d 758, 764 (2001) (mtmg Efengee Electrical Supply Co. v. Industrzal
Comm’ s 36 Ill Zd 450, 453 (1967)).

The Comrmsszon has found that Petitioner has established causal connection between his
left shoulder condition and accident at work as noted above. The record reflects that Petitioner’s
claimed medical expenses outlined in Petitioner’s Exhibit 1 through Petitioner’s Exhibit 10 were
reasonable and necessary to alleviate him from the effects of his accident at work

Thus, the Commission finds no basis to deny the cIaimed outstanding left shoulder
medical expenses. Accordingly, the Commission concludes that the weight of the evidence
supports finding these charges were reasonable and necessary, and awards Petitioner’s claimed
medical expenses, pursuant to §8(a) and 8.2 of the Act. :

D. Temporary Total Disability

The dispositive test for awarding temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits is “whether
the claimant's condition has stabilized, that is, whether the claimant has reached maximum
medical improvement.” Mechanical Devices v. Industrial Comm’'n, 344 111. App. 3d 752, 759
(2003). Here, Petitioner was placed off work for his left shoulder condition by Dr. McGuire on
October 12, 2017 and remained off work or on light duty with no left arm usage as ordered by
either Dr. McGuire or Dr. Ketterling. Petitioner requested a release back to work on May 25,
2018 for financial reasons. Accordingly, the Commission awards TTD benefits of $926.67 per
week for a period of 32 and 2/7ths week, from October 12, 2017 through May 25, 2018.

E. Permanent Partial Disability

As it pertains to permanent disability (“PPD”), the record reflects that Petitioner suffered
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a work-related accident on October 9, 2017. Accordingly, a determination of permanent
disability under §8.1b of the Act must follow. Section 8.1b of the Illinois Workers'
Compensation Act (“Act”) addresses the factors that must be considered in determining the
extent of permanent partial disability for accidents occumng on or after September 1, 201 1. 820
1LCS 305/8.1b. Spe(nﬁcally, §8.1b states:

For accidental i mjunes that occur on or aﬂer September 1, 201 1, permanent partial disability
shall be established using the followmg criteria.

(a) A physwian licensed to practlce medicine in all of its branches preparing a
permanent partial disability impairment report shall report the level of impairment
in writing. The report shall include an evaluation of medically defined and
professionally appropnate measurements of impairment that include, but are not
limited to: loss of range of motion; loss of strength; measured atrophy of tissue
mass consistent with the injury; and any other measurements that establish the
nature and extent of the impairment. The most current edition of the American
Medical Association's "Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment" shall
be used by the __physwmn in determining the level of impairment.

(b) In detennining the level of permanent partial disability, the Commission shall
base its determination on the following factors:

(i) the reported level of impairment pursuant to subsectwn (a);

(if) the occupation of the injured employee;

(iii)the age of the employee at the time of the i mJury,

(iv)the employee's future earning capacity; and

(v) evidence of disability corroborated by the treating medical records. No
single enumerated factor shall be the sole determinant of disability. In
determining the level of disability, the relevance and weight of any factors
used in addition to the level of impairment as reported by the physician
must be explained in a written order. /d.

Considering these factors in light of the evidence submitted at the hearing, the
Commission addresses the factors dehneated in the Act for determining permanent partial
disability as indicated below:

With regard to'subsection (i) of §8.1b(b), the Commission notes that Respondent
submitted an AMA impairment report by Dr. Cole, who noted that Petitioner’s shoulder pain
hinders his sleep and Petitioner rated his pain 2/10. Petitioner takes ibuprofen and stated that his
impairment was “mild” with “slight pain during activity.” His limitations are “mild” and he is
still employed as a Plumber. Using the 6" Edition Guidelines for impairment, Dr. Cole found
that Petitioner’s principal diagnosis was a full thickness rotator cuff tear, which is a Class 1
category in Table 15.5 on page 403. Petitioner’s QuickDASH score of 22.7 and ability to control
and function with his symptoms equated to a grade 1 modifier for functional history adjustment.
Dr. Cole’s exam revealed minimal left sided findings, but that he would not categorize
Petitioner’s left shoulder as “normal,” equating to a grade 1 modifier for physical exam
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adjustment. Finally, referring to the clinical studies adjustment, Dr. Cole stated that Pet1t10ner s
injury qualifies as a “very severe problem” and a Grade 4 modifier based on radiographic

studies. The resultant net adjustment formula on page 411 equaled “3”, which defaults to a grade
of E, which corresponds to a 7% impairment in Table 15.5, which Table 15-11 converts to a
whole person 1mpa1rment of 4%. Moderate weight 1s glven to thls factor

With regard to subsectmn (i) of §8.1b(b), Petltioner was and stﬂE is employed as a
Plumber, now employed by Behm Plumbing. He underwent surgery but was eventually released
to full duty. His duties likely still include frequent heavy lifting. However, although he can still
perform overhead work, he cannot perform overhead drilling, as his drill weighs 25 pounds and
he cannot lift it overhead. Petitioner has constant pain while working, although it 1s not
excruciating. Greater welght is glven to this factor

W1th re_gard to subsectlon (111) of §8.1b(b), Petitiéner was 61 years old at the time of
accident. He still works as a Plumber, but injuries at his age will have greater impact on his
ability to perform than they would if he were younger. Some weight is given to this factor.

With regard to subsection (iv) of §8.1b(b), there was no evidence that the injury had any
effect on Petitioner’s future earning capacity. No weight is given to this factor.

With regard to subsection (v) of §8.1b(b), Petitioner testified that his left shoulder is
worse than it was prior to the instant accident. He has pain, numbness, cracking, and “crickles”
and stated that his shoulder falls asleep. His shoulder cracks every time he lifts his arm. He has
constant pain while working, although it is not excruciating. He does not take medication for his
condition and has not treated since being released by Dr. Ketterling. Greater wexght is given to
this factor.

Based on the above analysis, the Commission finds that the injuries sustained caused
Petitioner a 15% loss of use of his person as a whole. '

IT IS THEREFORE FOUND BY THE COMMISSION that Petitioner has met his burden
of proof by a preponderance of evidence that he suffered an accident arising out of and in the
course of his employment with Respondent on the date in question.

IT IS FURTHER FOUND BY THE COMMISSION that Petitioner has met his burden of
proof by a preponderance of evidence that a causal connection exists between his accident and
his current condition of ill-being.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Petitioner is entitled to all
reasonable and necessary medical expenses related to his left shoulder condition to be paid
pursuant to the fee schedule and §8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $926.67 per week for the period of 32 and 2/7ths weeks, from October 12, 2017
through May 25, 2018, that being the period of temporary total incapacity for work under §8(b)
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Petitioner is entitled to
permanent partial disability benefits of $790.64 (maximum PPD rate) per week for 75 weeks, as
Petitioner sustained a 15% loss of use of his person as a whole '

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petmoner
interest under §19(n) of the Act if any

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, fo or on ‘oehalf of Petltloner on account of said acc:ldental xnjury

Bond for removal of thls cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby ﬁxed at
$75,000.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall ﬁle
with the Commission a Notice of Intent to F}le for Rev1ew in Circuit Court

paTED:  FEB 12004

o: 12/3720 Barbara N. Flores
BNF/wde
45 /ﬁ,«ﬁu
: | _ _ Marc Parker
DISSENT

I respectfully dissent from the Decision of the majority and would have affirmed and
adopted the well-reasoned Decision of the Arbitrator. The evidence supports a finding that
Petitioner lacked credibility, because the testimony of Jason Reyes, Robb Swanson, and Jesus
Hernandez all directly conflict with Petitioner’s verszon of the aileged accident.

Mr. Reyes testified that he was working 10 to 20 feet from Petitioner at the time of the
alleged accident; however, he never saw Petitioner fall, nor did he notice any blood on Petitioner.
Despite working in close proximity, Mr. Reyes was not aware of any alleged injury involving
Petitioner. Instead, Mr. Reyes testified that an entirely different accident had occurred when
Respondent’s foreman, Robb Swanson, was struck by a falling pipe while working on the first
floor at the jobsite. Mr. Reyes testified that after he heard Mr. Swanson scream, he ran
downstairs with Petitioner to see what had happened. Mr. Reyes testified that they were then
informed by Mr. Swanson that he had been struck in the shoulder by the pipe. Mr. Reyes
testified that after checking on Mr. Swanson, he and Petitioner returned upstairs and proceeded
to work as normal.

At the hearing, Petitioner denied having knowledge of any pipe falling on Mr. Swanson.
However, in corroboration with Mr. Reyes’ testimony, Mr. Swanson also testified that the only
accident that had occurred at the jobsite was when a pipe fell from Petitioner’s work area and
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struck his shoulder. Mr. Swanson further testified that after he yelled out, Petitioner came
downstairs with Mr. Reyes to inquire as to what had happened Mr. Swanson testified that
Petitioner then indicated that he must have bumped the pipe and caused it to fall. Similar to Mr.
Reyes, Mr. Swanson also did not observe any accident involving Petitioner, nor see any blood on
Petitioner’s shirt. Despite working with Petitioner at the JObSlte nelther Mr. Swanson nor Mr.
Reyes were aware of any alleged mJury to Petitioner. :

Mr. Hernandez, Respondent $ owner, also testified that he had received a report of the
pipe falling on Mr. Swanson, which prompted him to go to the jobsite to terminate Petitioner.
Mr. Hernandez testified that he had previously attempted to terminate Petitioner due to job
performance issues. Therefore, Petitioner was aware that his employment was already in
jeopardy on the alleged accident date.  When Mr. Hernandez arrived on the scene, he saw no
evidence of any injury to Petitioner and Petitioner did not indicate that he had sustained a work
injury. According to Mr. Herhandez, Petitioner also did not exhibit any notlceable physwal
problems as he packed up and leﬁ the }obsﬂe following his termination.

Desp;te bemg present on the Job51te on the alleged accident date, Mr. Reyes, Mr.
Swanson, and Mr. Hernandez had no knowledge of Petitioner’s alleged accident. Instead, their
testimony concludes that an entirely different injury occurred to Mr. Swanson as opposed to
Petitioner. Given that the testimony of these three witnesses substantially conflicts with
Petitioner’s version of the alleged accident, I would have found that Petitioner lacked credibility
and therefore failed to prove that he sustamed an aec;dent an31ng out of and in the course of his
employment on October 9, 2017 : :

DLS/met " W O‘MW

46 Deborah L. Simpson
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) & Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. | [ ] Affirm with changes [_] Rate Adjusiment Fund (§8(2))
COUNTY OF KANE ) D Reverse - D Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
'- { ] PTD/Fatal denied
D Modlfy : % None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

WILF RED D. GEBO,

.'Petit_ioner,
vé. .. o ' 3 NO: 18 WC06706
e 211KCC0047
Respondent. : ' o D

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Tlmeiy Petltzon for Review under §19(b) having been ﬁled by thc Petitioner herem

and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after cons;dermg the issues of causal connection,
temporary total disability, medical expenses, and prospective medical, and being advised of the
facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made
a part hereof. The Commission further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further proceedlngs
for a determination of a further amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for
permanent disability, if any, pursuant to 7. homas v. Industrial Comm’n, 78 111, 2d 327,399 N.E. 2d
1322, 35111, Dec 794 (1980) ' :

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed }une 6, 2019 is hereby afﬁrmed and adopted. '

ITIS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that thls case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedmgs consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the tlme of completion of any Judlmal
proceedings, 1f such a wrltten request has been ﬁled
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ITIS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any -

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credlt-
for all amounts pazd 1f any, to or on behalf of Petltloner on account. of sald accndental m_} ury. -

Bonci for the removal of thls cause to the C1rcu1t Court by Respondent is hereby ﬁxed at

the sum of $11,900.00. The party commencing the proceedlngs for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Cornrnlssron a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Crrcult Court '

D_ATEI:)_:.. FeB 2" 202 K" K %%&W

o-12/820 o . Kathryn A. Doerries

KAD/jsf o
1“#%“‘ ‘"G Zlit&‘_ .

Maria E. Portela

DISSENT

I respeetfully dissent. I believe Petmoner proved by the preponderance of the credthe
evidence that his ATFL tear and big toe condition were causally related to the 11/22/17 accident.
More to the point, 1 believe the Arbltrator erred in relying on the opinions of Respondent s §12
examrmng physwlan Dr. Holmes over those of treatlng orthopedtc surgeon Dr Khan.

- Dr. Khan persuaswely opined that Petltioner s current condltrons of ill-being w1th respect
to his left foot, left ankle and left big toe were caused and/or aggravated by the mechanism of
1n_1ury described by Mr. Gebo, and that there was evidence of a traumatic injury consistent with an
inversion injury given areas of bone marrow edema. Indeed, the ev1dence shows that Petitioner
suffered more than a minor ankle sprain, as opined by Dr."Holmes. The MRI of the left ankle
performed ‘on 12/6/17 revealed a ganglion cyst, a subacute/chromc tear of the anterior inferior
tibiofibular ligament with complete disruption of the anterior talofibular hgament compatible with
a chronic tear and degenerative changes in the mid and hind foot. While this study suggests a
chronic component to Petitioner’s condition, even Dr. Holmes agreed that the studies showed a
complete tear of the ligament and that it was possible to have such a tear and be asymptomatic.
Along these lines, Petitioner credibly testified that he had not suffered any injuries or accidents to
his left ankle, left foot or left big toe or sought any treatment for same prior to the date of accident
-- other than experiencing some numbness in his feet in 2008, which the Arbitrator rightly
characterized as insignificant. Furthermore, Petitioner has continued to experience consistent
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complamts of pain and has not sustained any new mjurles to hlS left ankle, left foot or left big toe
since the 1nc1dent on 11/22/ 17 : . .

As a result I beheve the Arbltrator erred by finding that Petmoner sustalned nothlng more
than a sprain of his left ankle superlmposed on several pre-existing conditions (hallux rigidus of
the 1% MTP joint and a pre-existing tear of the ATFL), and would find that Petitioner proved by a
preponderance of the credible evidence that the claimed conditions of ill- belng were at the very
least aggravated by the undlsputed acc1dent in question 1likewise believe the Arbitrator erred in
finding that Petitioner had reached maximum medical 1mpr0vement as of Dr. Holmes’ examination
and would find that Petitioner was entlﬁed to ongoing ! 'medical expenses, temporary total disability
benef ts and prospectlve medlcal care and treatment as recornmended by Dr Kahn, mcludlng

surgery.

‘ Thomas 3 Tyrreii
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) [_] tnjured Workers Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. [ Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(¢))
COUNTY OF KANE ) ] Second injury Fund (58(@)18)
A Einaausss S o .gNoncof_theabove '

' ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b)
Wilfred D. Gebo Case # 18 WC 6706
Employee/Petitioner _ .
v Consolidated cases: N/A

Stair One, inc.
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Nofice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Stephen J. Friedman, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the
city of Geneva, on April 16, 2019. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby
makes findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches-tho_se findings to this document.
DISPUTED ISSUES |

A. D Was Réspondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

B. D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

C. D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D. D What was the date of the accident?

E. [:l Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

F. Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

G. What were Petitioner's earnings?

H. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

L D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

1.

Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
K. Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?
L. What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[]TPD [_] Maintenance BATTD
M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

N. D Is Respondent due any credit?
o [ Towhe

ICArbLpcfothy 2 10 10 i Raneodph Sireet 2822000 Chicago, 1L 60601 312 8146671 Toilfree 866°332.3033 eb sife: www i 5 s
fownstade offices: Collinsydie 678 346-3450 Peariq 2000 6713079 Rockford SIS O87.7202 Spruwefield 217 785.7084
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On the date of accident, November 22, 2017 Respondent was operatmg under and subject to the provisions
of the Act. ; : .

On this date an employee-employer relattonsth dui exist between Petmoner and Respondent

On tl:ns date, Petmoner did sustam an acmdent that arose out of and in the course of employment

Tnnely nottce of thxs accldent was given to Respondent _' : _ '

Petitioner's current condltlon of lll~be1ng is m part oausally related to the aceldent

In the yea: precedzng the m_]ury, Petltloner earned $80 165 38 the average weekly wage was $1 927.05
On the date of acc;dent Petmoner was 48 years of age smgle w1th 0 dependent c}nld:en L o

'Respondent lms pald aH reasonable and necessary charges for ali reasonable and necessary medlcal semces

Respondent shall be gtven a credit of $26 01 2 03 for TTD, $0 0o for TPD $0 00 for mamtenance and $0 00
for other beneﬁts, for a total credzt of: $26 01 2 03 : _

Respondent is entitled to a credlt of $0 00 under Secnon 8(}) of the Act

OR_DER

: Respondent shall pay Petltloner temporary total dlsabﬂity beneﬁts of $1 284 70/week for 24 5]7 weeks,
-commencing November 24, 2017-through. February 3, 2018, and commencmg February 8, 2018 through
-May 19, 2018, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act. Respondent shall be gtven a credit of $26 01 2. 03 for
.temporary total disabthty beneﬁts that have been pald e

Petmoner s clanns for unpaid medteal bxlls and for prospectlve medlcal care are demed

Inno mstance shall ﬂns award be a bar to subsequent heanng and determmatlon of an addxtional amount of
medical beneﬁts or compensatlon fora temporary or permanent disabzhty, if any. '

RULES REGARD[NG APPEALS Unless a party ﬁles a Petmon for Rewew wnhm 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordanee with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the

demsmn of the Comnmssmn S

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Comrmssxon reviews thlS award interest at the rate set forth on the Notzce
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee s appeal results in ‘either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shaH not accrue.

L o el Nl ’lwﬁ
,,,,,ﬁ..,;--f’*"""*f N T —— - June 5, 2019
Signatwre of Arbitrator-——"" Dhate

HCABDecIf

]Uﬁ 5 - ng | | . FPagezof!d
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Statement of Facts

Petitioner Wilfred Gebo testified that he was employed by Respondent Stair One, Inc. on November 22,2017
as an ornamental ironworker, working as a foreman. He had been employed by Respondent for more than 10
years. He was a member of Local 63 Ironworker’s Union. He had been a member of the union for 18 years.
Petitioner testified his jOb duties ;ncluded lifting and instaliing stalrs and railings. He. would lift and carry stairs,
materials and metal weighing up to 150 pounds. His job required cllmblng ladders, walkmg all day including on
dirt pifes and uneven surfaces, bending and squatting, pushing and pulfing dry wall and carts of steel weighing
up to 200 pounds, and operating welders and hand tools. Petitioner identified the job description for Local 63
Ironworkers (PX 8) which stated that the job duties included welk:ng up and down stairs and on uneven
surfaces, climbing ladders and scaffoid;ng kneeling, squatting, leaning, reachlng bendmg twnstlng, climbing
over objects, jumping into and out of trucks, carrying heavy and awkward ob;ects using hand tools, and lifting
over 100 pounds (PX 8). Petitioner testified that he performed all of the actwltzes set forth in the job description
pnor to November 22, 2017 wﬂhout probiem

Petitioner testnf‘ ed that he worked 40 hours per week 7:00 am to 3 3{} pm daily. This was governed by the
union contract. He was paid pursuant to the union pay scale which was $48.25 per hour from June 2016 to
June 2017 and $49.25 per hour from June 2017 through November 2017. From November 21, 2016 through
November 17, 2017, Petitioner testified that there were four weeks that he did not perform any work due to
weather and materials not being ready. He testified that there were weeks from November 21, 2016 through
November 17, 2017 where he did not work 40 hours due to weather and materials. Petitioner testified that he
did not miss work due to personal reasons or vacation. Petitioner worked inside and outside. If he was working
inside, he was subject to the weather. He worked on unfinished buildings that did not have roofs. The wage
statement for Petitioner was admitted into evidence (PX 9, RX 10). The wage records documented Petitioner's
hours and earnings for 53 weeks from November 14, 2016 through November 17, 2017. Petitloner agreed that
the wage statement reflected his hours and earnmgs for Respondent

Petitioner testified that prior to November 22, 2017, he had not received medical treatment for his left ankle,
left foot and left big toe. He had not sustained any accidents or injuries involving his left ankle, left foot or left
big toe. Prior to November 22, 2017, he did not notice anything about his left foot, ankie and big toe. Petitioner
testified that in August 2008, he experienced numbness in his feet which resolved in November 2008. Since
November 2008 he has not expenenced any numbness in his feet

The medical records of Dr. Bhavasar, Petrtioners primary care physacaan were admltted into evidence (RX 3).
On August 18, 2008, Petitioner complained of dizziness and tingling in his feet. He was noted to have carotid
artery plaque and provided medication and recommendations for change of diet and exercise, On November
18, 2008, the paresthesia of Petitioner’s feet had resolved (RX 3,p77- -83). Petitioner testified that a plcture
posted online on June 24, 2015 was his daughter’s ankle (RX 12} Peﬂt:oner testified that she mjured her
ankle while playing basketball. He knew the picture was his daughter’'s ankle because the picture had shaved
legs and nail polish. The comment stated, “Dad you got my nasty looking toes & prickly legs all out for the
world to see Imao” (RX 12). "

Petitioner testified that on November 22, 2017, he was performing his job duties for Respondent, installing

stairs on the third flocr on 5 courd thouse or Jc;i it DeKalb, There was no power, 301 Petitioner h 0ung an exiansion

cord over the railing to the second floor. He testified that as he was coming down the stairs. he reached for the
cord and missed a step. He felt and twisted his left ankie. He heard a noise in his ankle and fell onto his left

Page 3 of 14



" Wilfred D. Gebo v. Stau‘One,Inc :;:-5 2 2 1 E %g C C 0 0 4 7 - 13 W067(}6
side. He hit hrs ieft thumb. Petltroner testtﬂed that he notlced paln in hls ieft ankie foot and brg toe. Petrtroner
contmued fo work ' : : - : _ _ _

Petrtloner reported the accrdent to hrs boss, Brran Starver He gave a recorded statement on November 30 _
2017 (RX 11). Petrtroner testified that he did not have: any prior. problems with his feet or ankles. Petmoner said
he was coming down from the third floor to the second floor, mrsjudged a step and fell forward twisting his feft
ankle. He was not carryrng anything at the time. The rails'‘were up. There was temporary irghtmg He reported
that he injured his feft ankle (RX11). Petitioner testified that by left ankle he' meant that he hurt his whole
ankle foot and toe. He' belleved that the ankte mcluded the whole foot and that it was: the same. Petrtloner :
advrsed the adjuster that he underwent x-rays of hlS left foot at Worksng Weli He also stated that the nurse at
Workmg Weil was concemed about the hgament on the top of hIS foot and wanted an MR! (RX 1 1)

Petttloner was ;nrtlally exammed on November 24 2017 at Workmg Wetl wrth the Francrscan Hammond Clinic.
(PX 1:RX5). Petitioner’s chief comp!a;nt was left ankle parn He had pain. ‘with ambuiatlon Physrca! exam :
noted edema and tenderness on the ankle with paipatron X—rays of the left ankle were negative Petltloner
was dragnosed with a moderate ankle spraan He was given naprexen an air cast and crutches (PX 1 p 2-5).
On November 30 2017 F’etltroner Iocated hrs parn over the lateral malleotus and- dorsa! foot over the cuboid
bone. He 'was. not able fo perform single heel raises and watked wrth an: extreme limp. X-rays of the left foot
and ankle notéd no fractures or dislocations. There was' severe degeneratlve jornt disease at the first
metatarsophalangeal jolnt The dlagnosrs remamed teft ankle sprarn (PX 1 p 11 15) Petrtroner was released
torestrzotedwork(PX1 p19) : SCars ; : SRR

-On December 4 201? rt was recommenoed that Petltroner undergo an MR! study of the Ieft ankte (PX 1 p
21). Thei rmpressron of the MRI. stuoy performed Deoember 65,2017 at Bone & Joint Specralrsts wasa ganghon
cyst adjacent to the ﬂexor halluces longus'1 muscle subaoutelchronrc tear of the antenorf nferior: tlblof buiar :
ligament and a compiete drsruptron of the anterior talofibular hgament compatlble wrth a ohronrc tear, '
degeneratwe changes w:thm the m:d~foot and h:nd foot as detarled above (PX 2). On December 11, 2017
Petitioner still reported 5/10 pain. He was off work. Physrcal examinatlon noted no edema’ or ecchymosrs
There was tenderness to- patpation over the anterior talofibular ligament ‘Muscle strength was 5!5 Drawer srgn
was: negatwe Petrtloner was referred to an orthopedlc surgeon (PX 1, p 22—24) R

Petatroner saw Dr {)edh;a at Orthopedrc Specralrsts of Northwest lndrana on December 14 2017 Hls A
examination noted mgmﬁcant enlargement and tendemness around the great toe MTP jomt and pain with range
of motron He had swelling and tendemess over the ATFL and CFL. X-rays of the foot showed advanced
degeneratlve changes at the MTP joint. ‘X-rays of the ankle were unremarkable. The MRI of the left ankie
showed the tear of the ATFL.and a gangllon cyst adjacent to the FHL. Dr. Dedhia“ recommended a CAM boot
a Medro! Dosepak and physncal therapy (PX 3,p 1-2) Petrt:oner was re!eased to seated work only (PX 3 P 7).

Petationer began physroai therapy at A’ihletrco on Deoember 20 201 7. The theraptst noted that Petltroner
stated Dr. Dedhia said he did not need surgery on his feft ankle and his left great toe was arthritic. Mis function
was limited due to ankle and great toe pain (PX 6, p 1). On December 28, 2017, Petitioner reported '
improvement. Dr. Dedhia noted no evidence of gross instability on the left side compared to the right. Swelling
in the great toe also appeared improved. He recommended transition out of the CAM boot (DX . P9 On
January 18. 2018, Petitioner reported pain within the ankle. Examination noted no evidence of bruising or
swelling. There was no evidence of gross ;rstab;!uy (PX 3, p 11). Petitioner was drsoharged from therapy on
January 30 201 8. Petrttcner reported to his physrcat therap[st that he performs hrs home exerc*se pian every
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other day and goes to the gym every other day (PX 6, p 11). On February 1, 2018, Dr. Dedhia noted no
swelling or bruising, Petitioner had mild tenderness over the ATFL. There was negative talar tilt and Drawer
sign. He still had restricted range of motion and crepitation in the great toe. Dr. Dedhia released Petitioner to
work without restrictions and stated he was at maximum medical !mprovement (PX3; p14) Petatroner was
scheduled for. foilow up with Dr. Dedhla ind weeks (PX 3, p 15) _

Petmoner testrf ed he retumed to work for Respondent on February 3 2018 as a foreman performmg the same
duties as before. He noticed that he was favoring his left foot and ankle. His great toe hurt. He returned to Dr.
Dedhia on February 13, 2018. Petitioner reported that he noticed increased pain and swelling throughout his
ankle whrch extended alt the way to his big toe, Exammatron showed obwous swelimg within the ankle with
swelling extending into the midfoot as well as the great toe. Dr Dedhia recommended conservative care and
work restrictions (PX 3, p 16-17). On February 27, 2018, Petitioner repoﬂed srgnlﬁcant mprovement Dr.
Dedhia noted Petitioner is not complaining of instability episodes. Examination noted swelling and bruising are
significantly better, Petrt;oner still reports tenderness and paln Dr Dedhra referred Petitioner toa podratnst

Dr. Arshad Khan (PX 3, p 18) : o :

Petmoner saw. Dr Khan on March 6, 2018 (PX 4, RX 2) Petitloner compiarned of pain in the ankle and left
great toe ;omt of the left foot. Physical examination noted a posrtrve Tinel's sign, non-prthng edema with full
foot range of motion and strength. Dr. Khan noted the head of the fibula bone is displaced antenorly and
laterally when compared with the contralateral side: There is decreased dorsiflexion and decreased ankle
range of motion. He read Tib-Fib x-rays to show the left fi bula displacement. On we;gh beanng, the feft fi bular
head is subluxed. He diagnosed Petitioner with a ruptured lateral ankle ligament; ankle instability; pain in the
limb; subluxation of the fibula bone; acquired equinus deformity: edema; neuropraxia of the common peroneal
nerve; and hallux limitus/rigidus. Dr. Khan recommended surgery, including a modified Bostrom lateral ankle
stabilization with ankle arthroscopy and arthrodesis of the first metatarsal phalangeal joint with resection of the
ganghon cyst and repair of the flexor halluces longus tendon. He restricted Petdroner to seated work only (PX
4, p 2-7). : - : :

On _March 27, 2018, Petitioner reported to Dr. Khan that he had been to the emergency room because of
severe pain and swelling (PX 4, p 9). On June 27, 2018, Dr. Khan documented that Petitioner continued to
have swelling on the outside of the left ankle with instability, burning down the front of his left foot and down

his big toe on the left side. His impression was chronic ankle mstabiEltylsubluxation!drslooatlon of the fibula,
compression of the common peroneal nerve with neuritis/neuropraxia and weakness of the antenor muscle
group Dr Khan recommended surgery (PX 4, p 12-13) :

Respondent offered surve:iiance video of Petttroner taken between March 6, 2018 and March 18, 2019 as RX
7 A-B. This video was viewed by Dr. Holmes. On March 6, 2019, 50 seconds of video depicts Petitioner
waiktng in sneakers (RX 7A). Dr. Holmes noted a “little bit of an antalgic gait” (RX 1, Dep. Ex.3). On March 7,
2018, Petitioner is depicted initially wearing slip-on shoes. He moved a chair to the alley. He moved some
cushions the alley. He moves a sofa with help of another person and a cart. The Arbitrator notes that on at
least one occasion Petitioner went up an incline. On March 9, 2018, Petitioner drove his truck to a dog wash,
gave his dog a bath, went to a post office, and to Jewel, He is wearing sneakers. Dr. Holmes notes that he
walks with an essentially non- antaigrc gait but may be related to some decreased flexion of his toe (RX 7A).
On March 18, 2018, Petitioner was walking at a park and playing with a dog. He bri efly jogs with the dog. Dr.
Holmes notes he is walking with an essentially normal gait. Later he walked a different dog. On March 18,
2018, he was depicted standing at his front door in.a one-minute video (RX 7B). Petitioner testified that on
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March 7, 2018, the sofa he lifted werghed about. 100 pounds Petrtroner had assrstance l:ftrng -the sofa and
used a cart. He testlt' ed that as an lronworker he had to hﬂ ob;ects that were heavrer than the sofa

Respondent oﬁered survelliance vrdeo of Petitloner taken between Apni 2, 2018 and Apni 20, 2018 as RX 7C-
D. The video deprcts Petrtroner waikrng and performrng routlne tasks He'is usually weanng sandals, ﬂrp ﬂops
or sneakers. On April 4, 2018, Petitioner loads his SUV by carrying a tote, water botties plastrc drawers
surtcases a Iaundry basket 30- galton bag, and a smali storage box _ _

'Petrtloner attended a Section 12 examrnatron at Respondent’s request w1th Dr George Holmes on Aprﬂ 19,
2018. Dr. Holmes dlagnosed an ankle sprain with pre-existing degeneratwe conditions’ of hallux ngldus of the
1t MTP. ;omt and a pre-existing tear of the ATFL. He opined: that Petrtroner did not need . surgery, was at MMI
and could return’ to work at the: medlum leveI (RX 1, Dep. Ex. 2). ‘After viewing the March 201 8 surve;liance
vrdeo he opmed that Petrtroner could retum to work wrthout restnctron (RX 1 Dep Ex 3) N

Dr Khan prepared a narratrve report on July 7 2018 summanzrng Petstroners subjectwe complarnts hls o
objective findings and diagnosis as stated in his June 27,2018 ofﬁce notes He optned that the surgery he was
recommending was reasonabte and necessary ‘He oprned that the work accident mrght or could have caused
or aggravated the Petitioner's condition of ill-being in the left ankle and foot. Petltroner couid work wrth
restnctlons He drsagreed with Dr. Holmes dragnosrs ofa sprarn based upon the MRI f ndmgs of a complete
Ilgament tear and bone rnarrow edema (PX S) TR o

_Dr Khan testtf ed by evrdence deposrtron taken November 18, 2018 and February 18, 2019 (PX 7 I PX 7~ It)
Dr. Khan testified that he is an osteopath. He is' board certified in Podiatric Medicine as well as’ Foot and Ankle
Surgery He testrf ed to his examination of Pet:troner in accordance with his medical notes. He' noted parn on
paipatron over the ATFL He: testrt" ed. that the head of the fi bula was dlsplaced antenorly and laterally This wes
a chmcal fi ndmg and:on x—ray On review of the MRI he stated that the ganglron cyst shows there was some
trauma. He testified to the surgeries he proposed a modrt' ed Brostrom-Gould prooedure ankle arthrosccpy '
and arthrodesrs of the 1¢t meétatarsal phalangeal joint. Dr. Khan recommended seated work only Dr. Khan
testified to his dragnoses and surgzcal recommendatrons based upon his clinical f ndmgs and the MR! fi ndlngs
He stated that many: physrc:ans miss: the fi ndrng that the fi bula is subluxed proxrmaily and: pulhng on the nerve.
He opfned that the mechanism’ of accident. could most definitely create the type of traumatrc symptoms as well
asthe ob;ectwe fi ndmgs “The condrtron of the great toe was aggravated by the i ;n}ury Dr Khan drsagreed wrth
Dr. Holmes' -opinions. ‘He stated the great toe condrtton coutd have been eéxacerbated by the mechanism of
injury. He drsagreed with the' d;agnosrs of an ankle sprain because. there was a complete rupture of the
ligament, marrow edema found on MRI, and Dr. Holmes did’ not ident:fy anythmg with the proxrmal fibula nor
the peroneal nerve. Dr. Khan testified that the report. of the initial video showrng an antalgic gait indicates
guardmg or it could be due to rnstabrtrty The surverllance does not change his opinions (PX7-1). Dr. Khan
testified that he ordered. compression stockzngs and a CAM boot on March 27, 2018. The CAM boot was to off
load until Petrttoner had his second opinion (PX 7- li) o e o :

Dr. Hoimes testified by evidence deposrtron taken March 18 2019 (RX 1) He testrfred that he is an assocrate
professor of orthopedic surgery of the foot and ankle. He is board certified in Orthopedic Surgery. He testified
that an inversion injury can injure or rupture the ATLF. It is the weakest of the three ligaments. It can be
determined by MRI. There have to be other ligaments torn to cause instability. Subluxation of the fibula is not a
term or diagnosis utilized by orthopedic surgeons. Sr Holmes testified to the 1135‘;0{} prowde to him and the
treating medical records reviewed. He noted the rmtiat x-ray fi ndmg of no drstocatfon A dlslocatron would have
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indicated the presence of a significant disruption of the ankle from a tear or a rupture. He testified that the MRI
noted a ganglion cyst. These are fairly benign. This is not in the area of symptoms. Dr. Holmes opined that
based on the natural history of ganglion cysts and that the MRI was obtained shortly after the injury and with

-the lack of being in the patient's area or injury, that the ganglion cyst was an incidental fi inding, not aggravated,
nor was it caused by the injury. Petitioner did not reqmre surgery for excision of the gangi:on cyst as a result of
the work i m;ury (RX 1). : : :

There isa chrontc tear of the anterior inferior talofibular ligament. This is not an acute injury. There are
degenerative changes in the midfoot and hindfoot consistent with arthritic changes. The presence of scar
formation would indicate that the changes happened before November 22, 2017. Dr. Holmes testified that he
reviewed the report and the actual MRI scan. He agreed with the radlologtst s finding that the ligament had
been dlsrupted He testified the MR! did not demonstrate marrow edema. It did demonstrate arthritic change in
the calcaneus, but no acute marrow edema. Dr. Holmes testified that the radiologist’s finding that the anterior
talofibular ligament was subacute/chronic meant it is not acute. Subacute and chromc were the same finding
bemg used znterchangeably He opined that the tear pre-dated the mjury (RX ‘I)

Dr Holmes testlf ed to hls exam[natlon He marked the areas of pam These were noted on RX 1, Dep Ex. 5
and 6. There was no evidence of calf atrophy from the left to the right which is indicative of utilization of both
muscles equally. There was a minor amount of swelling. There was some initia! guarding on range of motion,
but with relaxation, eversion and inversion were symmetrical. Dr. Holmes performed the anterior Drawer test to
determine ligamentous instability. He did not find any instability. Dr. Holmes testified that one can have
feelings of instability without having objective findings of instability. We operate on objective findings. There is
no objective structural instability on examination. Petitioner did not show any evidence of ligamentous
instability (RX 1).

Dr. Holmes opmed the criteria for a Brostrom procedure wouid be a patient fallmg conservative measures such
as physical therapy demonstrating persistent instability in comparison to the contra!ateral or normal side. Dr.
Holmes testified, with respect to the disruption of the ankle ligament, that there are many ankle ligaments, and
having an ATFL dlsruptlon is not and in of itself a reason for surgery unless other various ligaments fed to
mstab;hty Dr. Holmes performed mstabrhty Drawer tests. Guarding or pain was not present. The examination
in comparison of the right and left lower extremities did not demonstrate any. ms’cab:hty The radzographlc
features of the MRI demonstrated isolated. anterior talofibular ligament injury and no other ligaments that were
injured that woutd have affected stability of the ankle. Isolated: anterior talofibular ligament i injury is quite
common and generaliy does not lead to instability. He testified that subjechve complamts would need to
correlate to the fi indings. Clinical findings have to correlate with the MRI fi indings. There would be pain over the
ATFL ligament, swelling in the ankle consistent with the recurrent instability of the ankle, and effusion of the
ankie on the MRI. He took photographs of the foot and marked Petitioner's pain. The areas of pain did not
corretate to the findings of the MRI of the ligament disruption. Dr. Holmes testified Petitioner’s weight plays a
role in his condition and co-morbidities can cause swelling in the ankles. The mere presence of a swollen
ankle is not an indication, in and of itself, for surgery (RX 1)

Dr Hoimes dld not d;agnose an acute condlt;on of the proxzmai ffbuEa He did not diagnose an acute condition
of the peronea! nerve. He stated that subluxation of the fibula is a term utifized only by Dr. Khanwho is a
podiatrist. That is not a term or diagnosis that is common to orthopedic surgeons. Dr. Dedhia, on February 13,
2018, read X-rays that the talus was weli-centered within the mortise. Dr. Holmes, referred to his drawing
(Dep. Ex. 4) that confirmed the bones were well-situated on top of each other (RX 1),
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From the X-rays, Dr. Holmes opmed there was objective evrdence of hallux ng:dus deformrty He opined that
hallux rigidus deformity was not related to the incident of November 22, 2017. it was a pre-existing, undedylng
arthritic changes in the dorsal aspect of his joint not related to the i injury, and of long-standing -duration. it was
not mstrtuted accelerated or aggravated by the November 22 2017 :ncudent (RX 2)

Dr. Holmes further testrf ed wrth respect to Dr. Khan s multrple recommended surgenes He opmed that the
recommended surgrcal interventions’ are not appropriate and are unreasenable unnecessary, ‘and unrelated
Dr. Holmes opmed Petrtroner did not require ankle stablhzatron surgery, llgamem frepair surgery, or more
specrf caliy a Brostrom procedure Only the rare patzent requires a I;gament reconstructlon because this is. not
the most ;mportant Ilgament in the ankle. Based on Petitioner's lack of mstabitlty lack of any asymmetry
comparing the nght and feft lower extrem:tres the MRi scan whlch demonstrated no acute collateral damage
to the ankle asa resutt of the spraln as well as: hrs comorbrdltles ‘and as well as two recent studies have
shown that some 35 to 40 percent of normal patients: with no preex;stlng hlstory of trauma have pathology
mcludrng antenor talofi bular llgament tear Dr: ‘Holmes opmed that Petitioner had a stable ankle and did not
have any issue with regard to the fi ndrngs of the MR related. to the injury. It was his oplmon that Petitioner =
sustained a spra:n of the ankle. The incident did not aggravate his ankle condltron He oprned that if: Petrt:oner
did undergo surgery, zt would not be related to November 22 2017 (RX 1) S o e

Dr Holmes oprned that based on hrs exam Petztioner could work at a medrum duty Ievel Based on the revrew
of addltronat data; po:nts zncludrng surverllance ‘he would be able to return to work in an uarestncted manner as
an iron worker. Dr. Holmes was aware that Dr. Khan recommended Petztloner wear. compressron ‘socks or the
CAM walker boot ‘He did not see hlm weanng compression socks or a CAM waiker boot in the vrdeo He -
noted: Petitioner was able to carry fumiture both by himself and with- another person. Dr. Holmes testified that
an antaigrc gaitis a llmp fone cannot bend their toes secondary to arthritis, in this case secondary hallux
rigidus, that will also affect your galt because you-don’t have the ﬂexrbllfty of the toe: He testified that was the
reason forcing: alteratron in his gait. Dr. Holmes opined Petltioner had reached maxrmum med:cal ;mprovement

as of the date of the examlnatlon (RX 1)

Petatloner testrﬁed that he returned to. work for Respondent asa foreman on May 28, 2018 Petltroner testlf‘ ed
that when he retumed to wark, he did not put pressure on his: left foot. He has not sustained any new - -
accrdents or. injuries mvolvrng hiS left ankle, left foot or left. blg toe: Petitioner testrf ed that he’ experiences pain
in his left ankie and big toe. He tries to stay off his feet and ices his left ankle and foot. Petitloner testified that
he walks with a limp. He does not always walk with a limp. He lrmps more when he is in pain or performs more
actrvmes Petitioner testified that some days are better than other days. Petitioner testifi ed that he used to -
parlacrpate in‘a men’s league for basketball. He has not played in the league since November 22, 2017,
Petitioner testifi ed that he had not undergone the surgery recornmended by Dr. Khan. He testrt“ ed tnat he
would like to undergo the surgery : S :
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Conclus:ons of Law

In support of the Arbitrator s declsmn thh respect to (F) Causal Connectmn the Arb:trator
finds as follows: '

A Workers’ Compensation Claimant bears the burden of showing by a preponderance of credible evidence
that his current condition of ill-being is causally related to the workplace injury. Horath v. Industrial - -
Commission, 449.N.E.2d 1345,1348 (lll. 1983) citing Rosenbaum v. Industrial Com. (1982), 93 Hi.2d 381, 386,
67 Hi.Dec. 83, 444 N.E.2d 122). The accident need not be the sole or principal cause, as long as it was a
causative factor in a claimant's condition of ill-being. Lopez v. lll. Workers’ Comp. Comm n, 2014 1. App (3d)
130355WC-U, P25 (ll. App. Ct 3d Dist. 2014)

The Commtssuon may find a causal relaticnshlp based ona medzca% expert's opinion that the injury "could
have" or "might have" been caused by an accident. Mason & Dixon Lines, Inc. v. Industrial Comm'n, 99 Il. 2d
174, 182, 457 N.E.2d 1222; 1226, 75 lll. Dec. 663 (1983). However, expert medical evidence is not essential
to support the Commission's conclusion that a causal relationship exists between a clalmant's work duties and
his condition of ill-being. Infernational Harvester v. Industrial Comm'n; 93 Hi: 2d 59, 63, 442 N.E.2d 908, 911,
66 lIl. Dec. 347 (1982). A chain of events suggesting a causal connection may suffice to prove causation.
Consolidation Coal Co. v. Industrial Comm'n, 265 Ili. App. 3d 830, 839, 639 N.E.2d 886, 892, 203 1. Dec. 327
(1994). It is well established that prior good health followed by a change lmmedtately foliowmg an accident
allows an inference that a subsequent condition of ill-being is the result of the accident. Nawstar international
Transportation Co. v. Industrial Comm’n, 315 . App. 3d 1197, 1205 (2000).

There is no dispute that Petitioner suffered an injury to his left foot and ankle in the accident on November 22,
2017. The dispute centers on the nature of that injury, the diagnosis and course of treatment to be
undertaken. Petitioner testified that he did not have any prior problems with his feet or ankles. While the
medical records note some numbness in his feet in 2008, the Arbitrator does not find that significant.

Following the accident, Petitioner was examined on November 24, 2017 at Working Well. Petitioner's chief
complaint was left ankie pain. Physical exam noted edema and tenderness on the ankle with palpation. X-rays
of the feft ankle were negative. Petitioner was diagnosed with a moderate ankle sprain. On November 30,
2017, Petitioner located his pain over the [ateral malleolus and dorsal foot over the cuboid bone. X-rays of the
 left foot and ankle noted no fractures or dislocations. There was severe degenerative joint disease at the first
metatarsophalangeal joint. The diagnosis remained left ankle sprain. The i impression of the MRI study
performed December 6; 2017 was a ganglion cyst adjacent to the flexor halluces longus muscle,
subacute/chronic tear of the anteriorfinferior tibiofibular ligament and a complete d:srupt:on of the anterior
talofibular ligament compatible with a chronic tear, degenerative changes within the mid-foot and hind foot as
detailed above. On December 11, 2017, examination noted no edema or ecchymosis. There was tenderness
to palpation over the anterior talofibular ligament. Muscle strength was 5/5. Drawer sign was negative.

On December 14, 2017, Dr. Dedhia noted significant enlargement and tenderness around the great toe MTP
joint and pain with range of motion and swelling and tenderness over the ATFL and CFL. X-rays of the foot
showed advanced degenerative changes at the MTP joint. X-rays of the ankle were unremarkable. The MR of
the left ankle showed the tear of the ATFL and a ganglion cyst adiacent to the FHL. Dr. Dedhia recommended
a CAM boot, & Medroi Dosepak and physical therapy. The Athietico therapist noted that Petitioner stated Dr.
Dedhia said he did not need surgery on his left ankle and his left great toe was arthritic. On January 18, 2018,
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examination noted no evrdence of brursmg or swellzng There was no evrdence of grcss 1nstabrirty On :
February 1, 2018, Dr. Dedhia noted no swelling or bruising. There was negatrve talar titt and Drawer sign. He
still had restricted range of motron and creprtatzon in the great toe. E)r Dedhia released Petrtroner to work
without restnctrons and stated he was at maximum medical improvement. He retumed to Dr. Dedhiaon®
February 13,:2018 with increased pain and swelhng throughout his ankle which extended all the: way to his big
toe:. E.xamrnatrcn showed obvious swelling within the ankie with sweilmg extending into the midfoot as well as
the great toe. Dr. Dedhra recommended conservative care and ‘work restrictions. On. February 27,2018,
Petrtioner reported signrﬁcant imprcvement Dr. Dedhra noted Petitioner is not cemplarn;ng of instability
eprsodes Examrnatrcn noted swelllng and brulsmg are stgnrf cantly better Dr Dedhra referred Petrtroner to Dr.

Khan

On March 6, 2018 Dr. Khan s examrnatron noted a pcsrtwe Tmel S S|gn ncn~prttmg edema wrth full foot range
of motion and strength Dr. Khan noted the head of the fibula bone is d}splaced antenorly ancl laterally when
compared with the contralaterai side. There is decreased dorsrflexron and decreased ankle range of motion.
He read Trb—Frb x-rays to show the left fi buia displacement. On wergh bearing, the leﬁ fi bular headi is ‘subluxed.
He dragnosed Petitioner with a ruptured Iateral ankie lrgament ankle mstabrlrty pain-in the' irmb subluxatlcn of
the fibula bone; acqu;red equinus deformrty edema; neuropraxra of the common peroneal nerve: ‘and hallux
llmrteslngrdus Dr Khan recommended surgery, includrng a modified Bostrom lateral ankle stabrlrzatron wrth
ankle arthroscopy and arthrcdesrs of the first metatarsal phalangeal Jo:nt with- resection’ of. the gangiron cyst
and repair of the flexor halluces lcngus tenden On June 27,2018, Dr. Khan documented continued sweihng
on the outside of the leﬁ ankie with rnstabrlrty burmng down the front of his left foot and down his big toe on
the left side. His i rmpressron was chronic ankle mstabrlitylsubluxatlonidrslccatlon of the fi bula, compressrcn of
the common peroneat nerve: wrth neuntrs!neuropraxaa and weakness of. the anter:or muscle group Dr Khan
recommended surgery e o LR : .

Dr. Holmes dragnosed an ankle sprarn wrth pre~exrstmg degeheratwe condrtrons of hatlux ngrdus of the 15*
MTP jomt anda pre-existing tear of the ATFL. He oprned that Petitioner did not need surgery, ‘was at MMI and
cotild return to work without restriction. Dr. Holmes testified that an inversion injury can ;n;ure or rupture the -
ATLF ltis the weakest of the three ligaments. There have to be other: Irgaments torn to cause mstabrlrty He
noted the initial x-ray fi ndrng of no dislocation. A dislocation would have indicated the presence ofa szgnrt’ cant
disruption of the arakle from a tear or a rupture Dr. Hcimes oplned that based on the natural hrstory of
ganglion cysts and that the MR was obtained shortly after the i injury and with the iack of berng in the patrent ]
areaor :njury, that. the ganglron cyst was an incidental fi nd;ng, not aggravated nor-was it caused by the injury.
Petrtroner did not require surgery for excision of the gangllon cyst as a result of the work injury. There isa
chromc tear of the anterior inferior talofibular lrgament This is not ‘an acute injury. The presence of scar. -
formatrcn woutd mdrcate that the changes happened before November 22, 2017. Dr. Holmes performed the
anterior Drawer test to determrne ligamentous rnstabrlrty Petitioner did not show any e\ndence of ligamentous
rnstabrhty He testified the MRI did not demonstrate marrow edema. it did demonstrate arthntrc change in the
calcaneus, but no acute marrow edema. He opined that the tear pre-dated the injury. He opined that hallux
rigidus defermzty was not related to the incident of November 22, 2017. It was a pre-exastrng, underlying
arthritic changes in the dorsa! aspect of his joint not related to the injury, and of long- standing duratron it was
not instituted, accelerated or aggravated by the November 22, 2017 incident. . - -

Dr. Holmes did uot dzagnese an acute condition of the proxemai frbula. He did not diagnese an acute condition
of the peroneal nerve. He stated that subluxation of the fibula is not a term or diagnosis that is common to
orthopedic surgeons He noted the mitrai x-ray finding of no dislocation. Dr. Dedhia, on February 13, 2018,
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read X-rays that the taius was well-centered within the mortise. Dr. Holmes that confirmed the bones were
well-situated on top of each other.

Dr. Holmes opined that the recommended surgical interventions are not appropriate and are unreasonabile,
unnecessary, and unrelated. Dr. Holmes opined Petitioner did not require ankle stabilization surgery, figament
repair surgery, or more specifically a Brostrom procedure. Based on Petitioner's lack of instability, lack of any
asymmetry comparing the right and left lower extremities, the MRI ‘'scan which demonstrated no acute
collateral damage to.the ankle as a result of the sprain, as welf as his comorbidities, Dr. Holmes opined that
Petitioner had a stable ankle and did not have any issue with regard to the findings of the MR related to the
injury. The incident did not aggravate his ankle condition. He opined that if Petitioner did undergo surgery, it
would not be related to November 22, 2017.

Dr. Khan test:f ed that many physmfans miss the finding that the fi bula is subluxed proxrmally and pulling
on the nerve. He opined that the mechanism of accident could most definitely create the type of
traumatic symptoms as well as the objective findings: The condition of the great toe was aggravated by
the injury. Dr. Khan disagreed with Dr. Holmes’ opinions. He stated the great toe condition could have
been exacerbated by the mechanism of injury. He disagreed with the diagnosis of an ankle sprain
because there was a complete rupture of the ligament, marrow edema found on MRYI, and Dr. Holmes
did not identify anything with the proximal fibula nor the peroneat. nerve. Dr. Khan testified that the
report of the initial video showmg an antaigtc gait indicates guardlng orit could be due fo mstablllty

It is the Commlss:on s prov:nce to assess the credibility of witnesses, draw reasonable znferences from
the evidence, determine what weight to give testimony, and resolve conflicts in the evidence, particularly
medical opinion evidence. Berry v. Industrial Comm'n, 99 Ili. 2d 401, 406-07, 459 N.E.2d 963, 76 Ill.
Dec. 828 (1984); Hosteny v. lllinois Workers' Compensation Comm’n, 397 Ili. App. 3d 665, 675, 928
N.E.2d 474, 340 lil. Dec. 475 (2008); Fickas v. Industrial Comm'n, 308 Ill. App. 3d 1037, 1041, 721
N.E.2d 1165, 242 iI. Dec. 634 (1999). Expert testimony shall be weighed like other evidence with its
weight determmed by the character, capacity, skill and opportunities for observation, as well as the state
of mind of the expert and the nature of the case and its facts. Madison Mining Company v. Industrial
Commission, 309 il. 91, 138 N.E. 211 (1923). The proponent of expert testimony must lay a foundatlon
sufficient to establish the reliability of the bases for the expert's opinion. Gross v. Illinois Workers'
Compensation Comm’n, 2011 IL App (4th) 100615WC, 960 N.E.2d 587, 355 Ilf. Dec. 705. If the basis of
an expert's opinion is grounded in guess or surmise, it is too speculative to be refiable. Expert opiniors
must be supported by facts and are only as valid as the facts underlying them. In re Joseph S:, 339 IiL.
App. 3d 599, 607, 791 N.E.2d 80, 87, 274 lll. Dec. 284 (2003). A finder of fact is not bound by an expert
op:mon on an ultimate issue, but may look 'behind' the opinion to examine the underlylng fac:ts

The Arbitrator has revaewed the medlcal evidence submitted and video surveillance, and heard Petitioner's
test:mony, and finds the opinions of Dr. Holmes more persuasive than those of Dr. Khan. The Arbitrator has
considered the credentials and qualifications of the experts. The Arbitrator finds the underlying basis of Dr.
Holmes analysis better reasoned and supported by the greater weight of the objective evidence and medical
records. The Arbitrator notes that Petitioner made no initial complaints in his great toe: His initial histories raise
complaints only in the ankle. In his recorded statement, he only refers to his ankle. His testimony that he
meant the entire foot and toe is unpersuasive. Both Working Welf and Dr. Dedhia diagnosed an ankle sprain.
Petitioner told his therapist that Dr. Dedhia did not find him a surgical candidate. No x-rays were performed
initially anywhere other than the ankle. Even after the subsequent x-rays and MRI noted the degenerative
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condltron of the first metatarsal ‘the dmgnosns rema;ned ankle spra;n The Arbrtrator also notes that all of the
physncal examinations by Worklng Well and Dr. Dedhla record a negative Drawer test and no’ gross: xnstabillty
and note Petrtloner did:not- compla;n of mstabllsty in his ankle. The radlologrst reports of X-rayss taken do not
note any subluxation of the distal fibula and spec;ﬂcaily note no d;slocatlons The Arbltrator fi nds Dr. Khan's

explanat:on that thls fi ndrng |s often mlssed unpersuasrve =

The Arbltrator also fi nds that the Petitloner failed to establlsh causatlon based upon a cham of events The
credible and persuaswe evidence does not establrsh an ongomg condmon of lli-belng dlsablm,g the: Pet:tloner
Petitioner was initially dlagnosed with. an ankle’ spram Dr. Dedhia released ‘him to full duty and at maximum
medical improvement in February 2018. Thereafter, he cornplarned of addltlon complamts and was treated by
Dr.Khan. The Arbitrator notes that Dr. Khan instructed Petltloner to usea CAM walker and compressxon hose
but the video clearly demonstrates that he was not dolng so'and was able to walk’ with fittle, if any, =~
_abnormallty The Arbitrator: notes that: Dr ‘Khan restr;cted Petitioner to seated work only While’ the v;deo may
not demonstrate Petitioner performmg physical actlwty at the ievel of his regular ij he clearly is far. more
capable that Dr. Khan believed and was' performmg actlvmes wetl beyond the recommended ievel includmg
mowng heavy fum:ture walking and occasronally joggmg on uneven ground and inclines.. The Arbttrator notes
that Dr. Khan did not wew the surveillance video hlmse!f but rather appears 1o have' revnewed Dr Holmes
written summary His’ speculatron concemzng the bnef antalglc gart described in also’ unpersuaswe Dr Hoimes
oplmon is more: reasonable and is based. ‘upon actual viewing of the video itseif. The Arbitrator also notes that
despite Dr: Khan s continued restrictions, Petitloner feturned to his’ regular ;ob with Respondent on May 28
2018 and had been performlng those dutles for atmost a year as ef the t:me of the heanng -

Based upon the record asa whole the Arbstrator f nds that Petltsoner has proved by a preponderance of the
evrdence that asa result of the: accsdental injury sustained on’ November 22,2017, he sustained i injury to his
left ankle and foot. Said i injury was a sprain of the ankle supenmposed on pre-exrstlng degeneratwe condztaons
oons:stlng of hallux ng:dus of the 1t MTP joint and a preex;stlng tear of the ATFL. Sald condltron of lll belng
reached maximum medlcai :mprovement as of Dr. Holmes examlnatlon e .

In support of the Arbltrator’s decrsron w:th respect to (G) Average Weekty Wage, the Arbltrator
fi nds as follows ' S : _ _

Sectlon 10 of the Act provrdes that compensatlon shall be computed on the bas:s of the ‘Average weekly
wage' which shall mean the actuai eamings of the employee inthe employment in which’ he was worklng at the
time of the i injury during the penod of 52 weeks ending with the last day of the employee s last full pay period
ammed:ately preceding the date of i rnjury, iliness, or disablement excludlng overtime, and bonus divided by 52;
butif the. :njured empioyee lost 5 or more caiendar days during such period, whether or not in the same week,
then the earnings for the remainder of such.52 weeks shall be divided by the number of weeks and parts
thereof remalnlng after the time so Iost has been deducted : : : :

The p_artles submttted Petltioner s wage st_atement fof the 53-week period from November 14, 2016 through
November 17, 2017 (RX 10). The 53-week total is calculated at $82 095.38. Excluding the week of November
14-18, 2016 ($1,930.00) and the overtime earnings, Petitioner earned $80,165.38 during the 52 weeks
preceding the accident (as opposed to the calculation by the parties of $80,120. 88) The wage statement
confirms that Petitioner did not always work a 40-hour workweek. -
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The lllinois Supreme Court interpreted Section 10 in Sylvester v. Industrial Commission, 197 il.2d 255, 756
N.E.2d 822 (2001). In Sylvester, the claimant testified that he was available to work forty hours per week,
year-round. A full week was eight hours a day, five days per week. The court applied the seConc_f_ method of
calculating average weekly wage, which provides that if the injured employee lost 5 or more caiendar days
during such period, whether or not in the same week, then the eamnings for the remainder of such 52 weeks
shall be divided by the number of weeks and parts thereof remaining after the time so lost has been deducted.
The court noted that to determine average weekly wage, it was necessary to factor out alf days lost through no
fault of the claimant. The court calculated the average weekly wage by counting the number of days the
Petitioner worked and dividing that number by the number of days in the workweek

The facts of the instant case are 31mtlar to the facts of Sylvester Petmoner testrf ed that a full work week was
eight hours per day, five days per week, govemed by the union contract He: testlf ed that there were some
weeks that he did not work 40 hours and some weeks that he did riot work at all due to weather and materiais
not being ready. He testified that he did not miss work due to personal reasons or vacation. Based on the
testimony and documentation admitted at frial, the Arbitrator finds that the appropnate caicufatnon of
Petntloner s average weekly wage is the method as appiued in Sylvester : .

However, unilke in Sylvester no evudence was submltted as to the number of days worked per. week The
Arbitrator finds the Commission decision in Blust v. Prairie Matenal Sales, 01 1IC 0461, 96 WC 36818 provides
the most reasonable method for performing the calculatior in this matter in light of Petitioner's testimony that
his regular work day was 8 hours. In that case, the Commission calculated the work days as one for every 8
hours, and any additional hours above resulting in an additional fraction of a day was also calculated as a day.
Using this calculation, Petitioner missed 4 full weeks and 32 additional days. He therefore worked 48 weeks —
6.4 (32/5) weeks for a total of 41.6 weeks. His average weekly wage would be $80,165.38/41.6 or $1,927.05
per week.

Based upon the record as a whole, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner has proven by a preponderance of the
evidence that his average weekly wage was $1,927.05 per week.

In support of the Arbltrator s declsmn with respect to {J) Medlcal and (K) Prospectfve Medical,
the Arbitrator finds as foilows

“Under §8(a) of the Act, a clalmant is entitied to recover reasonable medlcal éxpenses that are causally related
to the accident and that are determined to be required to d:agnose relieve, or cure the effects of a claimant's
injury. The claimant has the. burden of proving that the medical services were necessary and the expenses
incurred were reasonable. Cify of Chicago v. lllinois Workers ' Compensation Comm:ss:on 409 IIl. App. 3d
258,267 (1 Dlst 2011). Petitioner has claimed the $157.00 unpaid bili for Dr. Khan's Junie 27, 2018 office
visit and is seeking prospective medical to undergo the surgical procedures outlined by Dr. Khan.

Based upon the Arbitrator’s finding with respect to Causal Connection including the ﬁnding that Dr. Holmes
opinions that the Petitioner’s causally related condition was an ankle sprain, that the surgical procedures
recommended are not reasonable, necessary or causally related to the accident, and that Petitioner had
reached maximum medical improvement as of the date of Dr. Holmes examination, the unpaid bill and the
aaditional treatment sought would not be reasonable, necessary or causally related.
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Based upon the record as a whole and the Arbltrator”s f ndmg wrth respect to Caus%Connectlon the
Arbrtrator ﬁnds that Petmoner has fauted to prove by a preponderanoe of the e\ndence that he is entrtled to
payment. fcr any addltlonal medical: bltls Petrtloner has farled to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that
he is entrtled to any addittonai prospectzve medlcal care causally related to the accldental rnjury sustamed

In support of the Arbltrator’s declsmn wrth respect to (L) Temporary Compensatron, the
Arb:trator f‘nds as follows _ .

'i'empcrary compensatron lS prowded for in Sectron 8(b) of the Workers Compensatlon Act, whrch provrdes
weekiy compensatlon shall he paid as long as the total’ temporary mcapacrty lasts, which has mterpreted to
mean that an employee is temperanly totally ;noapacltated from the time an injury mcapac:tates him for work
until such time as' he is as far recovered or restored as the permanent character of his injury will permlt ltisa
wetl-settled pnncrple that when a claimant seeks TTD benefits, the drsposrtrve mqurry is whether the clalmant's
condltlon has stabllized re whether the clalmant has reached maxzmum medscal 1mprovement o

The partles stlpulated that Respondent pald $26 012 03 in TTD for the penods of commenc;ng chember 24,
2017 through February 3, 2018 and February 8, 2018 through May 19,2018, a period of 24 57 weeks (Arb.
Ex. 1). Based upon the Arbltratofs fi ndlng that the opinions of Dr. Holmes are persuasive, lncluduzg his -
opinion that Petitioner reached maximum medical rmprovement as of the date of his examination, the
Arbitrator fi nd Respcndent is not liable for TTD beneﬁts after May 19, 2018, the date Respondent fast pard
TTD. As of that date, Petltloner was at MMI and could return to work at fu!i duty He has in fact done so as of
Maygggmg' : s _ : _

Respondent pa:cf benef s for thES pereod at $1 {}52 51 per week Pursuant to the Arbrtrator's f' ndmg wnth
respect to Average Weekiy Wage the Petatroner S correct rate woutd be $1 284 70 ' :

Based upon the reccrd asa whole and the Arbltretcrs f ndlngs wrth respect to Causal Connectron and
'Average Weekly Wage the Arbitrator finds that Petrt;oner has proved by a preponderance of the evidence that
he is entitled to 24 5/7 weeks of temporary total compensatron for the periods commencing November 24,
2017 through February 3, 2018 and February 8, 2018 through May 19, 2018 at a rate of $1,284. 70 per week
Respondent is entztled to a cred|t of $26 012.03 for 'lTD pald
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STATE OF ILLINGIS ) & Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d)}
) SS. [ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(z)
COUNTY OF MADISON ) [ Second Injury Fund (§8(c)18)
[ ] pTD/Fatal denied
D None of the above

BEFORE THE ILL_I.NOIS WORKERS” COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Ilinois Workers’ Compensation Commission,
Insurance Compllance DlVlSlon _
Petitioner,

vs. | ~ No. 15INC 00032,
© 20 WC 005523

LEE ANN PIM, Individually and d/b/a
PIMCO RECOVERY and JUSTIN J. PIM,

Individually and d/b/a PIMCO RECOVERY, 2 1 E E;i? C C % 0 4 8

Respondents

' DECISION AND OPINION RE: INSURANCE NON-COMPLIANCE

Petitioner, the Illinois Workers’ Compensatlon Commission, Insurance Compliance
Division, brings this action, by and through the Office of the Ilhnois Attorney General, against the
above-captioned Respondents, alleging violations of Section 4(a) of the Illinois Workers’
Compensation Act for failure to procure mandatory workers’ compensation insurance. Petmoner
alleges that Respondents knowingly and willfully lacked workers® conipensation insurance for
1,066 days. Petitioner set a compliance hearing for September 14, 2020. Petitioner appeared by
phone. The Respondents failed to appear. The compliance hearing was then set for trial and held
in Collinsville before Commissioner Parker on September 21, 2020. Petitioner was represented by
the Office of the Illinois Attorney General. Respondents dld not appear in person or through
counsel. A record was taken.

The Commission sought the maximum fine allowed under the Act, $500.00 per day for
each day Lee Ann and Justin Pim did business individually and as Pimco Recovery and failed to
provide coverage for their employees (1,066 days x $500.00 = $533,000.00), plus $10,777.26 in
unpaid insurance premiums, for a total of $543,777.26.

The Commission, after considering the record in its entirety and being advised of the
applicable law, finds that Respondents Lee Ann Pim, individually and d/b/a as Pimco Recovery
and Justin J. Pim, individually and d/b/a Pimco Recovery, knowingly and willfully violated
Section 4(a) of the Act during the period in question. As a result, Respondents shall be held liable
for non-compliance with the Act and shall pay a penalty in accordance with Section 4(d) of the
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Act. The Commission hereby assesses the maximum penalty of $500.00 per day for 1,066 days,
plus $10,777.26 in unpaid premiums, for a totaI of $543,777.26.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSlONS OF LAW

1. Investigator Cummms testified he began an investigation of Lee Ann Pim and Justin J
Pim, individually and d/b/a Pimco Recovery, as a result of two workers’ compensation
claims filed against the Injured Workers® Benefit Fund by Jeremy Hagene. Jeremy Hagene
v. Lee Ann Pim and Justin sz 14 wC 015492 and 14 WC 015500.

2. Investlgator Cummlns testlﬁed he searched several databases that document an empioyer $
insurance history, including the National Council on Compensation Insurance (“NCCI™)
website. Petitioner’s Exhibit 3 is a certified letter from NCCI verifying that Respondents
did not have a workers’ compensation policy from January 5, 2012 through February 3,
2015. Investigator Cummins concluded that Pimco was operating for an extended period
of time in wolatzon of the Illmozs Workers Compensanon Act. '

3. Commission Rule 9100.90(c)(1) prov1des that Notice of Non—Comphance shall be given
to the employer, along with a certlﬁcate of service, at his last known address or to the
employer s representative - :

4, Comrmssmn Ruie 9100 90(0)(3) provides that when a Notice of Non- Comphance has been
sent, the Commission shall, at the request of the employer or its attorney or on its own
initiative, schedule the matter for an informal conference in an attempt to resolve the
matter. In this instance, no informal conference regardmg Respondent s alleged non-
compliance was requested

5. Investigator Cummins testified that he sent a Notice of Non-compliance to Respondents
Lee Ann Pim and Justin J. Pim, individually and d/b/a Pimco Recovery, by certified mail
on October 12, 2016. PX1. When he received no response from Respondent, a hearing date
was set. '

6. Commission Rule 9100.90(d)(1)(A) states in pertinent part as follows:

A matter under this Section is commenced by the Commission by service of a
Notice of Hearing upon the employer at least 30 days prior to the time fixed for
hearing. If service cannot be made by personal service, service of the Notice shall
be by United States registered or certified mail addressed to the employer at the last
known address or to the employer’s representative.

7. Investigator Cummins testified that he attempted personal service of the July 27, 2020
Notice of Insurance Compliance Hearing on Respondents Lee Ann and Justin Pim at their
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residence on July 28, 2020. The hearing date set in that notice was September 14, 2020.
No one answered the door at the residence, and the Investigator left a copy of the Notice
of Hearing attached to the front door. His affidavit of service and photographs of
Respondents’ resuience were admltted as Petltloner s EXhEbEtS 1-2.

Investtgator Cummins testified that upon failure of his attempted personal service, the
Notice of Hearing dated July 27, 2020 with a hearing date of September 14, 2020 was sent
to Respondents by certnfied and reguiar maﬂ to their last known address :

Petltloner offered as its Exhlblt 11 the certtﬁed mad recelpt showmg that Investigator
Cummins mailed the Notice of Hearing to Respondents. The USPS Tracking sheet

indicates that the item was returned to the Marissa, Illinois Post Office on August 8, 2020

and remained unclaimed at the time of the hearing. Petitioner Exhibit 11, Investigator
Cummins testified that the copy of the Notice sent by regular mail was not retumed to h1s
ofﬁce as undehverable c

The Notlce mailed to Respondents comphes w1th Commlssmn Rule 9100 90(d)(1 )(A) and
contams the admomtlon that Respondents faﬂure to appear at the hearmg '

_ 'Shall constltute a defau]t and shall result ina ﬁndmg that there has been a knowmg
and w111ﬁ11 failure to insure your hablhty to pay compensatlon in accordance with
Section 4(a) of the Workers’ Compensation Act and an assessment of civil penaltaes
under Sectlon 4(d) of the Act,

Investlgator Cummins testified that Petitioner is seeklng non-compliance penaltles of
$500.00 per day for 1,066 days from August 12,2012 through February 3, 2015, the penod
of non—eomphanee

In addmon to the fine for non-compliance, Petitioner secks unpaid insurance premiums.
Investigator Cummins testified that he estimated what Respondents would have paid had
they purchased workers’ compensation insurance as required under the Act. The estimate
is based upon the Respondents most recent workers’ compensation policy with a daily rate
of $10.11. :

Pursuant to Section 3 of the Act, certain empioyers and their employees are automatleally

subject to the promsxons of the Aet if they engage in specific busmesses including

3. Carriage by land, water or aerial service and loading or unloading in connection
therewith, including the distribution of any commodity by horsedrawn or motor vehicle
where the employer employees more than 2 employees in the enterprise or business.

ok

16. Any business or enterprise in which electric, gasoline or other power driven equipment
1s used 1n the operation thereof. : :
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The Commission finds, pursuant to Section 3 of the Act, that the work Respondents
-engaged in automatically subjected them to the prowswns of the Hlinois Workers Compensation
Act and requlred them to carry workers compensatlon insurance. '

Regardlng the issue of penaltles for fallure to mamtam workers compensation 1nsurance
coverage Sectlon 4(d) of the Act states in part :

“Upon a ﬁndmg by the Commission, after reasonable notice and heanng, of the
knowmg and willful failure or refusal of an employer to comply with any of the
provisions of paragraph (a) of this section or the failure or refusal to cornpiy with
any order of the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Comnnsswn pursuant to
paragraph (c) of this Section dxsquaixfylng him or her to operate as a self insurer
and requiring him or her to insure his or her hablhty, the Commission may assess
a civil penalty of up to $500.00 per day for each day of such failure or refusal after
- the effective date of this amendatory Act of 1989. The minimum penalty under this
Section shall be the sum of $10,000.00. Each day of such fallure or refusal shall
constltute a separate offense ” 820 ILCS 3 05/4(d) ' : 3

"-Here the cemﬁcatlon from NCCI shows ihat Respondent was Wlthout workers
compensatlon msurance from J anuary 5, 2012 through February 3, 2015 '

The Cormmsswn ﬁnds that Petmoner has met its ‘ourden of provmg that Respondents were
operating a business in illinois, were properly served with notice, and were legally required to
maintain workers’ compensation insurance but failed to do so for 1,066 days. Respondents’ failure
to appear at the compliance hearing results in a finding that their failure to obtain workers’
compensation insurance was knowing and willful. Accordingly, the Commission finds that
Respondents are liable for a penalty for failure to comply with Section 4(a) of the Act. The
Commission hereby assesses against Respondents a fine of $533,000.00 -for the period
Respondents were without workers’ compensation insurance and $10,777.26 for unpaid
premiums, for a total of $543 777 26 in civil penaitles under Sectlon 4(d) of the Act.

ITIS THEREFORE OR.DERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondents, Lee Ann Pim
and Justin J. Pim, individually and d/b/a Pimco Recovery, shall pay fines to the lllinois Workers’
Compensatlon Comrnlssmn in the amount of $543 777.26, as prov1ded in Section 4(d) of the Act.

Pursuant to Comnnsswn Rule 9100 90 once the Cormnlss;on assesses a penafty agamst an
employer in accordance with Section 4(d) of the Act, payment shall be made according to the
following procedure: 1) payment of the penalty shall be made by certified check or money order
made payable to the Commission; 2) payment shall be mailed or presented within thirty (30) days
of the final order of the Commission or the order of the court of review after final adjudication to
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Workers’ Compensatlon Commlssmn
Insurance Compliance Division

100 West Randolph Street, Suite 8 328
Chicago L 60601 :

3) or as otherwise directed by www.iwce. 1I gov.
Bond for the removai of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondents is hereby ﬁxed at

the sum of $75,000.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

DATED:  FEB 2 - 2021

Marc Parker 7

W%W

DeborahL S1mpson

MP/dak
1-9/21/20

68 . _. Barbar'N. Flores



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes) 1:] Injured Workers * Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. [:] Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF COOK ) D Reverse D Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
D PTD/Fatal denied
‘E Modify up) IE Nene of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Claudio Marchese,

Petitioner,
vs. | " No. 11 WC 0_20'577'
o 21IWCC0049
City of Chicago, LT o ;
Respondent.

DECISION AND OP]NION ON REVIEW

_ Tnnely Petltlon for Rev1ew havmg been filed by Petltloner herein and notlce given to all
parties, the Comrm_ss_wn after considering the issues of the reasonableness of medical expenses,
the duration of temporary disability, and the nature and extent of the permanent disability, and
being advised of the facts and law, modifies the Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and
otherwise affirms and adopts the Demsmn of the Arbxtrator which is attached hereto and made a
part hereof.

I.  FINDINGS OF FACT

Petitioner, a 56-year-old foreman lineman was employed by Respondent in the Department
of Streets and Sanitation, installing and repairing streetlights, for almost 29 years. On June 18,
2010, as he pried off a 200-pound manhole cover, he felt a stabbing pain in his upper extremities,
including his neck and shoulders. He completed the assigned job and reported his accident. He was
examined and treated conservatively with medications and physical therapy at MercyWorks Clinic
in June and July 2010. He was discharged to full duty on August 4, 2010 and continued to work
without restrictions until he retired on January 31, 2011. Petitiolner testified that he worked with
pain and that it was one of the reasons he decided to retire. His pain continued to increase after his
retirement. In September 2013, he underwent a right shoulder arthroscopy, rotator cuff repair, and
subacromial decompression, and in February 2014, he underwent a discectomy and interbody
fusion at C4-5. He also received injections and physical therapy for his left shoulder complaints
through December 2014, He declined further injections and left shoulder surgery. He now works
through hlS union hall and treats any residual aches and pains with ibuprofen.
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The hearing was held on December 12, 2018 in Chicago on the issues of causal connection,
medical expenses, temporary total disability, and nature and extent of his permanent disability.
The Arbitrator found that Petitioner had proved that his current condition of ill-being was causally
related to his June 18, 2010 work accident but declined to award an outstanding medical bill for
$1,680.00 from Rldge Orthopedics and temporary total dlsabillty, finding that Petitioner had
voluntarily removed himself from the workforce by retiring. The Arbitrator concluded that
Petmoner was permanently par’aally dlsabled at 20% loss of use of the person-as-a- whoie

. On appeal to the Comrmsswn Pet1t10ner seeks 33 weeks of ternporary total dlsab1hty,
payment of the outstanding Ridge Orthopedics medical bill, and an increase in the permanency
awarded by the Arbitrator. For the following reasons, the Commission awards Petitioner payment
of the 33 weeks of temporary total disability claimed and the $1,680.00 outstanding medical bill
from Ridge Orthopedics. The Commission further increases the permanent part1a1 disability
awarded to 20% loss of use of the person-as-a-whole for Petitioner’ s cervical injury, 15% loss of
use of the person-as-a-whole for his right shoulder torn rotator cuff, and 5% loss of use of the
person-as-a-whole for Petitioner’s left shoulder i mjury, for a totaI of 40% loss of use of the person-
as- a—whoie : :

1. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A T emporary Total Dzsabzhty

At heanng, Petitioner cialmed to be entitled to 54 weeks of temporary totai dxsablhty, from
May 6, 2013 through May 20, 2014. The Arbitrator noted that the entire period for which Petitioner
claimed he was totally disabled occurred affer his voluntary retirement on January 31, 2011, The
Arbitrator denied Petitioner’s claim for temporary total disability, coneludmg that Peiztloner had
voluntarily removed himself from the workforce by retmng :

Respondent urges ‘the Comrmssmn to affirm the Arbitrator’s denial of beneﬁts on the
ground that Petitioner Voluntanly withdrew himself from the workforce by retiring when he had
no physical restrictions.. Petitioner testified that he retired because it was dlfﬁcuit for him to
continue perfonnlng his _]ob after the aceldent : _—

In Land & Lakes v. Indusrrzal Comm n, the Commission awarded the claimant TTD for a
post-retirement period, finding that the claimant had not retired by choice but because he was
unable to work and he needed the income from his pension and social security benefits to survive.
359 TIl. App. 3d 582, 594-95 (2005). Similar to the claimant in Land & Lakes, Petitioner here
testified that, despite his full duty release by MercyWorks, he continued to suffer bilateral shoulder
pain and was no longer physically able to perform his job for Respondent. That inability
contributed to his decision to retire.

The facts here are distinguishable from cases in which the Appellate Court has upheld
Commission decisions to deny TTD benefits after finding that a claimant voluntarily ceased
working. City of Granite City v. Industrial Comm 'n, 279 lll. App. 3d 1087, 1090-91 (1996) (TTD
denied beyond the date claimant took a disability retirement where there was no evidence that he
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could not retum to light- duty work), Gallentine V. Industrzal Comm n, 201 T11. App 3d 880 887
(1990} (three physicians released claimant to return to light duty work, and no medical evidence
supported her testimony that she could not work the light duty position employer offered). In City
of Granite City and Gallentine, the Commission relied on evidence that the claimant could have
worked but chose not to work. Such facts are not evident in this record.

- The Commission observes that on appeal Petitioner is seeking temporary total disability
benefits only for those periods dunng which his treating physw:ans/surgeons took him off work
completely, from May 6, 2013 through October 8, 2013 and again from February 5, 2014 through
April 22, 2014, for a. fotal of 33 weeks. Petitioner’s treating physicians placed him on Tight duty
and off work compleiely for extended periods during which he underwent a right shoulder surgical
repair, left shoulder injection, and a cervical discectomy and injections. Petmoner was unable to
continue worklng, and he returned to the workforce only after his surgeries and injections
1mproved his condition sufﬁcmnt}y 1o allow him to return to lighter duty work. Although he could
no longer perform his job for Respondent he looked for and was able to find suitable employment
through the union hall, where he was able to p1ck and choose jobs that dzd not requlre heavy
physical oapabzllty '

' The Comrnlssmn finds the facts in this case more similar to those in Land & Lakes where
withdrawal from ‘the workforce was not voluntary. 359 11, App. 3d at 594-95. Thus, the
Commission finds that Petitioner is entitled to TTD benefits from May 6, 2013 through October
8, 2013 and agam from F ebruary 5 2014 through Aprzl 22,2014 fora totai of 33 weeks as cialmed

B Medzcal Erpenses (dege Orthopedzcs)

At heanng, Petltloner sought payment of an outstandmg balance of $1, 680 00 wh1ch he
alleged was due- Ridge Orthopedlcs The “Arbitrator noted that the patlent ledger for Ridge
Orthopedics (PX11) indicated a zero balance due from the patient. However, the patient ledger
reflects an outstandlng insurance balance of $1,680.00 for physical therapy from October 4, 2013
through November 12, 2013. Respondent made payments to Ridge Orthopedics for medical
services provided for both earlier and later dates of service. Respondent does not argue that the
services provided for that period were not reasonable and necessary. Thus, the Commission finds
that the $1680.00 Ridge Orthopedics ¢harge was reasonable and necessary and orders Respondent
to pay said bll} pursuant to Sections 8a and 8 2 of the Act.

C. Permanent Pamal Dzsabzhty

The Arbitrator reviewed Petitioner’s medical treatment, his right shoulder surgery and
cervical fusion and his left shoulder injections and concluded that his permanent partial disability
was 20% loss of use of the person as a whole. The Commission notes that the Arbitrator set forth
facts relevant to a determination of permanent partial disability, pursuant to §8.1b of the Act.

(i) Disability impairment rating: no weight, because neither party offered an AMA
impairment rating.
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(i1) Employee $ occupatlon no weight. Although Petrtroner had worked as a foreman of a
street repair crew, he retired seven months after rcturnrng to work followmg this
accident. ' :

(iii)  Employee’s age: some weight. Petitioner was 55 at the time of this accrdent '

(iv)  Future earning capacity: no ‘weight, as no evidence on this issue was presented and
Petitioner testified that he had retired shortly after his accrdent although he contlnued
to work out of his union hall at the time of arbitration. ' : :

v) Evidence of drsabrhty corroborated by the treatmg records: some wezght Petitioner

' testified that he has a sttff neck and shoulders and cannot do heavy lrftrng or. play as |
‘much golf as he had before his accident, as actrvrty brought more pain. Petrtloner had
10 current med1cal records to support his sub3 ectlve complamts '

Based on the foregorng factors the Arbitrator concluded that Petrtioner sustarned a 20% loss of
use of the person-as-a-whole for his cervical and brlateral shoulder mjunes However the'
Cornmrssron views the evrdence drfferently '

The Comrmssron finds that Petrtroner s occupatron is cntrtled to srgmﬁcant werght He had
Worked as a foreman electrlc1an for Respondent for nearly 30 years, primarily directing other
laborers but also performing heavy duty lifting and pulling, as needed to perform hrs crew’s
ass1 gned tasks Aﬂer his accrdent he was restrrcted to rnedrum duty physrcat tasks

The Commrssron also accords Petrtroner $ ev1dence of drsabrhty corroborated by mcdrcal.
evrdencc srgmﬁcant weight. Since ‘his retirement, Petitioner has undergone two surgeries,
~extensive physrcal therapy and work conditioning, and several injections ‘to both shoulders and
cervical spine. Additional invasive treatment in the form of mjectrons and addrtronal surgery has
been recommendcd and declined by Petitioner. - :

Aﬂer consrdermg each of the factors Tisted in §8.1b, the Commission ﬁnds that Petrtroner
suffered 20% loss of use of the persor1~as a-whole for his cervrcal injury, 15% loss of use of the
person-as- a—wholc for his right shoulder injury, and 5% loss of use of the’ person-as-a-whole for
his left shoulder 1 mjury, for a total loss of 40% loss of use of the person—as a-whole. -

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator ﬁled March 1, 2019, is hereby modified as stated herein and otherwise affirmed and
adopted. : .

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall pay,
according to the fee schedule, the outstanding erge Orthopedlcs medrcal bill of $1,680.00 to
Petitioner, as provrded in §8(a) and §8 2 of the Act. _

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the denial of temporary total
disability benefits is reversed. Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits
of $1238.13 per week for 33 weeks, commencing on May 6, 2013 through October 8, 2013 and
agam from February 5 2014 through April 22,2014, as provrded by §8(b) of the Act. '
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ITISFURTHER ORDERED BY TI—IE COMMISSION that the award of permanent partlal

disability is increased from 20% loss of use of the person-as-a-whole to 20% loss of use of the

person-as-a-whole for Petitioner’s cervical injury, 15% loss of use of the person-as-a-whole for

his right shoulder injury, and 5% loss of use of the person-as-a-whole for his left shoulder injury,
for a total loss of 40% loss of use of the person—as -a-whole. '

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISS{ON that Respondent shall pay to
Pet1t1oner Interest under §19(n) of the Act, 1f any.

ITIS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have
oredzt for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on account of said accidental
injury. Respondent shall hold Petitioner harmless from any claims by any providers of the services
for which Respondent is recewmg thxs credlt as prov1ded in Sect1on 8(}) of the Act

Under Sectlon 19(t)(2), no county, 01ty, town townshlp, mcorporated vmage school
district, body politic, or rnumclpai corporation” shall be required to file a bond.. As such,
Respondent is exempt from the bonding requirement. The party commencing the proceedings for
review in the Circuit Court shall file w;th the Commissmn a Notice of Intent to File for Rev1ew in
Circuit Court : -

DATED: FEB 2 2021

0-12/17/20
mp/dak
68

Barb ra N Flores



ILLINOIS WORKERS COMPENSATION COMM}SSION
NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

MARCHESE, CLAUDIO Case# 11WC020577

Employee/Petitioner

CITY OF CHICAGO | o 21 I ‘CCO 049

Employer/Respendent

On 3/1/2019, an arbltratlon demszon on thlS case was filed with the lllinois Workers' Compensatlon | '_
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed o : - '
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) | ] injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)88, D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF Cook ) [ ] Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
EI None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION

Claudio Marchese o Case # 11 WC 20577
Employee/Petitioner

V. _ Consolidated cases:
City of Chicago

Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Thomas L. Ciecko, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city
of Chicago, on December 18, 2018. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby
makes findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. |___[ Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

:l Did an accxdent occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?

:| What was the date of the accident?

[:l Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

ZI Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

| | What were Petitioner's earnings?

[ ] What was Petitioner’s age at the time of the accident?

D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

[X] Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
What temporary benefits are in dispute?

[]JTPD [_1 Maintenance KA TTD

L. What is the nature and extent of the injury?

M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

N. D Is Respondent due any credit?

0. D Other ____

R LR R R O

7

iCArbDec 2/10 !00 . Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611 Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwce.il.gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084



FINDINGS _ _
On June 18, 2010, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent |

Petitxoner s current cond1t1on of 111~bemg is causally rclated to thc acc1dent

In the year precedlng the i 1njury, Petltloner eamed $96 574 40 the average weekly wage was $1 857 20.
On the date of ac01dent Petmoner was 56 years of age, marned w1th 1 dependent ch1ldren _:'

Pet1t1oner has recelved all reasonable and necessary medlcal services. o

Respondent has pa1d all appropnate charges for ail reasonable and neccssai'y medical services:

Respondent shall be given a credit of SO for TTD $0 for TPD $0 for maintenance, and $0 for other benefits,
for a total credlt of $0. .

Respondent is entltled to a credit of $13 168 61 under Section 8(]) of the Act.

ORDER o :
Permanent Partlal Dlsabihty

BASEI) ON THE FACTORS IN SECT lON 8 38(13), AND THE RECORD TAKEN AS A WHOLE THIS ARBITRATOR FINDS PETITIONER
SUSTAINED PERMANENT PARTIAL DISABILITY TO THE EXTENT OF 20% (100 WEEKS) LOSS OF A PERSON AS A WHOLE
PURSUANT TO SECTION S(D)Z OF THE ACT. ' . o . _

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Urﬂess a party files a Petition Jfor Rewew within 30 days after rece1pt of thxs
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the

decision of the Comm1ss1on

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Comnnssxon reviews thlS award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payrnent however,
if an employee S appeal results 1n elther no change or a decrease in this award, mterest shall not accrue

/%;fzz// (»y/é | March 1, 2019

Signatire of Arbitrator Date

ICATbDec p. 2

MAR 1 - 2018
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"Claudio C. Marchese v. City of Chicago, No. 11 WC 20577
Preface

The parties proceeded to hearing December 18, 2018 on Request for Hearing indicating the
following disputed issues: whether Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being is causally
connected to an accidental injury that arose out of and in the course of employment; whether
Respondent is liable for certain unpaid medical bills; whether Petitioner is entitled to TTD from
May 6, 2013 through May 20, 2014; and what is the nature and extent of the injury. Arbitrator’s
Exhibit 1.

Findings of Fact

Claudio Marchese (Petitioner), a 56 year old male, testifies that on June 18, 2010, he was
working for the City of Chicago (Respondent) in the Department of Streets and Sanitation,
repairing and installing City street lights near Jackson and Lake Shore Drive. He tried to pry the
lid of a 200 pound manhole cover off, He felt a stabbing pain in his upper extremities, including
his neck and shoulders. He finished his job, feeling increasing pain. Petitioner reported his
injury and was examined and treated at Mercyworks Clinic June and July 0f 2010, He treated
conservatively with medication and physical therapy and was discharged to full duty August 4,
2010. Petitioner’s Exhibit 10 at 3.

Petitioner continued to work until his retirement January 31, 2011. He testified he
worked with some pain. Subsequent to his retirement, Petitioner’s pain continued to increase,
and he sought medical treatment for his neck and shoulders. Petitioner underwent a ri ght
shoulder arthroscopy, rotator cuff repair and subacromial decompression in September 2013. In
February 2014, Petitioner underwent surgery to his neck, a discectomy and interbody fusion at
C4-C3. Petitioner continued to treat through December 2014, declining injections and additional
Surgery.

Petitioner testified he now works through his union hall. Any paid or stiffness he
encounters is treated with Ibuprofen.

Conclusions of Law

Disputed issue F is, is Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being causally related to the
injury. This Arbitrator finds as a conclusion of law, it is.

I rely on the Independent Medical Examination conducted by Dr. Wesley Yapor on
January 29, 2013, where in Dr. Yapor states he feels there is a correlation between Petitioner’s

1



documented injury and the onset of'his symptoms with no pnor hrstory of similar
symptomatolog,v Petttloner s Exhibit 3 at 3, " B '

_ Dtsputed issue J is whether Respondent is liable for certain nnpald medical bills oi
$1,680. 00 to Rldge Orthopedtcs and $13 168 61 to Ingalis Memonal Hosprtat

Petltloner testified he did not know if any ba}ance due to erge OrthOpedrcs had been
paid. There was no evidence or testlmony Petitloner is hable to pay any amount to Ridge
Orthopedics, nor that the changes were reasonable or necessary 1In fact, the patient iedger -
detailed, contamed in Petltloner S Exhlblt 11, 1ndleates 4 Zero patlent balance Respondent
payment hstmg in Respondent Exhibit 1 1nd1cates it ‘has pa1d $35 488 63. The amount is
irreconcilable with the patient ledger of Rldge Orthopedrcs It is Petltroner s obhgatlon to prove
all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evrdenee and here he has not done so
Respondent is not habie for these unpard medteat bﬂls to Rldge Orthope(hcs o '

Petltloner testrﬁed he drd not know if Respondent paid the bﬂls to Ingalts Hospitat
However, the parties have st1pu1ated Respondent paid that amount through its group medical
pian and is aIiowed a credlt Respondent is not habie for those medreal blHS to Ingalls Hosprtal

Dtsputed xssue Kis whether Petrtloner is due temporary total d1sabrlrty beneﬁts To be .

entrtled to a temporary dlsabrhty award under the Act, an injured worker must prove not only did
he not work, but that he was unable to work Ingalts Memorzal Hosmtal v, Industnal
Comrnlssron 241 1L App 3d 710 (1993) ' : '

Petltroner was dlscharged from medrcal care by Mereyworks Oecupatlonai Medlcme
August 4 2010 by Dr. Jayant Sheth who found Petmoner fit for full duty. . Petitioner’s. Exhrblt
10 at 3. Petitioner testified that since the accvdent June 18, 2010, he worked through his pam _
He had his 30 years in and vquntarriy retlred ] anuary 31 2011. Pe_tltroner testified he lost no
time from work : : I L T AL P

1 ﬁnd asa conclusmn of law Petrtroner is not entrtled to any period of temporary total
d1sab111ty because he voiuntanly retlred ‘without havmg any medical ot physreal restrictions at -

the time of retirement, by chorce See Gramte City v. Industnal Commrssron, 279 1. App 3d _ :

1087, 1090-91 (1996)

Drsputed issue L is, What is the nature and extent of the i mjury The injury suffered by
Petmoner to his neck and shoulders aggravated permstent asymptomatre cervical degenerative
disc dlsease and degeneratlve arthritis. He underwent several surgeries and has declined further
addltlonal treatment :

Any permanent part1a1 disability is estabhshed using the criteria found in 820 ILCS
305/8.1b. As to the level of permanent partial disability, this Arbitrator finds as follows

With regard to subsection (i) of Section 8.1b(b), this Arbitrator notes that no permanent
partial disability lmpan‘ment report and/or opinion was submltted into evidence. I note Dr.
Jeffrey Coe offers an unquantified * . . permanent disability to both upper extremltles w:th
addrtlonai drsabrhty to the person as a whole.” Petitioner’s Exhlbrt 2at12. 1 also note a.

t" 4211?@@0049
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functional capacity evaluation conducted by Ridge Rehabilitation February 4, 2014, which put
Petitioner’s work at the medium level. He had not worked in three years. The evaluation, bya
physical therapist, would return Petitioner to work in a limited duty as outlined by the evaluation.
There is nothing in the evaluation which outlines that limited duty. Petitioner’s Exhibit 8 at 94-
96. Petitioner did not testify to any specific restrictions. Because of this, I give this factor no
weight in determining the level of disability.

Regarding subsection (ii) of Section 8.1b(b), the occupation of the employee, I note at the
time of the injury, Petitioner was a foreman of a repair crew for the Department of Streets and
Sanitation. He went back to work for about seven months before voluntanly retiring. [ give his
factor no welght in determining the Ievel of dzsablhty

Regardmg sub_sectzon (iii) of Sectxon 8.1b(b), this Arbitrator notes Petitioner was 55 years
old at the time of the accident. Because of that age, I give it some weight in determining the
level of dlsabzhty '

‘With regard to subsection (iv) of Section 8.1b(b), Petitloner s future earnings, this
Arbitrator notes absolutely no evidence was offered on any effect to Petitioner’s future eamings.
Immediately, there was none, as he worked about seven months before retiring. He testified he
currently works through his union hall, presumably that is Local 9, IBEW. No evidence on
wages was offered. Because of that, I gwe this factor no weight in determmmg the level of
disability. : :

With regard to subsection (v) of Section 8.1b(b), evidence of disability corroborated by
the treating medical records, I note Petitioner testified he has a stiff neck and shoulders, cannot
do heavy lifting, or play as much as golf. He said acthty brmgs pam There are no reasonabiy
current treating medical records that corroborate Petitioner’s testimony. I do note, however, the
surgeries performed on Petitioner and subsequent rehabilitation. I give this factor some weight
in determining the level of disability,

Based on the above factors, and my reading and consideration of the records as a whole,
this Arbitrator finds Petitioner sustained permanent partial disability to the extent of 20% (100
- weeks) loss of a person as a whole pursuant to Section 8(d)2 of the Act.

Lo CA— o 3/ /15

Arbitrator Date
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) I:I Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers” Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. | [_] Affirm with changes [ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF MADISON ) D Reverse [:] Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
D PTD/Fatal denied
E} Modify Down . None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Regina Damm,
Petitioner, ' 2 1 E %% @ @ @ G 5 0
Vs. NO: 18 WC 6363

State of IL / Chester Mental Health,
Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by Respondent herein and
notice given to all parties, the Connmsswn after considering causal connection, medical expenses,
prospective medwal treatment, and temporary total dlsabxhty (“TTD”) benefits, and belng advised
of the facts and law, modifies the Decision of the Arbitrator. The Commission reverses the
Arbitrator’s conclusion that Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being regarding her cervical spine
is related to the work accident. The Commission vacates the award of prospective medical
treatment in the form of the four-level cervical disc replacement surgery recommended by Dr.
Gornet. The Commission also clarifies the amount of temporary total disability benefits awarded
by the Arbitrator. ‘The Commission further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further
proceedings for a determination of a further amount of temporary total compensation or of
compensation for permanent disability, if any, pursuant to Thomas v. Industrzal Comm'n, 78 111 2d
327,399 N.E.2d 1322, 35 Hl.Dec. 794 (1980)

Findings of Facts

Petitioner works for Respondent as a security therapy aide. Petitioner testified that her
primary duties in this position are “...to make sure the patients are secure and safe, to make sure
that my coworkers and myself are in safe hands.” (Tr. at 15). She has worked in this position for
six years. On February 11, 2018, Petitioner tried to prevent a patient from leaving his room.
Petitioner testified that she first tried to redirect the patient back to his room. She testified that
another coworker arrived and together they tried to “retain him into his room and he started fighting
so he drop kicked me across the room, I hit my head, my elbow and my back...” (Tr. at 15).

Petitioner went to the ER that same day and reported being attacked at work by a patient.
(PX 3). The ER doctor wrote that Petitioner stated, “... he kicked me so hard I flew back against
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a wall,” striking post head, neck and upper back, and left elbow against the wall. She complamed
of head pain, neck pain, upper back pain, and left arm pain.” Id. The examination revealed head,
neck, back, and left arm tenderness. Petitioner was diagnosed with a left elbow contusion, head
traumna, a back contusion, and upper back and neck contusions. CT scans of the cervical spine
showed no acute spinal fracture, but they did reveal degenerative spondylosis and spinal stenosis
particularly at C5-C6 and C6-C7. CT scans of the thoracic spine revealed a mild cornpressmn
fracture at L2 with no acute bony mjury 1dent1ﬁed w1th1n the thoracic splne

' Dr. Hldalgo examined Petltloner on February 13, 2018 (PX 4). Petltloner compIalned of
pain in the left shoulder, left elbow, and neck. Petmoner also complained .of low back pain
radiating to the buttocks and legs and reported her earlier back pain worsened after her recent work
incident. The doctor noted that Petitioner was already taking narcotics and referred Petltloner to
pain management and physical therapy Dr. Gornet first examined Petitioner on February 16, 2018.
(PX 5). Petitioner reported her primary comp}amt was central low back pain up to her mid-back
radiating down to her right buttock, right hlp, and down the right leg to the calf with numbness
and tingling. She also compiamed of neck pain, headaches, and left shoulder and upper arm pain.
Dr. Gormnet wrote: “She readily admits to a history of what she feels is arthritic pain that dates back
many years. She feels this is totally different and much more severe. She saw Dr. Tolentmo in
October of 2017 and MRIs were ordered. He felt that there was no significant freatment needed.
She did not receive any other treatment.” Id. Dr. Gornet also wrote, “I do believe her current
symptoms, at least in its level of seventy, are causaily connected to her work injury.” He also took
Pet1t1oner off work : : '

A February 16, 2018 1umbar MRI reveaied 1) a disc hemlatlon at Ll-L2 w1th extruded
components behind L1 without free ﬁagment with no deﬁmte foraminal mvolvement though there
were some endplate signal change that could reflect a minimal endplate compression fracture; and
2) a right sided disc herniation at L4-L5 with annular fissure lying near the right L4 root. (PX 6).
A cervical MRI taken that same day revealed: 1) multilevel disc herniations from C2-C3 through
C6-C7 creating central stenosis, particularly at C4-C5, C5-C6, and C6-C7, with what appeared to
be mild cord deformity at C5-C6 but no abnormal cord signal; and 2) foraminal involvement at
multiple levels. A March 1, 2018, iumbar CT scan revealed: 1) an L2 upper endplate compression
fracture with minimal Ieﬂ sided vertebral body height loss and sclerotic change beneath the
compressed upper endplate to the left of midline; 2) an L4-L.5 circumferential disc buige with a
superimposed right foraminal protrusion resulting in ﬂght greater than left foraminal stenosis but
no central canal stenosis; and 3) circumferential disc bulges L2-L3 and L3-L4 resuitlng in dural
displacement and mild bilateral foraminal stenosis but no central canal stenosis. (PX 7).

On May 30, 2018, Petitioner complained of left shoulder pain to Dr. Paletta. (PX 7). Dr.
Paletta noted that the left elbow was improving. Petitioner complained of pain in the shoulder and
neck and numbness radiating down her arm into the hand. A left shoulder MRI taken that day
revealed: 1) anterior supraspinatus thinning and tendinopathy without evidence for definite full
thickness tear; and 2) posterior supraspinatus-upper infraspinatus junction bursal-sided edematous
signal with associated thinning likely a bursal-sided partial tear. (PX 6). On June 12, 2018, Dr.
Paletta performed an injection into the left subacromial space. Later that month, Petitioner
complained of continued right buttock, right hip, and right leg pain. (PX 5). Dr. Gomet continued
to express concern regarding the amount of narcotics Petitioner was taking daily. He interpreted
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the February 2018 lumbar MRI as showmg a large annu}ar tear and hemlatlon at L4-L5 on the
right. He referred Petitioner to Dr. Blake for a transforammal ESI at right L4-L5 and an ESI at
right L1-L2. Dr. Blake performed a rIght L4-L5 TFESI on July 17, 2018. (PX 10). She performed
a L1-L2 ILESI on July 31, 2018. In early August 2018, Petitiotier reported to Dr. Paletta that the
shoulder injection pr0v1ded no relief. Dr. Paletta beheved her left shoulder pain was likely of

cervical ongm with atyplcal radlculopathy

On September 17 2018 Pet1t1oner told Dr. Gomet ‘that her pnmary issues wete right
buttock and leg pam After noting Petitioner’s additlonal complaints of neck pain, headaches, and
left shoulder pain, Dr. Gornet wrote that he was concerned about treating Petitioner because he
believed her physical dependence on narcotics would lead to poor results. He told Petitioner that
he would not provide any further treatment until she was slowly weaned off narcotics.. Dr. Gornet
placed treatment for her cervical eomplamts on hold and noted that Dr. Paletta believed most of
Petitioner’s left shoulder complaints emanated from her neck. Dr. Gornet decided to proceed with
a dlscogram at L4-L5 and L5-S1 after Petitioner had been weaned off narcotics. In October 2018,
Dr. Blake began to work on weaning Petitioner off narcotics over the next several months. Dr.
Blake continued to provzde medlcauon management for Petitioner up to the date of arbltratlon

hearing.

Petmoner vzslted the ER on January 28, 2019, with complamts of severe low back pain
radiating into her rlght ‘buttock and chest pain. (PX 3). She reported the pain increased after she
_bent over to pick up a piece of paper. Petitioner was diagnosed with acute chest wall pain and was
sent home with Tyienol A few days later Dr. Gornet éxamirned Petitioner and noted that she was
~ still taklng narcotics, but at lower dosages Dr Gomet beheved her recent ER v131t was due to

referred pam from Petltmner s neck : :

On Apnl 29 2019 Dr. Gomet wrote that Petltloner was completely weaned off narcotlcs
He reviewed the December 2018 Sectlon 12 Exammatlon report by Dr. Chabot and disagreed with
that doctor’ s oplmons He wrote: B :

“He _fe_lt that there was no need for surgical intervention in her
cervical or lumbar spine as it relates to the injury of 2/11/18. He did
not explain why an assault such as the one descrl’oed causing a
fracture and herniation Would not account for her continued low
back, ti ght buttock and hlp pain. He did not exp}am why an assault
such as the one descnbed could not injure her cervical spine,
partlcularly if she is a 60—year—old with some preexisting
degeneration. H[e] felt her complaints were consistent with
fibromyalgia. He did not explain that if she did have a chronic
condition, why her symptoms increased in severity warranting this
treatment.” :

A Tune 27, 2019, cervical MRI revealed: 1) circumferential disc bulges at C3-C4, C4-C5, C5-C6,
and C6-C7 with a superimposed right foraminal soft disc protrusion at C3-C4 and left foraminal
protrusion at C6-C7, midline hyperintense zones, likely midline annular tears, at all four levels,
mild central canal stenosis is present at C5-C6 and C6-C7 and bilateral foraminal stenosis present
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at all levels; and 2) C2-C3 facet ankylosm on the left. (PX 6). The Jumbar MRI taken that day
revealed: 1) a right foraminal lateral annular tear and protrusion at L4-L5 resulting in mild right
foraminal stenosis but no central canal stenosis: 2) left lateral recess signal hyperintensity at 1.5-
S1, likely an annular tear, but without focal disc protrusion; and 3) a left paracentral cranially
extruded chsc fragment at L1-1.2 resultlng in dural displacement but no central canal stenosis or
foraminal stenosis. In late June 2019, Petltloner continued to complain of significant symptoms
relating to her neck and back. (PX 5). Dr. Gornet revrewed the recent lJumbar and cervical MRIs.
He dec1ded to focus treatment on her neck first and recommended surgery mvolvmg cervical disc
replacements at C3-C4, C4-C5, C5-C6, and C6-C7. In July 2019, Petitioner continued to complaln
of increasing low back ‘pain with rad1at10n In ‘September 2019, Dr. Gornet continued to

recommend . Petitioner undergo cervmal disc replacement surgery. He wrote that Petitioner
contlnued to suffer from axxal neck pain Wlth headaches more to the left trapezms and leﬂ Shouider

' 'Pnor Compl-amts and Treatrnent '

Petltloner testlﬁed that she has suffered from neck and back pain since at least 2009
Petitioner testified that she had undergone cervical spine. MRIs in the years prior to the work
accident. Under cross-examination, Petitioner agreed that she ’had undergone a lot of treatment
throughout the years for both her neck and back. Petitioner also tesnﬁed that she had been takmg
narcotics for her chronic neck and back pain for approxxmately five yeats before this work
accident. Petitioner testified that her symptoms changed and/or worsened after the F ebruary 11,
2018, work accident. For example, Petitioner testified that her neck now constantly “‘cracks.”
Petitioner also testified that after the work acmdent her lumbar pain changed and-intensified.
Pentlener testzﬁed that she s now unable to lift her nght leg w1th0ut usmg her hands to hoId up
the Ieg ' e S :

AT anuary 17 2017 cerv1ca1 MRI revealed 1} multllevel degeneratlve disease and facet
joint arthropathy with mild to modetrate splnal canal narrowing greatest at C5-C6 and C6~C7 with
no significant interval change from the earlier 2014 exam; and 2) multilevel bilateral neural
foraminal stenosis at least moderate severity. (RX 6). On October 18, 2017, Petitioner was
examined by PA Bowers i in Dr. Tolentino’s office. Petitioner’s chief comp}amt was quoted as, “To
explain in my terms what is wrong, & can it be ﬁxed tired of all the pam " PA Bowers recorded
the following hlstory : ' -

“At today’s appointment, she reports that since approximately 2009
she has experienced progressive neck and low back pain. She
describes her neck pain as a stabbing type sensation in the posterior
cervical region with a diffuse burning throughout the bilateral
trapezius and mterscapular area. She reports a pins and needles and
numbness-ty“pe sensation involving her hands bilaterally, left greater
than right. She -notes occasional nocturnal = paresthesias. She
describes frequent headaches which occur daily and occasional
electric shock sensations that will extend from her neck into her
upper extremities in a multi dermatomal pattem She describes her
low back pain as a diffuse aching type sensation in the lumbosacral
region with stabbing over the right sacroiliac joint. She reports



18 WC 6363 | R
. Page5 5 O
y 21IWCCOO0:

bilateral foot burmng and numbness Otherwwe she denies any
lower extremity symptoms. She reports that sitting, standing,
bending, and lifting will éxacerbate her symptoms. She has recently
undergone physical therapy for her neck and performed aquatic
therapy for her lumbar spine pain in early 2017. She has undergone
chiropractic care for years. She has previously undergone a pain
management evaluation and treatment which included numerous

injections. She is taking cyclobenzaprine, Norco 7. 5/325, Lynca
and acetamxnophen for her symptoms Current pam rated as7. 10

(RX 6). Durmg the hearlng Petltloner d1d not dlspute the accuracy of th1s hlstory Aﬂer examining
Petitioner and reviewing the January 2017 cervical MRI PA Bowers diagnosed: 1) left C2-C3
facet anky1031s 'C3-C4 spondylosis with moderate foraminal stenosis; C4-C5 spondylosis with
mild to moderate bilateral foraminal stenosis; C6-C7 spondylosis with moderate left greater than
right foraminal stenosis; C6-C7 spondylosis with mioderate bilateral foraminal stenosis; 2) bilateral
hand paresthesxas and 3) low back pain. He ordered cervwai and hnnbar x-rays and MR1s as well
as an upper extrem1ty EMG/N CV. :

That day, Dr. Toientlno revwwed earlier radio graphzc images and wrote an add1t1onal note.
The doctor referenced a January 7, 2016, office visit note from Dr. Kumar indicating Petitioner
had partlclpated in physical therapy, was prescrlbed various pain medications, and had undergone
trigger pomt m_]eotlons Dr. Tolentino wrote that Dr. Kumar also discussed possibly performmg
-facet area mjectlons Dr. Tolentmo also wrote that Petltloner Complalned of prlmarlly neck pain
and her back pain was secondary. He wrote: “Since early 2016 the patient’s neck pain is associated
with eplsodlc clectric shock sensation in the neck and upper ¢ extremltles The patlent ] secondary
back paln is assoc;ated Wlth bllateral foot burmng and numbness : :

An October 31, 2017 lnmbar MRI revealed 1) a small nght L4- L5 foraminal dlSC
protrusion contacts the ex1t1ng right L4 nerve root causing mild foraminal stenosis with associated
T2 hyperintense right posterolateral annular fissure; 2) no mgmﬁcant central spinal canal stenosis;
and 3) mild multilevel facet hypertrophy. (RX 6). The cervical spine MRI taken that day revealed:
1) multilevel degenerative spondylosis, mild-moderate C5- C6 and mild C6-C7 central spinal canal
stenos1s secondary to broad-based posterzor dISc/osteophyte complexes, minor cord flattening at
C5-C6; 2) multilevel forammal stenosis; 3) straightening of the usual cervical lordosis, minor
lower cervical dextroscohosm, trace 1 mm anterolisthesis of C7 on T1; and 4) multilevel
hypertrophic facet arthropathy, with left C2-C3 facet ankylosis. Petitioner underwent an
EMG/NCS of her bilateral upper extremities on October 31, 2017, as well. The doctor performing
the study recorded the following history: “She reports that she is having severe headaches, muscles
spasms into her bilateral shoulder blades with electric shocks that occur throughout her neck and
into her head. She also reports that she had numbness and tingling into her BUE.” The study was
normal and revealed no electrodiagnostic evidence of any median nerve entrapment, ulnar nerve
entrapment, generalized peripheral neuropathy or a cervical radiculopathy in either upper
extremity.

Petitioner returned to Dr. Tolentino’s office on December 13, 2017, and was examined by
PA Bowers, with Dr. Tolentino providing an analysis of the recent diagnostic studies. Petitioner
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again complained of significant neck pain with a stabbmg sensatxon numbness extending into the
bilateral trapezius region left greater than right, and frequent headaches. She also complained of a
numbness-type sensation involving her bilateral forearm and hands, right greater than lef, as well
as frequent tremor-type activity involving her bilateral upper extremities. Petitioner complained of
a diffuse burning type sensation in the lumbosacral region, primarily over the right SI joint as well
as numbness and the sensation of pins and needles extending into the proximal right thigh. She
complamed of bilateral foot burmng and numbness and reported visiting the ER three times in the
prior month due to her ongoing pain. Mild nght L4- L3 disc disease without significant stenosis

was added to her prior diagnoses. Dr. Tolentino did not recommend surgery for either the neck or
back based on Petmoner s recent dzagnostlc studzes and symptoms

Expert Oplmons

Dr. .Matthew Gornet — Treating Physician

Dr. Gbrnet testified via eVidence deposition on behalf of Petitioner on September 19 2010.
(PX 13). He is a board-certified orthopedlc surgeon spemahzmg in splne surgery His testimony
was consistent wzth his medlcal records Dr. Gornet testified:

“I bel_1eve_1t s 1rreﬁ1tab1e that her _endplate fracture and, obviously,
her disc hemiation at 1.1-2 are caused by the accident. I believe that
the herniations—because of the objective ﬁndmgs on MRI. The
herniations at C5-6 and C6-7 1 believe were caused—I believe she
aggravated her underlymg condition of degeneratlon there. 1 believe
she actually caused the smaller protrusmns at C3-4 and C4-5 and
L5- SI »?

(PX 13 at9). When asked why he beheved Petltloner requires the recommended cervical surgery,
Dr. Gornet testified:

“That’s the only way that we will be able to adequately cure and
relieve the effects of her work injury. She has a significant amount
of axial neck pain. She has disc profrusions/herniations at each level.
Those are fairly classic of disc injuries. We know in treating patients
who have predominant axial neck pain that they would benefit from
this...we feel very confident that if we treat this problem in that way
she will substantially improve as far as her neck pain, her headaches,
pain into her traps, shoulders, pain between her shoulder blades—
all of those things.” '

(PX 13 at 14-15).

Under cross-examination, Dr. Gornet testified that he received and reviewed the pre-
accident records from Dr. Tolentino. He reviewed the October 2017 cervical MRI and testified
that the findings were consistent with disc pathology. However, Dr. Gornet testified that he could
not determine whether any annular tears were present on the MRI without reviewing the actual
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films. He testified that he only reviewed the reports Dr. Gomet testified that the machine used to
perform the October 2017 cervical MRI is less powerful than the machine he used. He testified,
“Again, if they don’t run all the views that I run, then it is obv1ous1y poss1ble that they missed
something that we picked up on also.” (PX 13 at 23). After reviewing records from October 2017
and December 2017, tegardmg Petitionet’s complaints about her chronic neck pain, Dr. Gornet
testified that Petitioner’s pain cha.nged after the work accuient He testtﬁed

“Well, what 1 beheve is dszerent clearly she had neek and back
pain. So those aspects are different, but just because you have neck
‘and back pain doesn’t mean ‘that there are not differences.
Particularly, her symptoms in her right buttock, her right hip, and
right leg 1 think are different. The pain in her midback is different,
where she localizes it. Her pain diagram from her Health History
Form that I have 1s dlfferent than the pam dlagram of the form from
Dr Toléntino.. '

(PX 13 at 27-28).
Dr. Michael Chabor — Respondent Section 12 Examiner

.Dr. Chabot exammed Petitioner at Respondent s request on December 13, 201 8. (RX 2).
Petitioner complained of severe, sharp, aching, and burnmg pain radiating into the nght leg. She
also described the pain as similar to an electrical shock at times. Petitioner complamed that she
could not sit for long periods and could only walk two blocks before having to rest. After
examining Petitioner and reviewing the dxagnostlc studxes and medical records, Dr. Chabot
diagnosed Petitioner with a history of minor L2 vertebral compression fracture, back pain, a neck
contusion/strain, a shoulder contusion/strain, a history of chronic musculoskeletal complaints with
a history of ﬁbromyai g1a and chromc narcottc use predatmg 1n3ury He oplned

“It is my opinion that the patient susta,lned contusmns to the C -spine,
shoulder and L- splne as a result of her injury. Her physical
examination today is devoid of objective physwal ﬁndmgs 10
suggest that she has residual abnormahtxes to the C-spine or L-spine
that could be directly ass_oczated with her_lnjury of 2/11/2018. She
appears to have a chronic history of musculoskeletal complaints,
which is poorly described in the su'pplied medical records.”

He further opined that Petitioner requ1red no further treatment relating to the work incident and
had reached maximum medlcal 1mprovement (“MMI™). I—Ie wrote:

“Based on her physical examination, itis my opinion that there is no
evidence of active radiculopathy involving the upper extremities. It
is my opinion that the tissue changes involving the C-spine and T-
spine are most likely chronic soft fissue changes associated with
underlying fibromyalgia, which is dlffuse and bilateral as noted on
her physn:al exammatlon : :
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Dr. Chabot did not believe Petitioner was a 'candid_ate for oervicel or lumbar surgical intervention.

Dr. Chabot authored an addendum report after reviewing additional records and diagnostic
studies on June 7, 2019. (RX 3). These records and studies 1ncluded pre-acmdent treatment
Petitioner underwent in 2017. He opmed that the findings of the January 2017 cervical MRI “..
not too d1_ss1m11_ar to the MRI findings on the study from 2/16/2018.” He also wrote: -

“These additional medical records clearly document that Ms. Damm
‘had a history of chronic neck and back pain complaints dating back

to at least 2009 with neck pain’ radlatrng into the shoulders and arms, . .
bilateral hand parestheSIas eiectrrc shockmgutype sensations i in the -
neck and upper extremities and a:chronic ‘Thistory of back pain
: complamts The conclusions 1 denved n my report dated

.12/ 13/201 8 remain unchanged ? - : '

The doctor testlﬁed via ev1dence deposmon on Respondent 5 behalf onlJ uIy 26 2019. (RX
4). Dr. Chabot is a board- certified orthopedlc surgeon and specializes in the splne  He testified that
based on the initial ER visit and subsequent records, he believed the only injuries causaily related
to the work accident are a head contusion, neck contusion, neck strain, shoulder contusion,
shoulder strain, and an injury to the left elbow. He testified that the addltlonal records he requested
and reviewed revealed a. long~establrshed history of chronic neck and back complamts going back
as far as 2009. The doctor testified that Dr. Tolentino’s records estabhshed Petitioner had a long
'h1story of diffuse’ symptoms mvolvmg the neck into the shoulders and arm and back’ complarnts :
(RX 4 at 17). He testified that'a note from 2016 revealed Petltloner had undergone substantial past
treatment for her chronic compiamts mcludlng trigger pomt injections, physical therapy, and pain
management. Dr. Chabot testified that by 2016 Petitioner had already seen one neurosurgeon and
he believed Dr. Tolentino: was the second neurosurgeon to examine Petlnoner Dr. Chabot further
tes’uﬁed that the pre~ac<:1dent records established that Petitioner had a history of comp}alnmg of
pain ratlng as hrgh as 7/ 10 and was usrng a vanety of medlca’nons to moderate her symptoms

Under Cross- examlnatlon Dr. Chabot testlﬁed that neither the unknown neurosurgeon who
exammed Petltroner before January 2016 nor Dr. Tolentino believed Petitioner was a candidate for
surgery before the work accident, Dr. Chabot testified that patients using narcotics long term
before spmal surgery have poorer outcomes not only due to the dependency which might ] lead them
to seek drugs with reports of pain, but also because there is an altered perceptxon of pain that occurs
with chronic use. Dr. Chabot did not review the June 201 Y cervroal MRIL -

Concluslons of Law .

Petitioner bears the burden of proving each element of her case by a preponderance of the
evidence. Sisbro, Inc. v. Industrial Comm 'n, 207 111, 2d 193, 203 (2003). When a claimant suffers
from a preexisting condition, the claimant must show that a work-related accidental injury
aggravated or accelerated the preexisting condition “...such that the [claimant’s] current condition
of ill-being can be said to have been causally-connected to the work-related injury and not simply

‘the result of a normal degenerative process of the preexisting condition.” Id. at 204. The
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Commasswn agrees WIth the Arbitrator’s conclusion that Petztzoner 5 current condition of 111-’oe1ng
regarding her lumbar spine is causally related to the February 11, 201 8 work accident. However,
the Commission finds Petitioner failed to meet her burden of proving her cervical spine complamts
are causally related to the work acmdent - -

The Cormmssmn affirms the Arbztrator s conclusion that PetItloner met her burden of
provmg her lumbar spine condition is. causally related to the February 11, 2018, work accident.
There is ample - evidence in the medical records that corroborates Petltloner s testimony that her
low back symptoms notlceably changed after the ‘work accident. Petltloner admittedly suffered
from si gmﬁcant low back and neck complaints since at least 2009. A review of the medical records
shows that Petitioner ‘was actlveiy treating with Dr. ‘Tolentino for her chromc neck and back
complamts justa few months before the work acmdent In December 2017, Petitioner complamed
of a diffuse burning sensation in the 1umbosacra1 region, prlmarliy over the nght SIjoint, She also
complalned of numbness and the sensation of pins and needles extendmg into her nght thzgh ;
Finally, she complamed of bilateral foot buming . and numbness. Petitioner: credlbly testified that -
after her work accident, ‘her low. back symptoms: changed and 51gn1ﬁcantly increased. Pet1t1oner
testified that followmg injury,. the pain radiated down her back into her right hip and leg. She aiso
testified that she is unable to raise her rlght leg w1thout using her hands. Addltlonally, there iIsa
marked difference between the results of the October 2017 lumbar MRI and the lumbar MRI
performed in Fe’oruary 2018. The most. obvmus change'is the compression fracture at L1 L2 first
seen in the February 2018 study Fmally, Dr. Gornet credlbly testified that the work accident
caused Petitioner’s pre—emstmg lumbar - spine condition to worsen. Dr. Gomet’s testlmony
regarding Petitioner’s ourrent 1urnbar condltlon compared to her pre—accxdent cond1t1on was
'detalled and well- reasoned : : : : -

Aﬂer careﬁllly consudermg the totality of the ev1dence the Commlssmn reverses the |
Arbltrator s conclusion that Petitioner met her burden of proving her cervical spine condition is
causally related to the work accident. The Commission finds the totality of the evidence supports
a finding that the work accident did not permanently aggravate or worsen Pe’utloner s si gmﬁcant
and chronic pre—acmdent cervical spine complaints. Petitioner’s cervical complalnts WETE SO severe
that she underwent two cervical MRIs in 2017, The most recent pre-accident cervical MRI was
performed approximately three months before the work acc:Ident Both of the 2017 cervical MRIs
revealed s1gmﬁcant muitﬂevci degenerative ﬁndlngs Add1t10na11y, the Commission finds
Petitioner’s complaints regarding her cervical spine did not significantly change followmg the
work accident. The medical records that predate the date of accident reveal Petitioner’s cervical
compiamts were significant and were her primary concemn. For example, in October 2017
Petitioner complained of neck pain described as a stabblng sensation with diffuse burmng
throughout the bilateral trapezius and 1nterscapular area that was worst on the left side. Petitioner
also Complamed of radiation of various symptoms down her arms as well as frequent headaches.
These symptorns are very similar to Petitioner’s post-accxdent symptoms. Petitioner testified that
she took narcotics primarily for her neck pain for five yeats prior to the work accident. Notably,
in October 2017 Petitioner rated her pain at 7/ 10 even with her use of narcotics.

Durmg his deposition, Dr. Gomet could not 1dent1fy specifically how Petitioner’s cervical
condition worsened or changed following the work accident. His inability to articulate specific
differences regarding the cerv1ca_1 spine complaints stands in stark contrast to the specificity with
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which he detailed the post-acmdent changes to Petitioner’s 1umbar ‘spine complaints. Dr. Gomet
testified that be believed the hemiations at C5-C6 and C6-C7 were aggravated by the work
accident. Similarly, he believed the work accident caused the protruswns seen at C3-C4, C4-C5,
and L5-S1. However, Dr. Gornet admitted that without reviewing the actual films from the
previous cervical MRIs, he could not confirm that the smaller protrusions were not present in 2017.
He also admitted that the MRI machine he used is stronger than the machine used in 2017, This
casts further doubt on his testimony that the work accident caused the smaller protrusmns at C3-
C4, C4-C5, and 15-S1. Given Petitioner’s protracted history of severe cervical spine complaints
with radiation into the upper extremities as well as headaches, the Comnnssmn is also skeptlcal of
Dr. Gornet’s testimony ‘that the larger hermatlons at C5-C6 and C6-C7 were aggravated by the
work accident. After all, this is not a case where a claimant was asymptomatlc prior to a work
incident. Instead, Petitioner’s cervical spine was in such poor condition that she was aet1ve1y
treating for her complamts two months before the work aceldent She also was takmg a steady
dosage of narcotlcs t0 treat thxs chronlc pam : -

_ Whﬂe there is no ev1dence that a doctor recommended cerv1ca1 splne surgery to treat
Petitioner’s chronic complaints prior to the work accident, the evxdence does show that Petitioner
had exhausted conservative treatment - for her cervical symptoms By the date of accident,
Petitioner had a}ready partlclpated m physical therapy and extensive chxroprac'ac care. Petitioner
also had already undergone numerous injections and was takmg extensive pain medication to
manage her symptoms. It is clear that none of this extensive conservative treatment prov1ded any
real relxef to Pet:tloner

Aﬁer closely rev1ew1ng the ev1dence the Comxmssmn finds the February 11, 201 8 work
accident did not permanently aggravate or worsen Petltloner s preexisting cervical spme eondmon
The Commission finds the totality of the evidence shows Petitioner at most sustained a temporary
aggravatxon in the form of a cervical strain or contusion due to the work accident. Petitioner’s
ongoing cervical complaints and her need for the recommended cervical disc repiaeement surgery
are related to her underlying pre-existing cervical spine condition. Therefore, the Commission
finds Petitioner’s current condition of ill- belng regardmg her cervical spine is not causaliy related
to the work accident. :

Due to the Commission’s ﬁndmg that Petitioner’s current condition of 111vbemg regardmg
her cervical spine is not causally related to the work accident, the Commission must also reverse
the Arbitrator’s award of prospective medical care in the form of the cervical disc replacement
surgery recommended by Dr. Gornet. The Commission further finds that Respondent is not liable
for medical expenses reIatmg to treatment for the cervical spine after September 9, 2019—the final
date of freatment with Dr. Gornet before the arbitration hearmg As the Commission finds the
current condition of ill- bemg regarding Petitioner’s lumbar spine is causally related to the work
accident, Respondent remains liable for any medical expenses that are reasonable necessary, and
related to the Petltloner g iumbar Splne condmon

Finally, the Commlssxon notes that its finding that Petitioner’s cervical condition is not
causally related to the work accident does not affect Petitioner’s entitlement to TTD benefits. After
all, Petitioner remains off work due to her ongoing lumbar spine complaints and has not been
placed at maximum medical improvement (“MMI”) by any of her treating doctors. However, the
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Comm:ssmn must clarify the award of TTD benefits. Although Petitioner sought TTD benefits
from February 12, 2018, through November 14, 2019, the parties stipulated that Respondent paid
all TTD benefits to Petmoner for the period of February 12, 2018, through June 21, 2019. Thus,
the only disputed period of TTD benefits is from June 22, 2019, through November 14, 2019, for
a total of 21 weeks. The Arbitrator Decision awards the full period of TTD, but does not: state that
Petitioner is entitled to a credit for the TTD benefits paid from February 12, 2018, through June
21, 2019. Thus, the Commission amends the Decision and clarifies that Respondent is entitled to
a credit for all TTD beneﬁts prev10usly paid.

The Commission otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator.

ITIST HEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Deelslon of the
Arbitrator filed on ] anuary 2, 2020 is modlﬁed as stated hereln

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Pet1t1oner s current condition of ill-being relating to her
lumbar spine is causaily related to the February 11, 2018, work accident. The Commission ﬁnds
Petitioner’s cervical spine condition is not causally related to the work acc1dent :

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall pay to Petltloner temporary total
disability benefits of $595.73/weck for 91-5/7 weeks, commencing February 12, 2018, through
November 14, 2019, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act. Pursuant to the stlpulatlon by the
parties, Respondent has paid all TTD benefits from February 12, 2018, through June 21, 2019,
Respondent shall be given a credit for temporary total disability beneﬁts prevaously paid to
Petitioner.

ITIS FUR’FHER ORDERED that Respondent shall péy reasonable _and necessary medical
charges, as provided in Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act. Respondent is not liable for any expenses
for treatment relating to Petitioner’s cervical spine provided afier September 9, 201 9.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Comnnssmn hereby vacates the award by the
Arbitrator of prospective medlcal treatment in the form of the cervical splne surgery recommended
by Dr. Gornet. :

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall receive credit for all amounts pald 1f
any, to or on behalf of Petxtmner on account of said accidental i 1njury

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that th1s case be remanded to the Arbitrator for further
proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only afier the latter of expiration of the time for
filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expired without the filing of such a
written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial proceedings, if such a written request
has been filed.
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent pay to Petxtloner interest pursuant to §19(n)
of the Act, if any

DATED:

FEB 3 - 2021 T T
0: 12/8/20 | | eaa_ Eome %:db%—_.
TIT/jds : _ Maria E. Portela :
51 | RN

DISSENT

-1 respectfully dissent from the opinion of the majority and would affirm the Decision of
the Arbitrator in its entirety. After carefully Cons1der1ng the totality of the evidence, I believe
Petitioner met her burden of provmg by a preponderance of the evidence that her current condition
ofill-being regarding her cervical spine is causally related to the February 11,2018, work accident.
Additionally, I believe Pet1t10ner met her burden of proving the recommended cervical d1sc
replacement surgery is reasonable necessary, and causally related to the a001dent '

Petmoner suffered a trauma‘ﬂc assault on the date of acc1dent and 1n3ured multlple body
parts mcludzng her neck and low back, Petitioner readily. admitted that she had a long history of
suffering from both neck and back paln It is also undisputed that Petltmner sought treatment
primarily for her chronic neck pain in'October and December 2017. Contrary to the majonty, _
believe Petitioner and Dr. Gomet testified credibly regardmg the differences in her pre-accident
neck pain compared to the pain she experienced after the work accxdent Dunng the hearmg,
Petitioner testified that before the work accident, her pain felt more like’ electric nerves going
through her body. She testified that it felt more like arthritic pain. Petitioner testified after the
accident, her neck feels “...like when you break a chicken bone, the cracking sound > There is
no evidence that Petlttoner suffered from this ¢ crackmg sensation in her neck pnor to the work
accident. Furthermore before the work accident Petitioner reported experiencing a “pins and
needles and numbness-type sensation” involving her hands, on the left greater than the right. She
suffered from daily frequent headaches and occaswnal electric shock sensations extending from
her neck into her bilateral upper extremities. On one occasion, Petttloner reported experiencing
muscle spasms mto her bilateral shoulder blades.

_ Her cervical complamts followmg the work accident are different. Following the work
accident, Petitioner’s complaints centered primarily on her neck pain radiating down to the left
shoulder and down the left arm. Petitioner no longer had complaints of bilateral pain. In fact, her
left shoulder complaints were so significant that her doctor ordered an MRI of the shoulder and
even performed an injection into the left subacromial space. Before the accident, there is no
evidence that Petitioner’s cervical pain radiated into her left shoulder with the same intensity. Dr.
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Gornet also credlbly testified that Petitioner’s neck pam changed after the work acc1dent He
testified that her pain became more severe due to the accident. He also testified that the work
accident ‘caused the smaller protrusions at C3-C4 and C4-C5. There is no evidence that these
smaller protrusions existed before the work accident. I believe the cred1b1e evidence clearly
supports a finding that Petitioner’s work accident worsened and even changed her pre-existing
degenerative cervwal spine. condltlon Given the totality of the credible evidence, I believe
Petitioner met her burden of proving her current condition of ill- being regardmg her cervical spine
is causally reIated to the work acc1dent As such 1 wouid award the recommended cerv1c31 disc
replacement surgery. : : : L

. For-the forgelng reasons I would afﬁrrn the Dec1swn of the Arbltrator in 1ts ent:rety
Petltloner clearly met her burden of proving her ongoing eerv1cal complamts are related to the
February 11, 2018, work accident. Furthermore, Petitioner met her burden of provmg the cervical
- disc replacement surgery recommended by Dr. Gornet is reasonabie necessary, and causaliy

related to the work acmdent o : S
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )

[ ] njured Workers® Benefit Fund ( §4(d)
)88, D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF MADISON ) [ ] Second Injury Fund (§8(¢)18)
None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
19(h)
Repina Damm Case # 18 WC 06363
Employee/Petitioner
V. Consolidated cases: n/a
State of IL/Chester Mental Health Ctr.
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each party.
The matter was heard by the Honorable William R. Gallagher, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Collinsville, on November 14, 2019. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Hlinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

3]

. D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
. D What was the date of the accident?

D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

& Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
. D What were Petitioner's earnings?

. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

D What was Petitioner’s marital status at the time of the accident?

- Empa®mgn

Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?
L

. What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[]TPD DMaintenance TTD
M. [:] Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. l_—_l Is Respondent due any credit?

0. D Other

TCArbDeci9(b} 2100 100 W. Randolph Streer #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611  Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site; www.fwceilgov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450  Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084
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On the date of accident, February 11, 2018, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the
Act. '

_ On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $46,467.35; the average weekly wage was $893.60.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 59 years of age, single with 0 dependent child(ren).

Respondent has not paid all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $0.00 for TTD, $0.00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and $0.00 for other
benefits, for a total credit of $0.00. The parties stipulated TTD amounts had been paid to June 21, 2019.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of amounts paid under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay reasonable and necessary medical services as identified in Petitioner’s Exhibit 1, as provided
in Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act, subject to the fee schedule. Respondent shall be given a credit of amounts paid
for medical benefits that have been paid, and Respondent shall hold Petitioner harmless from any claims by any
providers of the services for which Respondent is receiving this credit, as provided in Section 8(j) of the Act.

Respondent shall authorize and pay for prospective medical treatment including, but not limited to, the four level
cervical fusion recommended by Dr. Matthew Gornet.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $595.73 per week for 91 5/7 weeks
commencing February 12, 2018, through November 14, 2019, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act.

In no instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional amount of medical
benefits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS  Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this

decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE  If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the
Notice of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment,
however, if an employee's appeal Its in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

/{f/{f o December 28, 2019
William R. Gallagher, Arbitragéﬂr Date
ICArbDec19(b)

AN 2 - 020



Findings of Fact

Petitioner filed an Application for Adjustment of Claim which alleged she sustained an
accidental injury arising out of and in the course of her employment by Respondent on February
11, 2018. According to the Application, Petitioner was "Attacked by patient” and sustained an
injury to her "Left shoulder and elbow, head, back, body as whole" (Arbitrator's Exhibit 2). This
case was tried in a 19(b) proceeding and Petitioner sought an order for payment of medical bills
and temporary total disability benefits as well as prospective medical ireatment. In regard to
temporary total disability benefits, Petitioner claimed she was entitled to temporary total
disability benefits of 91 5/7 weeks, commencing February 12, 2018, through November 14,
2019, (date of trial). Respondent paid Petitioner temporary total disability benefits to June 21,
2019. Respondent stipulated Petitioner sustained a work-related accident, but disputed liability
on the basis of causal relationship (Arbitrator's Exhibit 1).

Petitioner worked for Respondent as a Security Therapy Aide. On February 11, 2018, a patient
attempted to leave his room and Petitioner tried to restrain him. The patient became violent and
attacked Petitioner, kicking her in the left side of her body which caused Petitioner to hit a brick
wall. At the time of the accident, Petitioner complained of left shoulder/elbow and neck pain
(Petitioner's Exhibit 12).

Following the accident, Petitioner sought medical treatment at Chester Memorial Hospital on
February 11, 2018. At that time, Petitioner complained of head, neck, upper back and left upper
extremity pain. A CT scan of Petitioner's thoracic spine was obtained which revealed a
compression fracture of L2 (Petitioner's Exhibit 3). :

On February 13, 2018, Petitioner was seen by Dr. Armida Hidalgo, her family physician. At that
time, Petitioner complained of pain in the left shoulder/elbow, neck and back. Dr. Hidalgo noted
Petitioner had sustained a compression fracture of L2 and she was already on narcotic pain
medications. Dr. Hidalgo ordered physical therapy and pain management (Petitioner's Exhibit 4).

At trial, Petitioner testified she had been treated for back pain prior to the accident by Dr. Paul
Tolentino, a neurosurgeon. Petitioner stated Dr. Tolentino treated her for arthritic back pain.
Petitioner described the pain she experienced prior to the accident as being like "electric nerves"
going through her body. After the accident, Petitioner said the pain changed significantly and she
now experiences a cracking sound in her neck as well as low back pain that goes into her right
hip/leg.

Dr. Tolentino's medical records were received into evidence at trial. Dr. Tolentino treated
Petitioner from October through December, 2017. And MRI of Petitioner's cervical spine was
previously obtained on January 17, 2017. According to the radiologist, the MRI revealed disc
bulges at C2-C3 and C3-C4 as well as desiccated disks at C4-C5, C5-C6, C6-C7 and C7-T1
(Respondent's Exhibit 6).

When Dr. Tolentino evaluated Petitioner on QOctober 18, 2017, she complained of neck and low
back pain, burning in the bilateral trapezius/interscapular areas and an occasional "electric
shock" extending from her neck into both upper extremities. Dr. Tolentino reviewed the MRI of

Regina Damm v. State of IL/Chester Mental Health Ctr. 18 WC 06363
Page 1
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January 17, 2017, and ordered MRIs of Petitioner's cervical and lumbar spine (Respondent's
Exhibit 6).

An MRI of Petitioner's cervical spine was obtained on October 31, 2017. According to the
radiologist, the MRI revealed multilevel degenerative spondy1051s and disc/osteophyte
complexes at C5-C6 and C6-C7 (Respondent's Exhibit 6).

An MRI of Petitioner's lumbar spine was obtained on October 31, 2017. According to the

radiologist, it revealed a disc protrusion at L4-L5 and disc bulges at 1.2-1.3, L3-L4 and L5-S1
(Respondent's Exhibit 6).

Dr. Tolentino saw Petitioner on December 13, 2017, and noted Petitioner had experienced neck
and low back pain since 2009. He reviewed the diagnostic studies and opined "...no
neurosurgical intervention is recommended at this time." He treated Petitioner with pain
medication and suggested a pain management evaluation (Respondent's Exhibit 6).

Petitioner sought treatment from Dr. Matthew Gomet, an orthopedic surgeon, on February 16,
2018. When seen by Dr. Gornet, Petitioner complained of low back pain referable to both sides,
but primarily in her right buttock/hip and down her right leg. Petitioner also complained of neck,
left trapezius/shoulder and left arm pain. Petitioner informed Dr. Gormet of the accident of
February 11, 2018, as well as the fact she had arthritic pain for many years and had been treated
by Dr. Tolentino in October, 2017. Dr. Gomet informed Petitioner that the assault she sustained
could have aggravated an underlying condition and that her current symptoms, at least at the
current level of severity, were related to the accident. He authorized Petitioner to be off work and

ordered MRI scans of Petitioner's lumbar and cervical spine as well as physical therapy
(Petitioner's Exhibit 5).

The MRI of Petitioner's lumbar spine was performed on February 16, 2018. According to the
radiologist, the MRI revealed a disc herniation at L1-L2 and a minimal compression fracture, a
small disk protrusion at L4-L5 and a minimal disc bulge at 1.5-S1 (Petitioner's Exhibit 6).

The MRI of Petitioner's cervical spine was performed on February 16, 2018. According to the
radiologist, there were disc herniations at C3-C4, C4- C5 and C5 C6 as well as dlSC protrusmns at
C2-C3 and C6-C7 (Petitioner's Exhibit 6). ' '

Dr. Gornet saw Petitioner on March 1, 2018, and ordered a back brace because of her 1.2
vertebral fracture. He noted Petitioner was taking a lot of Hydrocodone and recommended she

decrease her use of it. He continued to authorize Petitioner to remain off work (Petitioner's
Exhibit 5).

Because of Petitioner's ongoing complaints of left upper extremity symptoms, Dr. Gornet
referred Petitioner to Dr, George Paletta, an orthopedic surgeon. Dr. Paletta evaluated Petitioner
on April 11, 2018. At that time, Petitioner complained of left elbow pain. Dr. Paletta opined

Petitioner had post traumatic lateral epicondylitis of the left elbow. He ordered an MRI scan
(Petitioner's Exhibit 8).

Regina Damm v. State of IL/Chester Mental Health Ctr. 18 WC 06363
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The MRI of Petitioner's left elbow was performed on April 11, 2018. According to the

radiologist, there were minimal degenerative changes, but no evidence of a tendon tear
(Petitioner's Exhibit 6).

On April 13, 2018, Dr. Paletta reviewed the MRI scan. His reading of the MRI was consistent
with the rad1010g1st His impression was radiocapitellar arthrosis for which he recommended an
injection in the glenohumeral joint (Petitioner's Exhibit 8).

Dr. Gornet saw Petitioner on April 26, 2018, and noted she was continuing to take Hydrocodone.
He ordered physical therapy for her neck and back symptoms and continued to authorize
Petitioner to remain off work (Petitioner's Exhibit 5).

Petitioner was again seen by Dr. Paletta on May 30, 2018, and her left elbow symptoms had

“improved; however, Petitioner had complaints of left shoulder pain in addition to her ongoing
neck pain. The range of motion of the left shoulder was limited and Dr. Paletta's impression was
left shoulder impingement versus referral pain from her cervical issues. He opined Petitioner had
a "very complicated situation" because her shoulder/upper extremity pain could be coming from
the neck. He ordered an MRI scan to determine if there was any left shoulder pathology
(Petitioner's Exhibit 8).

An MRI arthrogram was performed on May 30, 2018. Accoi‘ding to the radiologist, the study
revealed supraspinatus thinning and tendinopathy, but no rotator cuff tear (Petitioner's Exhibit 6).

Dr. Paletta saw Petitioner on June 6, and June 12, 2018, for her elbow/shoulder symptoms. He
reviewed the MRI arthrogram and opined it revealed rotator cuff tendinopathy. He recommended
Petitioner undergo an injection in the subacromial space and to follow-up with medication and
physical therapy (Petitioner's Exhibit 8).

Dr. Gornet saw Petitioner on June 25, 2018, and Petitioner's primary complaints were low back,
right buttock/hip and right leg pain. He referred Petitioner to Dr. Helen Blake for steroid
injections (Petitioner's Exhibit 5).

Dr. Blake saw Petitioner on July 17, and July 31, 2018. On those occasions, Dr. Blake
administered steroid injections at L4-L5 and 1L5-S1, respectively (Petitioner's Exhibit 10).

Dr. Paletta saw Petitioner on August 6, 2018, and Petitioner continued to complain of left
shoulder/arm symptoms. Dr. Paletta reviewed the MRI of Petitioner's cervical spine and noted
there were significant findings at multiple levels. Dr. Paletta opined there was not significant
shoulder pathology and Petitioner's left shoulder/arm symptoms were of cervical origin. He
recommended Petitioner follow-up with Dr, Gornet (Petitioner's Exhibit 8).

Dr. Gornet saw Petitioner on September 17, 2018, and Petitioner continued to have low back and
neck symptoms. Dr. Gormet noted Petitioner continued to take Hydrocodone and opined
Petitioner was physically dependent upon narcotics. He recommended Petitioner undergo a
discogram at L4-L5 and L5-S1, but would not perform the studies until Petitioner was weaned

Regina Damm v. State of IL/Chester Mental Health Ctr. 18 WC 06363
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completely off narcotics. He referred Petitioner back to Dr. Blake for that purpose (Petitioner's
Exhibit 5).

Dr. Blake again saw Petitioner on October 4, 2018, and treated Petitioner through September 9,
2019. Dr. Blake's treatment consisted primarily of management of Petitioner's medications with
the goal of weaning Petitioner off of narcotics. When Dr. Blake saw Petitioner on June 13, 2019,

she noted Petitioner had successfully weaned completely off narcotic medications (Petitioner's
Exhibit 11).

At the direction of Respondent, Petitioner was examined by Dr. Michael Chabot, an orthopedic
surgeon, on December 13, 2018, In connection with his examination of Petitioner, Dr. Chabot
~ reviewed medical records and diagnostic studies provided to him by Respondent for medical
treatment provided to Petitioner subsequent to the accident of February 11, 2018. Dr. Chabot
opined Petitioner had a history of an L2 compression fracture, back pain, neck contusions/strain,
shoulder contusion/strain, history of chronic musculoskeletal complaints with history of
fibromyalgia, chronic narcotic use predating the accident of February 11, 2018, and tobacco
dependency. He opined there were no objective physical findings to suggest the abnormalities in
the cervical or lumbar spine were associated with the accident of February 11, 2018. He opined
Petitioner did not require any further medical treatment and was at MMI. However, he also
opined Petitioner could return to work, so long as her work duties did not involve "...client
physical control." Dr. Chabot also noted he wanted to review Petitioner's medical records for
treatment she received prior to the accident of February 11, 2018 (Respondent's Exhibit 2).

Dr. Gornet saw Petitioner on April 29, 2019, and noted Petitioner was completely off narcotics.
He also reviewed Dr. Chabot's report of December 13, 2018. Among other things, Dr. Gornet
noted that Dr. Chabot did not explain why an assault sustained by Petitioner which caused a
fractured vertebrae would not also cause low back, right buttock/hip and cervical spine
symptoms. Because Petitioner was off narcotics, Dr. Gornet ordered new MRIs of Petitioner's
lumbar and cervical spine (Petitioner's Exhibit 5).

Dr. Chabot reviewed medical records for treatment Petitioner received prior to Febmary 11,
2018, as well as medical records for treatment Petitioner had received subsequent to his
examination of December 13, 2018. Dr. Chabot opined Petitioner had a history of chronic neck
and back complaints dating back to 2009. He indicated that conclusions in his report of

December 13, 2018, remain unchanged (Respondent's Exhibit 3).

An MRI of Petitioner’s cervical spine was performed on June 27, 2019. According to the
radiologist, the MRI revealed disc bulges at C3-C4, C4-C5, C5-C6 and C6-C7 as well as a left
foraminal protrusion at C2-C3 (Petitioner's Exhibit 6).

An MRI of Petitioner's lumbar spine was performed on June 27, 2019. According to the
radiologist, the MRI revealed a lateral annular tear and protrusion at L4-1L5 and left lateral signal
intensity L5-81, likely an annular tear (Petitioner's Exhibit 6).

Regina Damm v. State of IL/Chester Mental Health Ctr. 18 WC 06363
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Dr. Gornet saw Petltmner on June 27, 2019 and reviewed both MRIs. He indicated he would
focus his treatment on the cervical spine and recommended Petitioner undergo disc replacement
surgery at C3-C4, C4-C5, C5-C6 and C6-C7 (Petitioner's Extubit 5).

Dr. Gornet saw Petitioner on July 11, July 22 and Septeﬁlber 9, 2019, Petitioner continued to
have low back and neck pain. Dr. Gornet renewed his recommendation Petitioner undergo
cervical disc replacement surgery (Petitioner's Exhibit 5).

Dr. Chabot was deposed on July 26, 2019, and his deposition testimony was received into
evidence at trial. On direct examination, Dr. Chabot's testimony was consistent with his medical
reports and he reaffirmed the opinions contained therein. Speciﬁcally, Dr. Chabot testified
Petitioner could return to work so long as her job duties did not requlre "ohysical restraint" of
patients (Respondent's Exhibit 4; p 20). ‘

On cross-examination, Dr. Chabot agreed that there was not a surgical recommendation made by
anyone prior to the accident of February 11, 2018. He testified the limitations he imposed on
Petitioner from restraining patients was based upon her age and "multiple co-morbidities” and
history of chronic complaints. He did not attribute the restrictions to the accndent Petitioner
sustained (Respondent's Exhibit 4; pp 24, 31 -33).

Dr. Gornet was deposed on September 19, 2019, and his deposition testimony was received into
evidence at trial. On direct examination, Dr. Gomet's testimony was consistent with his medical
records and he reaffirmed the opinions contained therein. Specifically, Dr. Gornet testified
Petitioner's lumbar and cervical spine complaints were caused/aggravated by the accident of
February 11, 2018. He also stated Petitioner should undergo disc replacement surgery at C3-C4,
C4-C5, C5-C6 and C6-C7, because of the disc pathology he diagnosed at those levels and it was
the only way to cure and relieve the effects of the work injury Petitioner had sustained
{(Petitioner’s Exhibit 13; pp 9-14).

On cross-examination, Dr. Gomnet agreed Petitioner had neck and low back symptoms which
predated the accident of February 11, 2018. However, Dr. Gormet stated Petitioner had different
symptoms after the accident, specifically, pain in the right buttock/hip and right leg as well as the
location of pain indicated by Petitioner in pain diagrams completed by her before and after the
accident (Petitioner's Exhibit 13; pp 21-22, 26-28). -

At trial, Petitioner acknowledged she had neck and low back pain prior to the accident of
February 11, 2018, which required medical treatment for which she took narcotic medication.
However, she testified the pain symptoms significantly increased following the injury at work.
Petitioner has not been able to work since the accident and wants to proceed with the treatment
recommended by Dr. Gornet, specifically, the four level cervical disc replacement surgery. -

Regina Damm v. State of IL/Chester Mental Health Ctr. 18 WC 06363
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Conclusions of Law
In regard to disputed issue (F) the Arbitrator makes the following conclusion of law:

The Arbitrator concludes Petitioner's current condition of ill-being in regard to her cervical and
lumbar spine is causally related to the accident of February 11, 2018.

In support of this conclusion the Arbitrator notes the following:

There was to dispute Petitioner sustained a work-related accident on February 11, 2018, when
she was assaulted by a patient she was attempting to restrain.

Petitioner had a pre-existing condition in her lumbar and cervical spine which required medical
treatment and was taking narcotic pain medication. However, Petitioner was able to work full

duty up until she sustained the accident on February 11, 2018, but has not been able to work -
since that time. -

Prior to the accident of February 11, 2018, Petitioner was treated by Dr. Tolentino, a
neurosurgeon, who ordered MRIs of Petitioner's cervical spine performed which revealed
abnormalities at multiple levels of the cervical spine. However, Dr. Tolentino specifically opined
that "...no neurosurgical intervention is recommended at this time.”

At trial, Petitioner credibly testified that her neck and low back symptoms worsened subsequent
to the accident of February 11, 2018,

Respondent's Section 12 examiner, Dr. Chabot, opined Petitioner had a history of chronic neck
and low back complaints dating back to 2009 and there were no objective physical findings to
support the claim that the abnormalities in the cervical and lumbar spine were related to the
accident. However, he opined Petitioner was at MMI and could return to work, but should not be
required to work where she would have to physically restrain patients.

Petitioner's primary treating physician, Dr. Gornet, agreed Petitioner had neck and low back
symptoms which preexisted the accident of February 11, 2018 but that her symptoms were
worsened by the accident of February 11,2018,

Dr. Chabot’s opinion that Petitioner is subject to a work restriction of not having to physically
restrain patients and that it is not related to the accident is difficult to comprehend given the fact

the Petitioner was able to work without restrictions prior to the accident, but is now unable to do
$0.

In view of the preceding, the Arbitrator finds the opinion of Dr. Gomnet to be more persuasive
than that of Dr. Chabot in regard to causality.

In regard to disputed issue (J) the Arbitrator makes the following conclusion of law:

Regina Damm v. State of IL/Chester Mental Health Ctr. 18 WC 06363
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Based upon the Arbitrator's conclusion of law in disputed issue (F) the Arbitrator concludes that
all of the medical treatment provided to the Petitioner was reasonable and necessary and
Respondent is liable for payment of the medical bills incurred therewith.

Respondent shall pay reasonable and necessary medical services as identified in Petitioner's
Exhibit 1, as prov1ded in Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act, subject to the fee schedule.
Respondent shall be given a credit of amounts paid for medical benefits that have been paid, and
Respondent shall hold Petitioner harmless from any claims by any providers of the services for
which Respondent is receiving this credit, as provided in Section 8(j) of the Act.

In regard to disputed issue (K) the Arbitrator makes the following conclusion of law:

The Arbitrator concludes Petitioner is entitled to prospective medical treatment including, but
not limited to, the four level cervical disc replacement surgery recommended by Dr. Matthew
Gornet.

In support of this conclusion the Arbitrator notes the following:

As noted herein, the Arbitrator found the opinion of Dr. Gornet to be more persuasive than that
of Dr. Chabot in regard to causality.

Dr. Gornet made the recommendation Petitioner undergo cervical disc replacement surgery after
Petitioner was completely weaned off of narcotic medications. Dr. Gornet credibly testified the
surgery was the only way to relieve the effects of the work injury.

In regard to disputed issue (L) the Arbitrator makes the following conclusion of law:

The Arbitrator concludes Petitioner is entitled to temporary total disability benefits of 91 5/7
weeks, commencing February 12, 2018, through November 14, 2019.

In support of this conclusion the Arbitrator notes the following:

Petitioner has been under active medical treatment and authorized to be off work for the
aforestated period of time.

VY s

William R. Gallagher, Arbitrator

Regina Damm v. State of IL/Chester Mental Health Cir. 18 WC 06363
Page 7
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers” Benefit Fund (§4(d))
- - )8S. | IX] Affirm with changes [ Rate Adjustment Fund (§3(2)
COUNTY OF McLEAN ) [] Reverse | L] second njury Fund ($8(e)18)
' : : _ D PTD/Fatal denied
[] M_odify o None of the above
'BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION
BETH HUDDLESTON, . R A R
Pe:titioner,' . 2 1 I w C C 0 0 5 1
s, - N 19WC14163
KERRY AMERICAS,
Respondent

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Tirnely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Respondent herein and
notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of causation and medical
expenses,” and being advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the
Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, but makes clarifications as outlined
below. The Commission further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further proceedings for a
determmatlon of a further amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for
permanent disability, if any, pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Comm1ss10n 78 T.2d 327, 399
N.E.2d 1322, 35 11.Dec. 794 (1980). :

The Arbltrator wrote, “On October 17, 2019, Dr. Hanson examined Petitioner and
diagnosed her with continuing left SIA, ACA, and possible SLAP tear.” Dec. 2. We note that
Petitioner was not seen by Dr. Mark Hanson on that date. Rather, she was seen by Katie Hanson
and there are no fitles or designations listed for her in that record. Also, the diagnosis was “SAI”
(subacromial impingement); not “SIA.”

The Arbitrator wrote, “On September 4, 2018, Ms. Steele, NP-C, at IWIN diagnosed
Petitioner with AC joint separation with a differential diagnosis of dislocation, fracture and/or
rotator cuff tear....” Dec. 4. We hereby replace “September 4, 2018,” with “July 23, 2018.”
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All else is afﬁrmed and adopted

_ IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMM]SSION that the Dec131on of the
Arbltrator ﬁled March 20 2020, is hereby afﬁrmed and adopted w1th the clanﬁcatlons noted
above

N IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
ﬁ Arbltrator for further prooeedmgs consistent with  this Decision, but only after the latter. of
- expiration of the. time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expn‘ed

without the- ﬁlmg of such a: ‘written tequest, or after the time of completlon of any Jud1c1al
proceedmgs if SU.ch a written request has been ﬁled : .

: ITIS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay o Petitloner'
_ interest undet §19(n) of the Act, if any. ' -

. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
' for all amounts pa.td 1f any, to or on behalf of Petxtloner on account of said accidental i 1nJury

Bond for the removal of t.l:us cause to the Cn'cult Court by Respondent is hereby ﬁxed at
the sum of $10,000.00. The party commencing the proceedmgs for review in the Circuit Court
shall ﬁle with the Commission a Notlce of Intent to Flle for Rev1ew in Circuit Court. '

DATED:. FEB 3T 2021

SE/
0: 1/12/21
49

Kathryn AMDoerries



_ . SATION COMMISSTON
T '”—_NOTICE OFW'T 9(b) ARBiTRATOR E)ECISION

HUDDLESTON, BETH B ~ Caseft 19WC014163

EmployeelPet:tloner o _ : . | '
'KERR_Y-AMERICAS | 21 I WC CO 0 5 1
Employer/Respondent | ' : : .

On 3/20/2020, an arbﬁranon dec;sgon on thls case was filed mth the Illinois Workers Compensatlon Comm1ss;0n in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed :

If the Comm1ss10n reviews this award inferest of 0.30% shali accrue from the date hsted above to the day before the
date of payment however 1f an empioyee s appea1 results in e1ther no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall
not accrue . . . _

A copy of this decision is mailed to the féHowing'péfti‘es:

0564 WILLIAMS & SWEE LTD
JEAN A SWEE o
2011 FOX CREEK RD
BLOOMINGTON, I 61701

4136 TESTAN LAW

MARCY BENNETT

150 S WACKER DR SUITE 2130
CHICAGO, IL 60606
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )

[ injured Workers® Benefit Fund (34

COUNTY OF McLEAN 2})91 i % @ e % 0 5 1D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))

D Second Injury Fund (§8(c) 18)
None of the above

. ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

- ARBITRATION DECISION
T em)
Beth Huddleston Case # 19 WC 14163
Employee/Petitioner
v. Consolidated cases: N/A
Kerry Americas
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Gerald Granada, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of

Bloomington, on 2/25/20. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
{indings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. [1Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

[ JwWas there an employee-employer relationship?

[_1 Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner’s employment by Respondent?
[ ] What was the date of the accident?

[ Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

[ ] What were Petitioner’s earnings?

[| What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

[ ] What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

[X] Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

L. [_] What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[T1TPD [] Maintenance []TTD
M. [_] Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

N. []Is Respondent due any credit?
O. I:] Other ___

ICArbDecI9b) 2/10 100 W.Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611 Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwee il.gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450  Peoria 309/671-3019 Roclford 815/987.7392 Springfield 217/785.7084
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On the date of accident, 7/23/18 Respondent was operating under and subject to the provmlons of the Act.
On tlns date an employeeemployer relanonshlp did ‘exist between Petitioner and Respondent

On this date Petmoner did susta:m an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment

Timely notice of this acadent was given to Respondent

Petitioner’s current condltlon of ili- be:ng is causally related to the accident. . :

In the - year precedmg the i In_]ury, Petluoner earned $33, 800. 00: the average weekly wage was $650 00

On the date of acc1dent Petn:[oner was 63 years of age, smgle with 0 dependent chﬂdren

Respondent qus not pald all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medlcal _'
semces : : s . : _ :

Respondent shal] be given a credit of $0 for TTD $0 for TPD, $0 for mamtenance and $D for. other beneftts
fora total credit of $0

Respondent is enﬂtled toa credtt of $0 under Sectlon 8(]) of the Act

)

ORDER

Respondent shall pay reasonable and necessary medlcal services, pursuant to the medlcal fee schedule of
$1,829 1o Fort Jesse Imaging, $2,217.35 to IWIN, and $2,070 to MclLean County Orthopedics, as
provided in Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act. Respondent shall be given a credit for any medical bills which
have been paid by its workers’ compensauon carrier. Respondent is ordered to rennburse Petmoner in'the
amount of $139 40 for ptescnptlon COS(S she has paid out of pocket. S

Respondent is ordered to authonze and pay left shoulder surgery as recommended by Dr. Hanson conslst:mg of
a subacromial dec_ompressmn dlstal clav1cle resecnomng and possﬁ)le blceps tenodests as pr0v1ded in Secnon
8(a) of the AcL - . o .

In no instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent heanng and determmanon of an addmonal amount of
medical beneﬁts or compensatton for a temporary or pennanent dlsablhty 1f any

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petztzon for Rew,ew w1th1n 30 days after recelpt of thls
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules then thlS demsmn shall be entered as the
decision of the Commlssmn o . _ _

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Connmssmn reviews tlns award, interest at the Iate set forth on the Notice
of Decision ofArthranr shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment;
however, if an employee S appeal results in either no change ora decrease in thls award 1nterest shall not
accrue. _ _ _

3/19/20

Signature of Arbitrator Gerald Granada ' : Date

Beth Huddleston v. Kerry Amerh:as, wwe 14163 - Icnlbeec19(bl . : M AR. 2 0 2020
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This case involves Petitioner Beth Huddleston, who alleges to have been injured while working for the
Respondent Kerry Americas on July 23, 2018. Respondent disputes Petitioner’s claim, with the issues in
dispute being: 1) causation; 2) medical expenses; and 3) prospective medical care.

INGS O (04

Petitioner worked as a sanitor in Respondent’s a cereal extrusion factory on July 23, 2018. Herjobasa
santtor involved cleaning and mopping the floors and walls. On that date, Petitioner was pulling a cart
carrying 200 pounds of product when the cart became stuck. She pulled the cart and felt a jerk with a
subsequent popping in her left shoulder. She pulled the cart again and felt a second jerk in her left
shoulder. Petitioner noticed immediate left shoulder pain and reported the injury to Respondent, who
referred Petitioner to IWIN for evaluation.

Later that day, Petitioner saw nurse practitioner Michelle Steele at IWIN. Petitioner noted left shoulder
pain that had begun at work that day while pulling a cart. She was referred to an orthopedic doctor, and
diagnosed with a dislocated shoulder and left humerus with joint separation. Petitioner was provided with
a shoulder immobilizer, Norco, Ibuprofen, and was told to return to work with no use of the left arm, and
to follow up in 3-5 days. (Px. 2) ' '

On July 27, 2018, Petitioner returned to IWIN with complaints of sharp and aching left shoulder pain.
Her left shoulder pain was noted to have decreased from her prior visit. She was again diagnosed with a
dislocation shoulder Left humerus with joint separation and referred to see an orthopedic doctor. She

was given medication, provided with work restrictions, and told to follow up after her orthopedic visit.
(Px. 4, p.4-5).

On August 1, 2018, Petitioner saw orthopedic surgeon Dr. Armstrong, to whom she reported a work-
related left shoulder injury with an onset of July 23, 2018. Dr. Armmstrong x-rayed the petitioner’s left
shoulder and diagnosed grade 2 acromioclavicular separation, subacromial impingement and biceps
tendinitis. Dr. Armstrong injected her left shoulder and her LCA biceps, prescribed prednisone and
Mobic, and gave Petitioner a work restriction for her lefi upper extremity. Dr. Armstrong instructed
Petitioner to return for an MRI if her pain did not resolve in 4-6 weeks; otherwise she was directed to

follow up on an as-needed basis. Px3)
On August 3, 2018, Petitioner returned to see Michelle Steele at IWIN with worsened left shoulder sympioms
and a poor range of motion due to pain. (PX 4) On August17, 2018, Ms. Steele noted Petitioner’s decreased
range of motion and difficulty with fastening a bra, and Ms. Steele prescribed continued restrictions of limited
use of the left arm, physical therapy, ice/heat therapy, range of motion exercises, and Melogicam. (PX 4, p.p.
8,9) The August 24, 2018 physical therapy records noted Petitioner’s left shoulder had 90% ROM flexion,
90% ROM abduction, and 90% ROM exiernal rotation positive apprehension sign. (PX 4, p.22) On
September 4, 2018, Ms. Steele noted that Petitioner had improvement with her symptoms, that her pain is
generally /10 but on occasion with certain movements, she will have 6/10 pain in her anterior biceps region.
Ms. Steele released Petitioner to retumn to work without restrictions and referred her to Dr. Ziad Musaitif for a
final evalvation. (PX 4, p. 13, 14) Ms. Steele diagnosed Petitioner with AC joint separation with a differential
diagnosis of dislocation, fracture and/or rotator cuff tear. (PX 4, p. 14) Petitioner saw Dr. Musaitif on
September 5, 2018, who released Petitioner to base line and stated she was at MML. (PX 4,p. 15)
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While Petitioner tféaté_d fi Qf _her_ Iuly 23,2018 s_hqﬁlde_r injury, she also conéuﬁfréhﬂy'tréated_ with Dr.
Oakey, an orthopedic surgeon at McLean County Orthopedics, for bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome
related to an April 2, 2018 date of accident (see caption 19 WC 002656, case not consolidated for
arbitration). The August 13,2018 records from Dr. Oakey stated that Petitioner had ongoing carpal
tunnel syndrome and that they were awaiting workers’ compensation approval for surgery. (PX 7, p.p.
14-16) - L L T T A

Petitioncr testified that after Dr. Musaitif at IWIN released her on Septernber 5, 2018, she hiad continued
left shoulder pain, which increased the more she used her left arm at work. - She also had bilatéral hand.
pain from her April 2, 2018 accident, for which she was awaiting approval for bilateral carpal tunnel -

Péfitidner_tes_tifiéd_ﬂlat sﬁe'}éa’med 11113€:c6mber 2018 that Ré_épondant was cigjéing'its factory in
February, 2019. Petitionier had been employed by Respondent for over 10 years and she said that she

wanted to continue working until the factory closed. -

On February 12,’_2019, Pe_tit_ipner underwent a Section 12 exam with Dr. Balaram for her bilateral carpal
tunnel claim. In the February 14, 2019 IME report, Dr. Balaram opined that Petitioner’s work activities
contributed to the bilateral carpal funnel diagnosis and that Petitioner would benefit from bilateral carpal
tunnel releases. (PX 11) ~ o R R R

On February 6, 2019, Petitioner saw Dr. Armstrong’s partner, Dr. Hanson, who took a history that -~
Petitioner had continued left shoulder pain and symptoms following a work related injury to her left
shoulder on July 23, 2018 when she was pulling a two wheel cart that got stuck on a door frame. Dr.
Hanson stated that Petitioner pulled the cart and felt a pop in her shoulder. - Dr. Hanson nioted that =
Petitioner had continued pain and symptoms with ROM and ADLs as well as continued weakness in the
left shoulder. On exam, Dr. Hanson noted tenderness of the acromioclavicular joint, bicipital groove, and
rotator cuff. Dr. Hanson diagnosed continued AC joint pain status post-low grade separation, possible
RCT, SLAP tear.. Dr. Hanson ordered an MRI taken on February 27, 2019 that showed mild marrow -
edema at the inferior posterior boney glenoid and mild capsular and boney hypertrophy of the left
acromioclavicular articulation with small undersurface osteophytes (PX 6). -On March 6,2019,Dr. *
Hanson stated that Petitioner had pain of the left shoulder joint, subactomial impingement of the left
shoulder, and that she likely had a tear of the superior glenoid labrum of the left shoulder. Dr. Hanson
recommended that Petitioner undergo a left shoulder arthroscopy SAD, DCR, and possible BT. (PX 8,
p-p. 7-9) ' ' S .

On March 14, 2019, Petitioner underwent a right carpal tunnel release with Dr. Oakey. On April 9, 2019,
Dr. Okey performed Petitioner’s left carpal tunnel release. (PX 8, p.p. 14-17). OnJuly 22, 2019, Dr.
Oakey placed Petitioner at MMI as it related to her bilateral carpal tunnel claim. (PX 10, p. 4)

*On October 17, 2019, Dr. Hanson examined Petitioner and diagnosed her with continuing left SIA, ACA.,
and possible SLAP tear. Dr. Hanson recommended left shoulder arthroscopy SAD, DCR, possible BT
Dr. Hanson noted that physical therapy, NSAIDs, and injections did not help, and prescribed Prednisone
and Tramadol for severe pain only. (PX 12, p.3) On February 14, 2020, Nicholas Von Holten, P.A. at
Dr. Hanson’s office, examined Petitioner’s left shoulder and found decreased ROM of the left shoulder
with tendemess of the AC joint, the bicipital groove, the rotator cuff and the posterior joint, for which
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Mir. Van Holten prescribed a Medrol Dose Pack and refilled her traradol pending surgery. (PX 14)

On July 18, 2019, Respondent’s Section 12 IME Dr: Neal drafted a report. Dr. Neal noted that
Petitioner’s symptoms included the inability to rotate her arms behind her back to fasten her bra, pain in
her left shoulder at night, pain if she reaches above shoulder level, and ongoing pain like a “sword”
through the shoulder. (RX 1, p.p. 4, 5) On exam, Dr. Neal noted Petitioner’s limited range of motion in
her left shoulder and indicated that impingement testing could not be truly assessed because of the fixed
range of motion and the uncomfortable Hawkins testing. (RX'1, p- 8) Dr. Neal diagnosed Petitioner
with left shoulder adhesive capsulitis which was also commonly referred to as “frozen shoulder.” Dr.
Neal noted that Petitioner denied having any shoulder symptoms prior to her J uly 23, 2018 accident and
that the only injury she sustained to her left shoulder was the July 23, 2018 work accident. Dr. Neal
indicated that from the description of the July 23, 2018 accident, Petitioner sustained a soft tissue
strain/injury whose symptomatology completely resolved by September 5, 2018, Dr. Neal stated that he
would not conclude that there was any malingering and that he did believe Petitioner developed left
shoulder adhesive capsulitis, however he was uncertain of the ori gin of her adhesive capsulitis due to a 5
month gap in Petitioner’s treatment. (RX 1, p. 18)

Int his October 21, 2019 report, Dr. Hanson stated that Petitioner’s MR was negative for cuff tear and
labral tear, but that his March 6, 2019 exam was consistent with a subacromial impingement, AC joint
pain, status post-separation, and a SLAP tear. Dr. Hanson stated that plain MRIs frequently miss SLAP
tears and that an MR arthrogram is often required to pick this condition up — which he suspected was the
case with Petitioner. Dr. Hanson noted that Petitioner did not have shoulder pain prior to her July, 2018
injury and that he believed that the work injury resulted in the low grade separation, subacromial
impingement, and a likely SLAP tear. Dr. Hanson recommended a shoulder arthroscopy with
subacromial decompression distal clavicle resectioning and a possible biceps tenodesis. (PX 1)

Petitioner testified that she did not experience any left shoulder pain prior io her July 23, 2018 accident.
She experienced improvement after her August 1, 2018 steroid injection with Dr. Armstrong, but she had
a gradual worsening of pain and loss of range of motion sometime thereafter. Petitioner continued to
cxperience left shoulder pain and she ireated with Dr. Hanson on February 6, 2019 because of the
ongoing increasing pain. After the steroid injection wore off, her left shoulder had increased loss of
range of motion, that was painful and caused difficulties with lifting, blow drying her hair, and reaching
behind her back. Petitioner testified that she was ready and willing to undergo the surgery as
recommended by Dr. Hanson. : ' '

CONCLUSION W

1. With regard to the issue of causation, the Arbitrator finds that the Petitioner has met her burden of
proof. In support of this finding, the Arbitrator relics on Petitioner’s credible testimony, the medical
evidence from Petitioner’s medical providers and Dr. Hanson’s namative report. The Arbitrator notes
that Respondent is in agreement that Petitioner sustained a work accident on J uly 23, 2018 injuring her
left shoulder and that Petitioner’s treatment rendered at IWIN on Respondent’s referral through
September 5, 2018 was causally related to the accident. Respondent denies treatrment after September 5
2018, the date Dr. Musaitif placed Petitioner at MMI and Petitioner had been released to return to work
after noted improvement in her left shoulder. The Arbitrator notes that the Petitioner did return to work
and testified that her arm condition worséned with work activities, which supports the Petitioner’s claim
that she did not reach MMI. '

>
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~ The Arbitrator notes that the medical providers have made similar diagnoses throughout Petitioner’s

treatment.. On September 4, 2018, Ms. Steele, NP-C, ait IWIN diagnosed Petitioner with AC joint
separation with a differential diagnosis of dislocation, fracture and/or rotafor cuff tear: on August 1,
2018, Dr.'Armstrong diagnosed Petitioner with Grade I1 acromioclavicular separation, subactomial
impingement, and biceps tendonitis; and on October 21, 2019, Dr. ‘Hanson diagriosed Petitioner with low
grade separation, subacromial impingement, and likely SLAP tear. Dr. Hanson recommended left -
shoulder arthroscopy to freat the subacromial impingement and AC separation with subacromial
decompression and distal clavicle resection; and possibly a biceps tenodesis if Petitioner’s bicep is torn,
Dy. Hanson’s recommended surgery is consistent with the earlier diagnoses made on August 1,2018 and
September 4, 2018. The Arbitrator also notes that Petitioner did not have any prior injury to her Teft
shoulder before her July 23, 2018 accident, has had ongoing pain which has intensified since her
accident, and that she has had 1o other intervening injury to her left shoulder. The Arbitrator finds
Petitioner’s testimony, as corroborated by the medical records; is credible and concludes that based ona
preponderance of thé evidence, Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being in her left am and her need for

surgery, is causally related to her July 23, 2018 work accident.

2. Based on the Arbitrator’s conclusion on the issue of causation, the Arbitrator further finds that TR
Petitioner’s medical treatment for her left shoulder thus far has been reasonable and necessary in treating -
her work related condition. The Arbitrator Orders Respondent to pay all medical expenses relating to the
treatment of Petitioner’s left shoulder, subject to the fee schedule, as set forth in Petitioner’s exhibit 13:
$1.829 to Fort Jesse Imaging, $2,217.35 to IWIN, and $2.070 to McLean County Orthopedics, as
provided in Section 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.” Respondent shall be given a credit for any medical bills -
which have been paid by the workers’ compensation carrier. The Arbitrator further Orders Respondent
to reimburse Petitioner in the amount of $139.40 for prescription costs that she paid out of pocket.

3.  Consistent with the Arbitrator’s conclusions above, the Arbitrator orders Respondent to authorize and
pay for the prospective medical treatment for Petitioner’s left shoulder consisting of surgery as
recommended by Dr. Hanson, which includes a subacromial decompression, distal clavicle resectioning,
and possible biceps tenodesis. .~ . ' ST .
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- STATE OF ILLINOIS L ) D Afﬁmﬂ and adopt (no changes) D Injurcd Workers Benefit Fund §4(d)
- 88 | [ At withchanges - | [_] Rate Adjustment Fund (58()) -
_cou_N'_rY OF CHAMPAIGN ) [] Reverse [ ]secondTnjury Pund (58@19)
e [ L] prorFatal denied. -
_j ._ M'odi'fy @ e .None of the above

_ BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

| ._:.-B(.)NITA.CR(.)S.S _' o I e e
| Pet1t1oner, A 21 Iwccoosz
= vs R . No; 18 WC 2618 -
o | ERRTE R AP L 18WC6E71
_CHAMPAlGN COUNTY HEADSTART T

Respondent

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

R ’I‘1rnely Pet1t10n for Rev1ew havmg been ﬁled by the Pettttoner and Respondent herem :

_ and notice gtven to all parties the Commtsswn after eons1der1ng the i issues of causation, .

' temporary total dtsabdlty benefits, medical beneﬁts and permanency, and bemg advised of the .
facts and law, modifies the Decision of the Atbltrator as stated below and otherwise afﬁrms and
adopts the DGCISIOI’I of the Arbxtrator Whlch is attached hereto and made a part hereof '

The Comm1ss1on afﬁrms and adopts the de0131on of the Arbztrator as to causatton ;
temporary total dlsabthty beneﬁts, and medical, but modifics thé ; permaneney award, 1ncreasmg o
it from lO% loss of the person as a whole to 15% loss of the person ¢ asa whole DA

Pettttoner met her burden of proof that her shoulder CODdlthH subsequent surgery and
3 attendant care Were causally related to her two work i injuries. Petitioner eredlbly testified that she
-~ did not have any pl‘lOI' physwal hmltatmns or problems w1th her nght arm or shoulder (T 18)

On September 20 2()1 7, }’ehttoner testaﬁed she fell when a child crawled between her o
legs This mechanism of i injury is corroborated by the. medlcal records and Respondent does not
dispute acczdent Pet1t1oner sought medical treatment the same day and was placed on work
restrictions. Petitioner followed up five days post~ac01dent and was referred to physwal therapy
- (T. 24) Petitioner followed up a month later with continued symptoms to the nght arm and _
- shoulder and was 1nstructed to contlnue physxcal therapy ?etmoner followed up w1th Dr. Chen
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at Occupatronal Medrcme on Novernber 8 20} 7 At that tlme she was referred to orthopedrcs
per her request : > : o

On November 21 12017, Petrtroner was seen ‘oy Br1an Cummrngs wzth contrnued L
: cornplamts of pain and sweihng He recommended Petitioner resume physwal therapy (T. 30)

- On December 18,2017, when' Petrtxoner returned to Mr Cummmgs ‘e referred her to the Carle

Spme Center as her right sided pain was located in thet upper shoulder and. neck. Her shoulder -
‘exam was benign, except: she had trnghng in‘her hand. On Jz anuary 15,2018, Petrtroner returned
. to Mr. Cummmgs She reported that therapy seemed tobe. aggravatmg her rlght arm, so it was

" discontinucd. She was referred to Dr. Gurtler whom she saw ] January 30, 2018.In the 1nter1m, :
. she was seen by, Dr. J ohnson at the Sprne Center for her neck and a cervrcal MRI was ordered
-(T35) _ S e _

K When Petltroner saw Dr Gurtler on January 30 201 8, he noted she had a normal S

o shoulder Her primary cornplalnt was pain in the dIStai 3rd of the humerai area. (Px4) In February '

- of 2018, Petitioner returned to Dr. Johnson to review the results of her MRL Dr. T ohnson ruled
L out cerv1ca1 radrculopathy and recommended addltronal physrcal therapy (T 37) '

- On F ebruary 21, 2018 whde workrng wrth oider chrldren Petrtroner sustamed another
accrdent Whlle attempting to’ Testraii a child and was hit and klcked (T 39) This accident is not -

o in dlspute Petitioner returned to Dr. Chen wrth complamts of are- injury to her right shoulder

- Dr. Chen took her cornpletely off work. and ordered an MR Arthrogram of her right shoulder."

L Respondent s workers’ compensatlon carrier drd not authorize the right shoulder MR arthrogram, s

o _-'_so Petrtloner went through her. group insurance to. obtaln same. The MR Arthrogram showed a

- - SLAP tear. {Px6) Petitioner followed up with Dr. Chen. who egreed she suffered from a SLAP

tear. (Px7) On May 8, 201 8 Petrtroner followed up wrth Dr Gurtler $ ofﬁce and surgery was’
'recommended (Px9) ' e R T

- Petrtroner underwent surgery on I une 25 201 8 fol!owed by therapy through Decernber
- 12 2018. Perrodlcally, she also followed up with Dr. GurtIer s office durmg that time. (T 49)

. Petitioner was released to rétirn to work with restrictions beglnnmg October 29, 2018. She .

- followed up with Bnan Cummmgs for the last time on’ November 26, 2018 and was released to _
_ full duty. (T 5 1-2) Petttloner contrnues to have problems wrth hﬁrng, but has not sought further g
' 'medrcal treatment and is not on prescnptlon medlcatrons (T 65) IR L

_ . Petltroner s treatlng orthopedlst Dr. Gurtler was deposed on Septernber 6, 2018 He

" admitted he mlsdlagnosed Petitioner in January of 2018. (Px27,p. 1 1) He explamed that

~ Petitioner’s presentatron was confusmg However, when he saw her in May, based on the
location of the pain, ‘cervical MRI arid MR Arthrogram Dr. Gurtler agreed with Dr. Chen that

Pet1t10ner sustained a SLAP tear and that it was causally related to her work injury. (Px27, p. 12)

Dr. Gurtler aiso recommended a b1ceps release because of the persistent Iump in her arm. (Px27,

p. 15) Dr. Gurtler opmed that Petitioner’s need for surgery was caused by one or both of the

work accidents. (Px27 p 17) : o
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Petrt1oner underwent an mdependent medroal examrnatron W1th Dr Nogalskr on Aprll 17
2018. AII of the tests he performed on Petitioner caused some pain, but not in the shoulder —an
area where one would expect a positive test for the biceps or rotator cuff issues. (Rxl p <12} Dr.

Nogalski also reviewed the MR Arthrograrn performed on Aprll 3,2018, ‘but did not agree that it - '

* showed a SLAP tear, contrary to the interpretations of the radiologist, Dr. Chen, or Dr. Gurtler s
(Rx1, p. 13-14) Dr. Nogalski further opmed that Petitioner had nght neck trapemal and postenor A
scapular pain without clear neurologic or anatomic. oorrelatron and had a lnstory of right shoulder
contusion, which seemed to have resolved (Rxl p: 21) Dr: Nogalsk1 did not agree that Petrtroner '
had any speo1ﬁc shoulder issue. He also oplned that exams by Petitioner’s treaters showed

" resolution of her right shoulder symptoms prior | 1o seelng Dr. Gurtler in 1 anuary.of 2018. (Rxl p.
22) He provided a supplemental report based on records review, dated August 15,201 8. He:

~ found Mr. Flannell’s exam to be-ared hemng as Mr. Flannell' was an athletic trainer and found
- _posztrve tests that all other examiners, including himself, found to be. negatlve He also rev1ewed
the operatrve report and did not agree with Dr. Gurtler. that the surgery performed was necessary.” -
(Rx1,p.27) He addmonally opined. that Petitroner s mechamsm of1 injuries would not fit with a-

o SLAP tear. (Rx1; p. 30) He also believed Petitioner was at rnaxrmum medrcal 1mprovement from_

the September 2017 aocrdent before she saw Dr Gurtler (Rxl p 66)

Petltloner had no prlor medlcal treatment or problems w1th her nght arm. Addxtronally,

- there was: 1n1t1ally a questlon amongst providers if the 1 pain was generated by her nieck or

shouldet. Petitioner had ongoing and continued complamts of pain, as well as a lump that ‘had

. formed in her arm, followrng her work. accident of September of 2017 Petitionler had a clear {.

B _;aggravatlon with more specific complamts of pain to the Shoulder followmg the F ebruary 21,0 -
2018 accident. By April of 2018, followmg her MR Arthrogram a SLAP tear was ldentlﬁed and B
3 .'conﬂrmed by multlple medleal provrders . _ : _ RIS

_ The Commrssmn ﬂnds that Dr Gurtler was more persuasrve than Dr. Nogalskr regardrng
B causatlon Although Petltloner 'S presentation was 1n1t1ally confusmg, even Dr. Gurtler admitted
- he mrsdlagnosed Petitioner on their initial v1s1t in January of 2018. Dr. Nogalsk1 S op1n1on that _
: _the MR Arthrogram did not show a labral tear Was not persuasrve : -

o The Cornrmssron mod1ﬁes the Arbrtrator S award from 10% Ioss ofa person asa whole to
- 15% loss of person as a whole In applymg the five factors of Seetron 8. l(b) the Comm1ss1on
. ﬁnds . S N . : :

: l) No 1mpa1rment ratmg submrtted s0. thrs factor is grven no welght -

2) Petmoner worked as a chlldoare prov1der/pre -school teacher and was able to return to the

' equwalent of her prior position, though credibly test1ﬁed she now needs assistance to -
- perform some of her tasks in the form of workmg with older children. She has to-have

* another teacher assist her in l1ft1ng chﬂdren and with supplies. Add1tlonally, although she .

‘no longer has formal restrictions, she has ongorng physrcal l1m1tat10ns asa result of her '
. mjurles This factor 1s given greater weight. - ;
3) Petitioner was 54 years old at the time of the accident and arguably has several ‘working
- yearsin her future This faetor is gwen some welght
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4) There 18 no ev1dence that Petrtroner s future earnmg capacrty has beeu impacted as she
has returned to the same type of job. that she held pre—rnjury Thls factor is grven l1ttle
weight:
5) The Petrtroner s dlsabﬂrty is corroborated by the medrcal records Pet1t1oner had
" . consistent and ongoing treatment regardlng her i ght shoulder and nght arm. Although

her complamts as to the location of her pain varied, the consistent. cornplalnts of pain and -~ '

: _lrmrtatrons present after her. two und1sputed work injuries, and nltrmate surgery, were
- credible; Petitioner saw. several different. medrcal provrders in attempts to diagnose ‘and
Tepair her. problem with Dr.’ Gurtler ultlmately dragnosmg the SLAP-tear based on the
'_MR Arthrogram Dr. Gurtler surgrcally reparred the SLAP tear and also noted a rlght

~shoulder arthroscopic brceps release and open 1 removal of the biceps. from the b1c1p1tal
“groove. At the time of drseharge, Petrtloner reported continued laggmg of strength and
-~ also stated she ‘could not be the, only adultina classroom with children in:case there’ was
Can emergency where the chrldren would need to be hﬁed Th1s factor 18 grven greater

- _' 'werght

o R The Cormmss1on also corrects the followrng senvener $ errors l) o page 7 of the L
Arb1trator s decrsron the Commission' replaees “Dr. Gurtler” with “Dr. Chen” in the second to .
“last and last sentence. of the first paragraph 2) on page 14 of the Arbitrator’s dec1sron the e

S 'Comrrnssron replaces “Dr Gurtler” w1th “Dr Chen” in the ﬁrst sentence of the last paragraph

| All else 1s afﬁrmed and adopted

. IT IS THEREF ORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to
Petltroner the sum of $415.83 per week for a penod of 35 4/7 weeks, from February 22, 201 8

' _through October 29,-2018; that belng the penod of ternporary total 1ncapaclty for: work under

-§8(b) of the Act. Respondent shall receive a credlt for the $5 904. 34 1t has already pard in. -

i 'ternporary total d1sab1lrty beneﬁts

_ _ IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petltloner": :
the sum of $374. 25 per week for a period 0f 75 weeks, as provided in §8(d)2 of the Act, for the
_reason that the 1n}ur1es sustamed caused the 15% loss of the person asa whole S _

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petrtroner. |

- the reasonable and necessary medical services for Petitioner’s nght arm and shoulder from

' 'September 21,2017 through December 12, 2018 for medlcal expenses under §8(a) ofthe Act
subject to the fee $chedule in §8 2 of the Act. Respondent shall be given a credit of $21, 470.84
- for medrcal benefits that have been pald and Respondent shall hold Petltloner harmless from any
claims by any provrders of the services for whlch Respondent is recexvmg thrs eredrt as provrded
in §8() of the Aet : : :

T IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petltroner.
_mterest under §l 9(n) of the Act if any

: IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credlt
) for all amounts pard if any, to or on behalf of Petltloner on account of sald accrdental mgury
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Bond for the removal of tlus cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at

the sum of $19,512. 00 The party commencmg the proceedlngs for review in the Circuit Court
: shall ﬁle w1th the C0mm1ssmn a Notlce of Intent {4 Flle for Rev1ew in C1rcu1t Court S

DATED FEB 3 2021

'_-._-MEP/dJmn
0:121520 -
49
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On 7/9:’2019 an arb1trat10n decrsmn on thls case w as’ ﬁled W 1th the ﬂhnoxs Workers Compensation o
'C‘ommissmn in Chieago a copy of whmh is enclosed ' SR

If the Commzssron rev;ews th;s award mterest of 2 07 Ya shall accrue from the date E1sted above to the day

before the date of payment h(m ever, if an employee s appeal resultb in elther no change ora decrease in thlS B

award, mterest shall not, accrue
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© 3260 SPIROSLAWPC .. """
WILLIAM P SCHMITZ

/2807 N VERMMILION ST SUlTE 3
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BRUCEL BOVDS : S
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
T oSS
"COUNTY OF CHAMPAIGN )

D Injured Workers” Benefit Fund (§4{(d))
D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))

D Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)

@ None of f_he above -

[LLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

_ ARBITRATION DECISION _
BONITA CROSS, o o Case # 18 WC 2618
Empioye’e/PetitEoner- o _ : _ ' '
v ' o Consohdated cases: 18 WC 6791
CHAMPA]GN COUNTY HEAD START-RANTOUL

Emp[oyerfRespondent o

- An Applzcatzon for Aajrustment of Clazm was filed in thzs matter and a Notzce of Hearmg was. malled to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Maureen Pulia, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of

_Champalgn on 6/13/19. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings
on the dlsputed issues checked below and attaches those findings to this document

DISPUTED iSSUES .

A. D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent’?
. [_] What was the date of the accident? '

D Was timely notice of the accident glven to Respondent’? :

- Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causaﬂy related to the injury?

D What were Petitioner's earnings? '

D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

] what was Petitioner's ma.rltal status at the time of the accident?

. Were the medical services that were prov1ded to Petitioner réasonable and neeessary'? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical servxces'r’
K. . What temporary beneﬁts are in d1spute‘7
[1tPD . []Maintenance =~ [XJTTD
L. . What is the nature and extent of the injury?
M. D Should penaltles or fees be 1mposed upon Respondent‘?
N. D Is Respondent due any cred1t‘7 _
O. D Other -

A—«E*mcnrﬂ_mmow

ICArbDec 2/10 100 W. Randolph Sireet #8-200 Chlcago IL 60601 312/814 6611  Toll-free 366/332-3033  Web site: www.iwee. il gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-345G  Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084

Page |



FINDINGS T P g e _ _
~On 9!20[1 7 and 2/21]18 Respondent was operatmg under and subject to the prov1s1ons of the Act
_ '._.On thrs date an employee employer relatronshrp dld exrst between Petruoner and Respondent :
' On thls date Petltloner dld sustarn an acmdent that arose out of and in. the course of employment _
g T1me1y notrce of thls acmdent was grven to Respondent : _ _. | | ' .
B Petltroner s current condrtron of 1ll—be1ng is causally related to the accrdent
.In the year precedmg the 1njury, Petrnoner earned $32 435 00 the average weekly wage was $623 75
; _On the date of accrdent Petrtloner was 53 years of age marrzed w1th no dependent chlldren R
-'._:Pet1t1oner Ims recelved all reasonable and necessary medlcal servrces 8 . | .
: Respondent has pard all approprrate charges for all reasonabie and necessary medlcal serwces

:ReSpondent shall be grven a credlt of $5 904 34 for TTD $00 00 for TPD $00 00 for rnamtenance, and _
SOD 00 for other beneﬁts for a total credlt of $5 904 34 S

: Respondent is entrtled to a credtt of $21 470 84 under Sectton 8(]) of the Aet

- _ORDER

5 :-Respondent shall pay Petrtloner temporary total disabﬂrty beneﬁts of $415 83/Week for 35—4[7 weeks, o _
' commencing 2/22/18 through 10/29/18, as provrded in Section 8(b) of the Act. Respondent shall recelve
: 'credrt for the $5 904 34 1t has already pald in temporary total disabrlrty beneﬁts ROra

-' .'Respondent shall pay reasonable and necessary med1ca1 serv1ces for petrttoner s rlght arrn/shoolder frorn
- 921/17 through 12/12/18,. as provrded in Seet1ons S(a) and 8 2 of the Act. '

" "-'Respondent shall be gwen a credlt of $21 470 84 for medrcal beneﬁts that have been pa1d and Respondent shall
hold petitioner harmless from any claims by. any provrders of the serv1ces for whrch Respondent is recervmg thls
credlt as prov1ded in Sec’non 83) of the Act. ' . : SO S . '

-__Respondent shall pay Pctrtloner permanent partlal d1sab111ty beneﬁts of $374 25/week for 50 weeks, because
the rnjunes sustatned caused the 10% loss of the person asa whole, as provrded in Seetron 8(d)2 of the Aet

'RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party ﬁles a Petztzon for Revzew wrthln 30 days after recerpt of thrs C
decision, and perfects a review in accordance wrth the Act and Rules then tlns dec1s1on shall be entered as the
_.decrs1on of the Commrssron I SRR -

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commrsswn reviews thls award rnterest at the rate set forth on the Notzce
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment however,
if an employee ] appeal results in elther no ohange ora deorease in thls award interest shall not accrue.

7219
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' THE ARBITRATOR HEREBY MAKES THE FOLLOWING FiNDINGS OoF F ACT

Petrtroner a 53 year old Early Head Start PreschooI Teacher sustalned an aec1dental 1n]ury to-her ri ght :
shoulder that arose out of and in the course of her employment by respondent on 9/20/ 17 and 2/21/ 1 8 _
.Petltroner had worked for respondent for 3. 5 years on 9/20/ 17 She atso had concurrent employment at Lrttle :
Wlngs Learnmg Center where she worked before and after school w1th respondent Respondent was aware of
i petltroner s concurrent ernployment Pettttoner denled any problerns Wlth or treatment for her rlght shoulder
: '.'prror to 9/20/ 1 7 Petrtloner testrﬁed that she was also able to perform all her full duty acttvrtres w1thout any

' problems

Petrtroner S dut1es for respondent as: a preschool teacher 1ncluded operatrng a classroom, changmg drapers,
| servmg meals putttng the chlldren down for naps playmg w1th the chrldren potty tramlng the chlldren and
3 'takmg care of the toﬁet needs of the chrldren Petltloner also had to stock supphes for the classroorn and hft
chrldren up and down off the ehanglng ta‘ole and 1n and out of htghchalrs She also put cots out for nap tnne
Petrnoner was requrred to hft up to 50 pounds The chlldren she worked wrth ranged in age from 6 weeks to 3

- years old

_ Petrtroner s dutres at thtle ngs Learmng Center were hefore and after her work for respondent She
| wasa ﬂoater, and Worked in the early classrooms She also drove a bus 1oefore and after school She
' .determlned the currlculum potty tramed the ch_rldren changed drapers and stocked supplles These tasks
requlred her to llft the chlldren | ' R ' '

On 9/20/ 17 petrtroner was on the playground playmg wnh the krds She had ‘oubbles in one hand and a-
chp board 1n the. other As she went to turn- and walk away to another area, a toddler crawled between her legs :
and her legs got tangled up as she tned to walk away As a result she fell onto her rtght shoulder and nght srde
onto the concrete She testlﬁed that her upper rtght arm ‘made contact Wrth the ground first and then her rlght
side. She testiﬁed that her body Jerked and she had parn in her rrght srde frorn her necl( to her leg Petrtloner .
1mmed1ately reported the mJury to her drrector and 1ce was apphed to her shoulder and neck area. She was sent

to Dr. Phllbert Chen at Carle Oceupatlonal Medlcrne that same day

She gave Dr Chen a hlstory of a trtp and fall tnjury She reported that a small chrld appeared out of |
nowhere m front of her In an attempt to try and avoid trrpplng on the chtld she trted to jump over him and fell
landmg hard on her rlght shoulder and rrght srde She reported the rnost parn to her rlght shoulder and elbow
She also reported some strffness and achrness in her neck An exammatron revealed tenderness over the rrght
- _shoulder area and tenderness over the AC Jomt regron She reported some dlfﬁculty wfth abductxon Otherw1se _'

g she had farrly full range of motron She had achrness on the rrght 51de of the neck and a sense of tlghtness
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Petitioner had tenderness over the right elbow and prox1ma1 forearm She had full extensmn and flexion,
X-rays of the rlght eibow and shoulder showed no obvious fractures. Dr. Chen assessed a severe contus1on to

the right shoulder and rlght elbow areas. He released her to ofﬁee type work with no hftmg

On 9/25/17 she returne_d‘ to Dr. Chen and_ reported that she Was domg better overaH, but her right shoulder
and right elbow still hurt, Petitioner had sareliing' over the .right arm that was more noticeable. She still had
difficulty with abduction, and pain over the upper trapezius area. She still had swelling over the lateral arm
whee she hit the ground Shie had some tenderness over the elbow, and some mild drscomfort over the extensor
muscle group of the prox1ma1 arm. She was assessed with a rrght shoulder strain, rtght lateral eprcondyhtrs and

a contus:on Dr. Chen referred peutloner fo therapy. Her restrictions were continued. Dr, Chen g_ave hera

forearm brace. ; '

On 10/11/17 petitioner followed up with Dr. Chen. Her elbow pam was a little better. Her shou!der pam
was about the same, and she _w_as_unab_ie to raise her shoulder above horizontal without some pain. She had -
good movement across the elbow,_“ﬁexio'n and extension and rotation. She stil_i had swelling over the distal arm
above the elbow. She was assessed with a right shoulder strain, impingement, right lateral epicondylitis and
distal right arm contusion, Dr. Chen continued oetitioner in therapy. She was restrieted with lifting limited to 5
~pounds, and work only below shoulder level. He did not want her working With small children only the older

kids. On 10/25/17 she was again seen by Dr, Chen and her condrtlon assessment and restrictions remained
unchanged

On 11/8/17 petitioner retumed to Dr. Chen. She still had a lump over the rrght arm Just distal to the
deltotd regron She noted that therapy was not really helping. She stated that her shoulder really did not hurt
much She was abIe to fully abduct and mternally and extemally rotate Her 1mp1ngement symptoms had.
” improved, as well as her right elbow and wrist. Her main complalnt was the tenderness over the mid rrght arm
just distal to the deltord An exammatmn revealed that petrtloner still had swelhng, that Dr. Chen thought felt
tike a little hematoma She was assessed w1th a severe confusion of the rlght arm with a hematoma Dr. Chen

referred petmoner to orthopedtcs at her request He still restneted her. from hftmg, espec1aIly kids.

On 112V/ 17 petmoner was seen by physman s ass1stant Brlan Cummmgs in Orthopedlcs She prov1ded a
consistent htstory of the accident.. Petttloner s right arm was stﬁl sore and swollen. She reported dtfﬁculty with
hftlng any heavy objects ot hﬁrng her arm out away from her body She also reported aehmg at night. -
Followmg an exammatlon and x-rays that showed very mtld glenohumeral arthntrs and mlld AC Jornt arthritis,

: Cummmgs assessed r1ght shouIder and rlght arm contusron with a small retamed hematoma Cummmgs

recomrnended that petltroner resume physwal therapy He presertbed ice, Vo}taren tOplcal gel and NSAIDS
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He restrrcted her from llftmg over 5 pounds no overhead work and 10 repetltlve rnotrons or foroeful grip with
'rrght upper extremrty She was also restrreted to only workmg wuh the older chrldren that drd not need to be -
' hfted or picked up. ' ' IR ' '

E On 12/ l 8/1 7 petltroner returned to Cummrngs She reported her parn as more- of a tmghng electrlcal
' .'radlatrng parn all the way down from her shoulder to her forearm wrrst and hand 1nto her ﬁngertlps I-Ier motor
: 'ﬁ.mctron for the ulnar, medlal and radral nerves was mtact An exarn of the shoulder showed she was domg '

really well and had very good range of mot:lon She had no motlon deﬁ01ts and negatlve horrzontal eross arm

- *Hawkms, Neer s Speed’s and o’ Brren s Overall she had a very bemgn shoulder exam except that all the '

: maneuvers exacerbated the tznglmg 1ssues 1n her hand Petrtloner was Instructed to eontrnue in therapy She

'was also referred 1o the Sprne Center Her restrretrons remalned the same

_ On l/ 15/ 18 petrtloner returned to Cumrmngs ‘She reported that the therapy seemed to be aggravatlng her

| rrght shoulder so Curnrmngs d1scont1nued 1t She contmued w1th pam 1n the mtd trrceps that showed very
subtle thlckenrng and swellmg to the tlssue tender to palpatron Her shoulder exam was qurte bemgn ‘She had _
. mrld dlffuse pam Wlth shoulder mampulatron but no real foeally posrtlve exarn ﬁndrngs Cumrnlngs had no

3 reason other than the contusron for the patn in her rlght arm Cummrngs referred petrtroner to Dr., Gurtler Her _

- restrlctlons were contmued

On 1/24/ 18 petltloner presented to Dr V10tor1a Johnson for her cerv10al spine She gave a con51stent
hlstory of the me'y and her complarnts Petrtloner had full range of motion of her neck and no tenderness
'_Followrng an exarnmatron Dr J ohnson s assessment was eervrcal spondylosrs with radrculepathy An MRI of _
“her eervzcal splne was recommended Her restrrctrons were eontmued X-rays of the Spll’le showed stralghtemng

of the eervreal splne

On 1/3 0/ 18 pet1t10ner presented to Dr Robert Gurtler for her r1ght shoulder Her prlmary complamt was -
pain in the d1stal 31 of the humeral area He was ‘of the oplmon that it was not really shoulder pain, but Was in |
_ the area where she had the eontusron Dr Gurtler noted that the MRI of the eervrcal sprne had not yet been
" done He drd not believe her complamts were related to her shoulder He beheved it was related to the .

' contaswn He could: not rule anythmg out Wlth respect to the cervrcal sprne He noted a normal shoulder

On 2/9/ 1 8 petrtroner returned to Dr J ohnson after undergomg her cervrcal sprne MRI on 2/6/1 8 She
noted that the only abnormahty was a rnrld d1sc bul ge at CS C6 w1th an annular tear She saw no forammal
__'narromng She d1d not thmk petrtroner s arm parn was comrng from a cervzcal radreulopathy Dr J ohnson |

"recomrnended addrtlonal physwal therapy for the neck

'-._P.age6 S



On 2/21/ 18 presented to Dr. Chen following a new injury that day. She reported that she re-hurt her right
shoulder agaln whrle trymg to restrain a child. She reported that neither Dr, J ohnson or Dr. Gurtler had been
helpful in locahzmg her symptomatology and then the new injury occurred An exarnmatlon revealed
dlscomfort over the entire right shoulder area. She had difficulty wu:h abduction, and still had a hematoma over
the lateral r1ght arm from her prev1ous mjury She was also tender. She was able to forward flex a little easier.
She had some mild discomfit over the AC jomt With rotation to the right she had a funny feehng around the
neck and the trapezms area. He reviewed the results of the MRI of the cervical spine and assessed r1ght sided

shoulder area pain aggravated from prror injury. Dr. Gurtler referred petltloner for an MR arthrogram of the
right shoulder Dr Gurtler took petltroner off work. ' '

On 4/ 3/ 18 pet1t1oner underwent a mght shoulder arthrogram The i 1mpressron was suggestlve of a SLAP IV
tear; small subscapularls recess bursms, mild degenerattve changes of the AC joint effacrng the fat over the

musculotendmous ]unctlon of supraspmatus Wthl’l may produce pos1t1onal nnpmgement and enlarged axﬂlary

lymph nodes

On 4/6/18 petitioner returned to Dr. Chen. He noted that she had a pretty significant labral tear. He noted
that she was still having difficulty with the shoulder. He assessed a right shoulder SLAP lesion. He referred

petitioner for an orthopedic consultation. He continued her off work.

On 4/17/18 petitioner underwent a Section 12 examination performed by Dr. Michael Nogalski, at the
request of the respondent. She provided a consistent history of the injury on 9/21/17 (sic) and her treatment to
date. She complained of constant pain in her right shoulder, and stated that herishou_lder hurts “all the way
down”. She stated that she felt as though her shoulder was weightless and felt heavy : She stated that driving

caused her to have drffieulty wrth her symptoms WhICh were predorrunantly symptoms along the trape21al area
i on the back of the shoulder blade She reported parn that went down to the srde of her right shoulder and pam :
that radrated down to the arm. She noted that reachmg and lifting made it worse Petrtroner also reported some
mcreased pain whlle helpmg to restram a chrld on 2/2/ 1 8 (sic). She reported that she was kicked and hrt by the
child and noted some increase in her pain. She reported that she had to help. restram the child. She denied any
problems with her rrght shoulder before 9/21/18. Dr Nogalsk1 performed an exammatlon and a record rewew
On examrnahon Dr. Nogalskr could not 1dent1fy any focal weakness with respect to the rotator cuff funcuon He
noted actwe range of motlon to 160 degrees forward ﬂexron and ahductron w1th some complarnts of pam 1r1 the
_ trapezzal area upon full forward ﬂexron and abduetlon External rotatlon was 70 degrees mtemal rotatron was
to T10. She had a negatrve 1mpmgernent srgn, Speed’s and Yergason s maneuvers, but they caused some pam in

the left trapezral and poster1or scapular regron Her scapular functron appeared normal wrthout wrngmg She
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" had tenderness on the medral border of the scapula and superior scapular boarder near the greater scapula and
rhombord 1nsertron regrons She: had normal motor strength at and below shoulder level with some breakaway
weakness due to pain | in the trapezral area upon maxrmal muscle testrng above shoulder level Her crossover
maneuver Was negatlve and shoulder stablhty tests were normal Her neurovascular exam of the rrght upper

'_extremlty was mtact

_ Followmg hrs examrnatlon and record revrew Dr Nogalskl s 1mpressmn was rrght neok trapezral and
_posterror scapular pam wrthout clear neurologrc or anatomrc correlatron vath hrstory of rrght shoulder contus1on

b whrch appeared to be resoived HIS other 1mpressron was a hlstory of clalmed leﬁ 51ded symptoms after a .

_-2/21/ l 8 event wrthout any drscrete complamts regardmg that 1ssue on examlnatron Dr No galskl was of the - |
o oplnron that petltloner had some myefasclal or rruld neurologlc symptoms in her rrght neck and Scapular regron _' |
He could not 1dent1fy any a specrﬁc shoulder rssue other than some 1n1t1al complalnts noted by Dr Chen w1th
respect to 1mp1ngement He noted that petrtroner had con51stently not demonstrated any problems wrth respect
‘to the rrght shouider He was ef the oprmon that petrtroner $ Ob_] ectrve muscular ﬁndrngs as welI as test results

| wzth respect to the cervrcal spme and shoulder d1d not 1dentrfy any speerﬁc traumatrc 1ssues to be addressed He
' _could not 1dent1fy a spec1ﬁc d1screte hematoma or abnormahty on the MRI that would Obj ectlvely correlate wrth

__ her symptoms whrch appeared to be resolved

Dr Nogalskr s dragnosrs was rlght neck and posterror medlal seapular paln wrth predornmantly a
myofascral component He was of the oplmon that grveu her two accrdent her dragnosrs mrght or could be S
'.related to the 2/21/ 18 or: September 2017 event He was of the oplmon that trrgger pomt 1nject10us 1n these
_ reglons may help shed some dragnostrc msrght and potentral therapeutrc beneﬁt If th1s drd not help, he drd not
thmk there was anythmg else to help her neck or rrght shoulder He was of the op1ruon that consrderatlon could
be glven to eprdural sterord 111_]601:10115 rf mdlcated by a pam management specrahst Dr Nogalskr drd not '_
-1dent1fy any srgmﬁcant ﬁndmgs on the MRI to support that she has a remarkable annular tear that would be o
symptomanc He belreved petrtloner hkely had some mrld spondylolytle 1ssues but had a relatrvely patent
foramrna and drd not appear to have a radlcular component to her syrnptorns Dr Nogalskr d1d not beheve
petrtroner S Ob_] ect1ve ﬁudrngs elearly supported her subJ ectrve complalnts He was of the oplrnon pet1t1oner

could work full duty

Petltroner underwent physrcal therapy for her neck frorn 4/3/ 1 8 through 4/23/ l 8 at Carle Foundanen
Hosprtal On 4/23/ 18 therapy was put on hold pendrng doctor recommendatrons grven the results of the MRI

On 5/ 8/ 1 8 petrtroner returned to Dr Gurtler and was seen by the doctor and lns sports trarner J ohn Flannell : _' :

' who took the hrstory and d1d a physrcal before Dr Gurtler saw her She reported that she had not been maklng
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any progress in'physical therapy. She stated that she continued to have pain. She also reported numbness and
tmglmg into her arm. She reported that her symptoms were exacerbated by overhead movements, reachrng

| across her body, and long lever movements away from her body ‘She reported that she could not lift more than
5 pounds overhead An exarmnatlon revealed maxxmum tendemess over the AC jomt and Iong head of the

"orceps She had pam and orepltus wrth passrve range of motion. She had 30 degrees of shoulder extension, 150

_ degrees of shoulder flexion, 90 degrees of shoulder abduot1on and 60 degrees of shoulder external rotatlon at0
degr_:e_es_ of a_bdu_ctron._ Petitioner could not get her h_and to her belt. _Dr_. _Gurtle_r was of the opinion that

| petitioner ind_e_'e_d ha_d a SLAP tear and this was _c_onsistent udth_her symptoms sinee her injury m 2017. He was

of the opinion that this Was why she had complaints in the whole arm. He tzvas of the opinion that the SLAP tear

was the souree of her paln and started Wrth her injury. Dr Gurther reeommended a rzght shoulder arthroscoprc

surgery wrth b1ceps release. '

On 6/25/ 1 8 petrtloner underwent a rlght shoulder arthroscoplc brceps release and superror labral
debrrdement wrth open removal of blceps from b1crp1tal groove extra—artlcularly This procedure was
performed by Dr. Gurtter Her post-operative diagnosis was right shoulder biceps and superror labral tear with

breeps adhered in the bicipital groove. Petitioner followed-up post- operatrvely with Dr. Gurtler. This treatment
included a course of physical therapy.

On 7/ 6/18 petitioner foilowed-up with Dr. Gurtler. She was domg weH overati On 7/11/18 petitioner

| began a course of post—operatrve phys1ca1 therapy She remarned in therapy

- 'On 8/3/18 petltroner was seen by Cummmgs She had a small amount of ke101d1ng and hypersensrtrvrty
She was contmued in physrcal therapy She was able to flex to 150 degree and abduct to 100 degrees On

| 'external rotatlon she had about 45 degrees as eompared to 75 degrees on the Ieft On 1nternal rotation she was

| ”able to reach to the bottom of her r1ght back h1p pocket Cummrngs beheved she could return to work with X

restrletrons of ofﬁce type work as of 8/ 6/18. He restrreted her to mostly left hand work 1no heavy llftmg with

‘the right’ upper extrermty, and 1o classroom Work or ofﬁoe work

On 8/ 15/ 1 8 Dr Nogalskl drafted an addendum regardmg petrtloner after rev1ew1ng adchtronal records from
Carle Clinic 1ncludmg records from Ftanneﬂ and Dr. Gurtler from 5/9/ 18 through 7/6/18. He also revrewed
arthroscopzc photographs He was of the oplnlon that the rotator cuff appeared intact. He noted some | _
| generalrzed superror 1abral ohanges and b1eeps/super1or labral inisertionial ehanges in the rlght shoulder He saw
no appremable 1nstab111ty of the saperror 1abra1 brceps compIex Dr Nogalsk1 was of the oplnlon that the -
: histories petltzoner provrded chnreal assessments; and ob]eetwe tests. drd not support that a specific injury

oeeurred He beheved her ehmoal presentataon was not one that dlscretely resuIted in biceps tendon or superror
. S B Page 9 _
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._ labral patholcgy ﬁndlngs He beheved that a pattent 1n thezr 40 s or 50’s wouid have the same findmgs as 8

' 'petrtloner had in her shoulder at the tlme of the arthroscopy His. rev1ew of the operatwe photos d1d not support _. h

_ :objectlve Valldatlon that she sustamed an 1n_]ury 11’1 her rlght shoulder reglon Addrtlonally, he Was of the

' opmlon that petltloner s symptorns had been 1ncons1stent and non-supportlve for a superlor labral tear or b1ceps '

o tendon 1nsert10n sne 1njury He was also of the oplrnon that petttroner s shoulder complatnts were not con51stent

g -'anatomwally wzth a ‘orceps or labral m_;ury He beheved that the MR arthrogram study and operatrve ﬁndmgs

- jdld not support unstable b1ceps or labral mJ ury that would cause symptoms and would certamly _ot cause the

_ -group of symptoms that she _'
.4/ 1 7/ 18 exam d1d not support a blceps tendon or superlor labral 1nj ury Dr Nogalskr noted that Flannell s
.'.ﬁndlngs on evaluahon on 5/ 8/ | 8 were not vertﬁed by Dr Gurtler Dr Nogalsk 'was of the 0p11’1:: ' n that the

-'petlttoner s syrnptorns were subjecttve 1n nature and dld not correlate specnﬁcally Wlth hiceps/labral complex

: mjury He was fmther of the optmon that the mer € xtstence of thrs anatonnc abnormalrty (whtch 1s fatrly
"common 1n her age group) m a 54 year old would not reasonably correlate w1th the m;ury frorn her 2/21/ 1 8 _
' _'-'.event nor from her prevmus September of 2017 event He was of the oplmcn that he never saw a purple b1ceps o

tendon as a chronlc tendmopathlc tssue srnce thls would 1mply an acute process posmbly related to the

p ion: done by Dr Gurtler dunng surgery He dld not beheve that Dr Gurtler s operatlve ﬁndmgs venfy L :

.' ;_':or document that there had been an acute cr retatlvely recent mpny dattng back to the clauned 2/21/ 1 8 event

On 8/23/ l 8 pet1t10ner was in a motor Vehlcle aoc1dent and was taken by ambulance to Carle ernergeney _

: department Petltloner was restramed and 1t was a low unpact rear end at low speed accrdent She reported

'_ mplauned of after e1ther ev _nt. He was of the opuuon that hrs ﬁnchngs dunng hls TRk

: 'shoulder and neck pain There was m1n1mal damage to her vehlcle She reported that the accrdent exacerbated o

B 'the pam m her rlght shonlder She had no numbness or tInghng X—rays of the rrght shoulder and cervrcal w1th - -
_spme were nonnal She was exanuned and assessed wnh a muscle stram Pet1t1oner testlﬁed that after the L

: -aceldent she had mcreased shoulder symptorns for 2 weeks

| On 9/6/ 1 8 the ev;dence deposuton of Dr Robert Gurtler an orthopedrc surgeon was taken on behalf of
pettttoner Dr Gurtler testlﬁed that when he saw peturoner on 1/3 0/ 1 8 he thought her problem was neck pam

"_but then after the cemcal MRI showed her problem Was not comlng frorn her neck he was of the oplnlon on

_ 5/ 8/ 18 that 1t became rnore evrdent that he needed to look harder at her rlght shoulder Dr. Gurtler was of the B _. .'

'oplmon that a SLAP tear 1s d1fﬁcult to dlagnose He testlﬁed that patlents often descrxbe 1t as pam in thelr L
shoulder 1nsrde I—Ie testtﬁed that thts is con51stent w1th the symptoms she gave hlm on 5/ 8/ 1 8 wh1ch was the

cheklng and groundtng sound He was of the oprmon that he is frequently not sure that 1t is a SLAP tear untll he - :

' -has an arthro MRI and they put ﬂuld in the shoulder that surrounds the tlssues so you can see the tears better
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Dr. Gurtler was of the opmron that petrttoner s symptoms were consrstent witha SLAP tear. He testrﬁed that

her rotator cuff was not torn but she had a tear in the blceps attachment at the top of her glenord

Dr Gurtler opmed that the petrtloner s need for surgery was caused by her work accrdent on 9/20/ 17 Dr.
Gurtler oprned that petrtroner had to be off work from 6/25/ 18-8/3/18. Dr Gurtler opmed that petltloner s rrght
B _shoulder condrtron was caused or aggravated by one or both of her work accrdents He further opmed that all of

| the medrcal treatment pe‘ntroner had for her nght shoulder at Carle was reasonable and medreally necessary

' On cross-examrnatron Dr Gurtler admltted that on 1/3 0/ 18 when he exammed petrtroner he was of the
'oprnron that pet1troner had a norrnal shou!der and “T feel conﬁdent that her shouider is not related to this”?,
: referrmg to 9/20/ 17 accrdent Dr Gurtler testrﬁed that on 518/ 18 he did not chart that he personaliy perforrned
| any objectlve examrnatron of petrtroner He test1ﬁed that Flannell d1d an O Brlen 8 test that day, wh1ch rs more
specrﬁc for SLAP tears and he rephcated it 1n hls exammatron that day, even though he drd not chart 1t Dr
Gurtler testlfred that the ﬁndmgs durrng the surgery were chronrc because 9 months had passed smce the L
' September 2017 injury. He was of the opmron that the tear of the brceps and super1or labrum was the cause of
her pain and that 1f he got r1d of 1t her paln would go away, d it did. He agreed that hrs examrnatton showed
pain on the med1a1 border of the scapula and the supetior scapular border would not support a brceps He then
testlﬁed that SLAP tears are very dtfﬁcult to dragnose and he did a poor _]Ob for petrtloner and he mrsdragnosed
herinJ anuary of 201 8 Dr Gurtier was of the optmon that petltloner was a sweet lady, but was not a good

hlstorlan He was of the opmron that petrtroner s complarnts wrth respect to the pam were somewhat drffuse in

' terms Where the pain was and when 1t was, et cetera

_ On 9/ 14/1 8 petrtroner returned to Cumrnrngs I—le noted that she contrnued to do reranvery weri He notea
that she was makrng good progress in therapy She was able to flex to 165 and wrth passrve a531stance got to
180 She had 60 degrees of external rotatron and on 1nterna1 rotatron She was, able to reach the L3 Ievel
reachrng behind her back Overall her motron was rmprovmg, and was not that pamﬁtl He contmued petrtloner

in therapy, and then transrtroned her to a home exer01se prograrn He contlnued her restrrctrons S

On 10/22/ 1 8 petrtloner returned to Cumrmngs She contmued to make steady progress She strll had some
apprehensron about her shoulder She was abIe to, actrvely ﬂex to 165 or nearly 170, and wrth passwe assrstance
she was able to reach 180 degrees She had 60 degrees of external rotatron and was abIe to reach shghtly above
L3 on 1nterna1 rotatlon I—Ier rnotlon was more conﬁdent and 1ess 1nhrb1ted He contlnued her in physrcal

_ therapy He released her on 10/29/ 1 8 wrth no heavy hftmg, no overhead work and a maxrmum shrft length of 3
] hours - ' '
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On 1 1/5/ 18 the evrdence deposrtron of Dr. Nogalskl, an orthopedrc surgeon was taken on behalf of
respondent Dr Nogalskr opmed that petrtroner had rrght neck trapezral posterlor scapular patn wrthout a clear
neurologrc or. anatomrc ccrrelatron and had a hrstory of rrght shoulder contusmn whrch seemed to have S
resolved He also noted a 2“d event on 2/21/ 18 to the rlght 51de w1thout any drscreet complarnts He opmed that
her current complamts when he exammed petltroner were related to some myofasmal or mlld neurogemc
'. symptoms m her rrght neck and scapular reglon Dr Nogalskz opmed that pet1t10ner did: not have any spe01ﬁc s
. .shoulder Issues around the glenohurneral Jomt that was supported by the MRI ﬁndmgs and prevrous exams from :._ :

'._'.:doctors that showed resolutlon of her symptoms inJa auuary as per Cumrnmgs exam and Dr Gurtler s exam 1n
I anuary of 201 8. He recommeaded trrgger pomt m]ectrons or possrble epldural sterord mjectlons at CS C6 for |

: her symptoms that could be for dragnostlc or potentlal therapeutlc purposes Dr Nogalskr drd not see any

) -._evrdence on the MRI to support a surglcal recommendatlon Dr Nogalskr testlﬁed that he dld not: see a purple : .

'tendon n the color arthroscoplc plctures he rev1ewed I—Ie testrﬁed that he d1d not ever seea purple brceps
. _tendon when he d1d scopes He was of the opnuon that the surgrcal slrdes showed some superror labral changcs
and ‘olceps superror Iabral msertronal changes that were consrstent wrth fraymg or degeneratlve frndlngs He I
| -was of the opmron that he dld not see any demonstrated mstabrilty of the superror labral ’orceps complex, whrch _': :
N . would be a symptomatrc SLAP tear that would cause symptoms Dr Nogalskr could not understand how only
: 'the smgle evaluatlon by athletrc tramer Flanuell found every test posrtwe when there had heen several _
_physmrans that had exammed petitroner that had not found these tests posrtrve He adrmtted that the posruve o
.'ﬁndmgs would be some clrmcal correlatlons to rndlcate that the brceps mrght be 1nvolved He also noted the -

reference {o resolved shoulder complalnts m December of 2017 He could not explam how all ofa a sudderr these |

' tests were posrtrve and petrtroner was havmg surgery He was of the 0pmron that that thls drd not add up to hrm.- R

_-'-Dr Nogalskr had 1o ObJ ectlve vahdatlon that petttloner sustamed an mjury to her brcep or labral regron of her &
'nght arm He 1 was of the oprmon that that brceps and superror labrai area are not loaded by a fall dlrectly on the”
: srde of the shoulder He belreved drrect blows to the s1de of the shoulder would cause corrtusroras and possrble

: chondral fractures where the ball hlts agamst the socket They would not load the brceps labral complex to o o
cause an 11‘1_}111’}/ Dr Nogalskr opmed that pentloner had reached max1mum medlcal 1mprovernent wrth respect -
to her two accldents, wrth the MMI for the September 2017 accrdent belng in December of 2017 Dr Nogalskt

opmed that petltioner $ need for surgery was not related to her two accrdents

On Cross exammatlon Dr Nogalskr testrﬁed that the last record he revrewed was from 7/6/ 18, Dr..
Nogalskl agreed that sometrmes a treatlng physrclan would ’oe ina better posrtlon to know a patlent’s medrcal
31tuat10n and othcr tlmes an mdependent rnedrcal exarnaner Would be in a better posrtlon Dr Nogalskl agreed '

' -that erther her 9/21/ 17 (src) or 2/21/ 18 acctdent at work could ’oe the date of onset of her symptorns Dr
: _ SR ' Page 12 B :



Nogalski was of the opinion that a blunt {rauma from a fall 'eann.ot' strain the ligamerrts vvithin the shoulder if the
arm was tucked into the srde He then testrﬁed that ¢ any of the llgaments within a shoulder canbe tornina fall

” partrally or totally, and require surgery. He believed it would be difficult to tear amuscle in 2 fall with thearm

to the s1de Dr Nogalskl opined that petttroner s treatment prlor to 4/ 17/ 1 g was reasonable and necessary. Dr.

Nagolski opined that petrtloner d1d not need surgery at all and that her need for surgery was not related to her

work. Dr Nagolskr admitted that he saw a suggestion of a SLAP tear in the MRI films jIISt as the radiologist

Dr. Safei did. However, he did not think petrtroner hada symptomatrc superlor labral tear. Dr. Nogalskr was of

the opmmn that Fiannell’s findings were inconsistent with previous exam ﬁndmgs, and noted that he is not a

board cert1ﬁed orthopedrc surgeon or shoulder specrahst

On 11/26/ 18 petrtroner followed up w1th Cummmgs for her rtght shoulder She reported that she was

back at work i m the classroorn for a whﬂe and has overall done quite welE She stated that she was only Workrng
' part-tzme She stated that she was ready to take ona brgger role. An exarnmatron revealed full range of motion,
nearly the same as her Jeft arm. However her strength on the right was still laggmg behmd the left. Her ratmg
was at least a 4+/5 on flexion and abductlcn, and she was able to lift agamst gravrty and moderate resrstance
‘Cummings wanted petrtroner to complete her therapy, worklng on her strength She was gtven a note to return
to full duty work with only a limitation that she need not be in the classroom as the only adult with children in
case there is an emergency where the children would need to be Iifted to safety. Otherwise, petitione'r'had" 10
restrictions. Curnmmgs noted that that restrrctton Would end orice she completed her strengthenlng phase of her

'physwal therapy She Was drscharged on ar as needed ba51s

_ O 1 12/ t2! 18 etrtroner last underwent p ysica l th erapy At that turre petrtror-er was tend l“ ut not hurting,
pam was 0- l/ 10 in the rrght shoulder Petrtroner tolerated the exercrses w1th0ut resrstance She had 1ncreased
) tendon 1rr1tat10n Petltroner was mstructed to do strengthenmg and: range of motlon stretchrng on alternate days

at home to allow her muscles 1o recuperate She was to contmue wrth strengthemng, work srrnulatlon and body

mechanlcs trarmng as tolerated

Petrtmner testrﬁed that currentty she cannot sleep on her rrght srde, attend to her personal needs, or lift arm
too h1gh She reported dtfﬁculty llﬁmg groceries,: heavy pots grandchrldren and laundry She now does more
with her left arm She testlﬁed that at Work she has difficulty lifting children onto the changmg table, carrying
the chrldren movmg h1ghcha1rs movmg strollers, movmg cots. She testlﬁed that she is assrsted by two other
teachers when necessary She testrﬁed that her tasks at work are rnore d1fﬁcult now because of the pam in her

-rrght arm Petrtroner noted the same drfﬁcultles at both ]obs Petltroner admltted that any restrrctlons she has

. are self rrnposed and not placed on her by any phys:cran
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_ ln J anuary of 2019 petlt:oner Voluntarlly re31gned from her }oh for respondent and at thtle ngs because o
e she was movmg to Chlcago 1o be w1th her husband She tesuﬁed that her husband and chtldren moved her to '
| .Chlcago She stated that she dId pack her clothes She currently works at the Cluldren Development Instrtute __

: _.She started there on 3/ 12/ 19 Her dutles are smmlar to those she had wrth respondent She earns $14 an hour in |

'her new Job She works 40 hou‘rs a day She works w1th 2-3 year old chlldren m her new posrtlon

: g Petrtroner testrﬁed that she was off work from 2/22/ 18 10/29/ 18 She stated that at that tlme she returned '
g '.to llght duty work a:nd on 12/ 12/ 18 Was released wrthout restrlctlcns Petrtloner testxﬁed that she only takes

: _ g over the counter medlcatlon for her r1ght shoulder pam
RIS PETITIONER'S CURRENT C()NDITION or ILL-BEING CAUSALLY RELATED TO THE INJURY" Tl

_ Two opimons were offered wrth respect to whether or not petrtroner S. current condmon of 1Il berng 1s -
causally related to the mJury she sustamed on 9/20/ 17 or 2/21/ 1 8 It is unrebutted that petltloner had no g
- '-documented problems Wlth or treatrnent for her r1ght shoulder prlor to the 1n3ury on 9/20/ 17 Addlttonally, the '
- arbltrator ﬁnds that petrtroner contmued wzth complalnts in her rlght arm throughout even though at t1mes the '.

':' ) '_ mtensrty varled Petltloner provrded oons1stent hrstorles of her accldents on 9/20/ l 7 and 2/21/ 1 8

The arbltrator also notes that at ﬁrst there was a questwn as to whether or not the pam m petrtroner s rtght' :
:arm was commg from her neck or her arm I—Iowever after addltlonal testmg of the cervrcal regton 1t was :

E determmed that the pam was not commg from petxtloner s neck

Pet1t1oner treated for her rtght arrn w1th Dr Chen Dr Gurtler Cummmgs PA, and sports tralner Flannell
he Was also examrned by Dr Nogalsk1 at the request of the reSpondent The arbltrator ﬁnds it SIgmﬁcant that
! desprte petttloner s rrght arm complmnts, it was drfﬁcult for petltroner S healtheare prov1ders to pmpomt the
: _:source of her pam The arbrtrator also ﬁnds 1t s1gn1ﬁcant that petittoner s attempts at physrcal therapy often _

. aggravated her symptomatology ' ' ' L o e 3

Aﬁer it was determmed that petltroner $ cervaeal Spme was not the source of her rlght arm/shoulder pam
K _-and pet1t1oner sustamed au aggravatmn to her rrght arm/shoulder on 2121/ 1 8, Dr Gurtler recommended '

: petltroner undergo an MR arthrogram the results of Whlch Were suggestxve ofa SLAP IV tear srnall

' -subscapulans recess bursms rmld degenerative changes of the AC Jomt effacmg the fat over the
musculotendmous ]unctton of the suprasplnatus whrch may produce pos1t1ona1 zmpmgement and enlarged

: ax1llary lymph nodes Dr Chen revrewed thls and noted that petrtzoner had a pretty 51gmﬁcant lahral tear and
- was stlll havmg d1fﬁculty wrth her rlght shoulder '
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'On 5/8/18 petitioner was examined by sports tramer Flannell and Dr. Gurtler Although Flannell did the

_ examrnatron Dr Gurtler also saw pet1t1oner He determlned that petltroner had a SLAP tear and this was

| consistent w1th her symptoms smce fier i mjury in 2017, He was of the opmron that this i 1s why she had had
complarnts in her whole arm He was further of the opmlon that the SLAP tear was the source of her pam and it
started wrth her i 1nJury i 201 7 He recommended surgery to address this.. On 6/25/ 18 pet1t1oner underwent a-
right shoulder arthroscopic brceps release and superior labral debrldement with open removal of blceps from
.b1c1p1tal groove extra—artrcularly Her post cperatrve diagnosis was rlght shoulder blceps and superior labral
tear with brceps adhered i in the bicipital groove. Post—operatrvely petrtroner followed—up wnh Dr. Gurtler and
underwent physrcal therapy Petrtroner was eventually returned to li ght duty work and then full duty work
wrthout restnct1ons wluch she had not been able to do before the surgery

Dr Gurtler adnutted that when he ﬁrst saw petrtroner he beheved her problem was wrth her necl( and not

' her shoulder However when 1t was determmed the neck was not the source of the symptomatology in

: petmoner s neck he had the MR arthrograrn performed and determrned that the SLAP tear was the source cf her
| problerns all along He was of the oprmon that SLAP tears are drfﬁcult to dragnose He noted that patrents
often describe it as pain in the inside of the shoulder and this is consistent with the symptoms pet1t1oner had on
5/8/18. He noted that he is frequently not sure 1t isa 'SLAP tear until he performs an arthrogram MR. He
opined that pet1t1oner s symptoms were conmstent wath a SLAP tear. He noted her rotator cuff was not torn, but
she had a tear in the brceps attachment at the top of her glenord He opmed that her need for surgery was her
work accident ot 9/20/17. He further opmed that her r1ght shoulder condrtlon was caused or aggravated by one
or both of her work accidents. Dr. Gurtlet testified that although he did not personally chart anythlng on 5/8/18
he did rephcate the O’Brien’s test that day, whlch is more specrﬁc for SLAP tears. Dr. Gurtler admitted that

- SLAP tears are very dlfﬁcult to dlagnose ‘and he dida poor job petrtroner when he mrsdragnosed pet1t10ner in.
January of 2018. He attnbuted some of this to the fact that petrttoner was not a good historian; and her

complaints wrth respect to the pain were. somewhat chffuse in terms of where the paln was and when 1t was.

Dr. Nogalskr was of the op1n1on that when he saw petrtroner her cornplamts were related to some.
myofascral or mild neurogeruc symptoms in her r1ght neck and scapular regron He noted no specrﬁc shoulder
issues around the glenohumeral Jomt that was supported hy her MRI ﬁndmgs and prevrous exams. He was of
the oprnlon that he saw no evrdence on the MRI to support a surgrcal recommendanon ‘but could not explarn
how after surgery she unproved to the pornt where she was able to return to.-full duty ‘work wrthout restr1ctlons, '
'whrch she was unable to do before that Dr Ncgalslq agreed that the surgrcal slides showed some superror

Jabral changes and b1ceps superror labral 1nsertronal changes that were cons1stent w1th fraymg or degeneratrve
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ﬁndmgs He dld not see any demonstrated 1nsta’o1hty of the superror Iabral blceps complex, whtoh would bea E
'symptomatrc SLAP tear that cause symptoms Desprte all these oplmons Dr. Nogalsk1 admrtted that although
he did view the pretores he drd not perform the surgery Dr Nogalskl also adm1tted that the. posrtrve ﬁndmgs .

Would be some chmcal correlatrons to mdtcate the blceps rmght be: 1nvolved Dr. Nogalskr was of the oprnton :

: that the btceps and superror Iabral area are not loaded by a fall drreetly on the srde of the shoulder However he o

o 'd1d not address the meehamsm of petltloner s 1njury in Fe’ourary 201 8 and how that rnay relate to her current
-_condrtron of ill- bemg He was also of the oprmon that a blunt trauma from a fall eannot strarn the hgaments

o w1th1n the shoulder if the arrn Was tucked mto the 31de However the credlble medtcal evrdence does not detall '

- what posmon petlttoner $ arm was in When she fell other than the fact that she fell on her shoulder and then her -

' .:whole srde Dr Nogalskr then admrtted that any of the hgaments v\athm a shoulder oan be torn 1n a fall partrally

' or totally, and requlre surgery Although Dr Nogalskr agreed wﬁh the radrologrst that there was a SLAP tear on _

"'the MR arthro gram he drd not thmk it was symptomatrc The arbttrator does not glve much Werght to thrs
opmton glven the fact that after the surgery and post—operatrve treatment petatroner was ultlrnately released to
' full duty work wrthout restnctrons, somethrng she was not able to do smce the acmdents Dr Nogalskr also -
: _.beheved that a patrent in thelr 40 s and 50’s would have the same ﬁndmgs as petttloner had in her shoulder at
| the t1n1e of the arthroscopy He was also of the opmron that petttroner s symptoms were subj ectzve m nature and
' 'dld not correlate speelﬁeally wrth blceps/Iabral oomplex m;ury Desp}te these oprmons Dr Nogalskr dld not
_' address the faet that prior to the surgery petrtloner had undergone extended conservatrve treatment that mcluded '
a few sessrons of physrcal therapy wrth no lasung mrprovement and an mabrhty to return to full duty work. _
: However after the surgery for the SLAP tear petltroner was able to ultrmately return to full duty Work wrthout _ '

'restrrctlons '

Based on the above as well as the credrble evrdence the arbttrator ﬁnds the causal conneetlon oplnlons of L
-"-Dr Gurtler more persuasrve than those of Dr Nogalskr The arbttrator bases tlus fmdmg 1n part on the faet that
: Dr Gurtler was her treatlng physwran and also was the one that performed the surgery and Was able to see the o '
condltron of her shoulder at the trrne of the surgery ’l‘he arbttrator ﬁnds the opmrons of Dr Nogalskr o
'unsupported by the eredrble medrcal ev1dence The arbttrator al 50 notes that petltroner was not a great hlstorran |
that petrtroner had 1o problems wrth her rrght Shoulder/arm prror to the mgurres on 9/20/ 17 and 2/2 1/ 1 8 and |
that followmg these mjurres petrtloner oontmued to be symptomatte and uuable to work full duty w1thout
restrrctrons However, aﬁer it was determmed that the eause of her eomplarnts was the SLAP tear and after |
surgery was performed petltloner was ultrmately able to return to full duty work wrthout restrrctlons after her _

: 1 post-operatlve treatment that meluded a eourse of physwal therapy



. The arbitrator finds the petitioner’s current condition of ill- being as it relates to her right arm/shoulder is

' causally related to the 1njur1es she sustarned on 9/20/ l7 and 2/21/ 1 8

J. WERE THE MEDICAL SERVICES THAT WERE PROVIDED TO PETITIONER REASONABLE AND NECESSARY? HAS
RESPONDENT PAID ALL APPROPRIATE CHARGES F OR ALL REASONABLE AND NECESSARY MEBICAL SERVICES"

Havrng found the petltloner $ current condition of ill- berng as it relates to her right arm/shoulder is
causally related to the injuries she sustained on 9/21/17 and 2/21/18, the arbitrator ﬁnds the medical services
that were provxded to petrtloner for her right arm/shoulder from 9/21/ 17 through 12/ 12/18 were reasonable and

necessary. to cure or reheve pe‘utloner from the effects of the injuries she sustamed on 9/21/ 17 and 2/21/ 18.

'- | Respondent shall pay reasonable and necessary medlcal services for petrtroner s right arm/shoulder from
9/21/ 17 through 12/ 12/ 18 as provrded in Sections S(a) and 8. 2 of the Act.

Respondent shall be given a credit for medrcal beneﬁts that have been pald and Respondent shall hold

| petttroner harmless from any clalrns by any prov1ders of the serv1ces for wlnch Respondent is recervmg this

credit as provrded in Sectlon 8(]) of the Act
K. _WI_{A_T_ TEMPORARY BENEFITS ARE _IN DISPUTE?

Having found the petitioner’s current condition of ill-being as it relates to her right arm/shoulder is
causally related to the injuries she sustained on 9/21/17 and 2/21/18, the arbitrator finds the petitioner was
temporanily totally disabled from 2/22/18 through 10/29/18, a period of 35-4/7. The arbitrator further finds the
petitioner shall reCeive a credit of $5 ,_9_04-..34 for temporary total disability henef_rts already paid. -

. R'espiondent shall pay"Petitioner Ite.mpo'rary total di'sahilit}? beneﬁts of $4 1. 83/week for 35-4/7 weeks,
commerncing 212211 8 through 107291 8, as prov1ded in Sectlon 8(b) of the Act.

‘L. WHAT IS THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF THE IN.}URY"

‘Fori 1njur1es that occurred after o/1/ 11 according to 820 TLCS 305/8. lB(b) the Commission shall base its
determinatlon of permanent parttal disabllrty based upon ﬁVB factors mcludlng an AMA report the occupatron

of the 1n]ured employee the age of the ernployee at the time of 1nJury, the employee s future earning capaczty

and ev1dence of dlsablhty corroborated by treatmg medical reeords

_ Wlﬂl regard to subsectron (i) of §8 lb(b) nerther party offered mto evrdence an AMA 1mpa1rrnent report
1nto ewdence The Arbrtrator therefore gtves no wetght to this factor _

- With regard_ to_subsection_ (11) of §_8.- lb(b),_the occupatio_n of the employée, the Arbitr_ator notes that the
petitioner wa's a 53 year old Early Head Start PreSChool -Teacher On 12/ 12/ 18 petitioner had her last physiCal -

therapy sessron and reported no parn Just some tenderness As of that date petitroner was released to return to



. Work wrthout restnctrons and contrnued to work wrthout restrtctrons until she voluntanly re31gned her posrtron :
in J anuary of 2019 to move to Chlcago wrth her husband Petrtroner performs the same type of work in: |

Chrcago Petrtroner has contrnued to work w1thout restrrctrons or accommodatlons s1nce berng released to full

: duty work For these reasons the arbrtrator grves sorne we1 ght to thts factor

_ Wrth regard to subsectron (111) of §8 lb(b), the Arbrtrator notes that the petltroner was a 53 year old Early
'Head Start Preschool Teacher at the trme of the 1n3ury Petrtroner was released from care to full duty work __ '
_ ; 'w1thout restr1ct10ns Although petttroner had 1o pam on her last day of physwal therapy, she was tender She o
: _.: had mcreased tendon 1rr1tatron She was 1nstructed to do strengthenmg and range of rnotlon stretchmg on
.alternate days at home to allow her muscles to recuperate She was to contrnue w1th strengthenmg, work :
" srmulatron and body mechamcs trarmng as tolerated She testrﬁed that at work she has dtfﬁculty hftrng chrldren_' |
- onto the changrng table, carrymg the chrldren, movmg hrghcharrs movrng strollers rnovrng cots She testtﬁed
) '.:that she is a351sted by two other teachers when necessary She testlﬁed that her tasks at work are more dtfﬁcalt _
_ | -'now because of the pam 1n her rrght arm Petmoner noted the sarne drfﬁcultles at both _]ObS Petrtroner adrmtted.
| '-that any restrrctrons she has are self nnposed and not placed on her by any physrcran The Ar‘ortrator notes that
. _'grven her age petltloner could poten‘uaily have over a decade of preschool teachmg Work ahead of her For

these reasons the arbltrator glves greater werght to thrs factor

: Wrth regard to subsectron (w) of §8 lb(b), Petrtroner s ﬁrture earnrngs capacrty, the arbrtrator notes that
'petrtloner was released to full duty Work wrthout restrlctrons Petrtroner testtﬁed that she currently earns $14 00. _'
but did not state how many hours a week she works For thls reason the arbrtrator is unable to determlne how o
these wages compare to her wages for respondent Add1t1onally, the arb1trator notes that petrtroner was able to .
return to her regular duty JOb wrthout restnctrons after she was released from care and then voluntarrly retlred to

rnove to Clucago with her husband Therefore the arbltrator grves lrttle welght to this factor

_ Wlth regard to subsectron (v) of §8. lb(b) evzdence of drsabﬂaty corroborated by the treatrng med1ca1
:records the Arbttrator ﬁnds the pet1t1oner sustalned an 1n}ury to his rlght shoulder For thrs 1nJury she
-underwent conservatave treatment and ultrmately underwent surgery fora SLAP tear T ollowmg surgery, _
petrtroner underwent a course of physrcal therapy and was ultrmately released from all care on 12/ 12/18. At that )
'.'trme she had no pam, _]ust some tenderness However petrtroner testlﬁed that currently she cannot sleep on Ther
5| ight 31de attend to her personal needs or lift arm too hi gh She reported dlfﬁculty lrftmg grocerres heavy pots,
grandchrldren and laundry. ‘She now does more with her left arm. She testlﬁed that at work she has drfﬁculty
lzftlng children onto the changlng table carrymg the chtldren movmg hlghcharrs ‘moving strollers, movmg cots.

R She testlﬁed that she is assrsted by two other teachers when necessary She testrﬁed that her tasks at work are
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more difficult now because of the pain in her right arm. Petitioner noted the same difficulties at both jobs.
Petitioner admitted that any restri_ctions she has are self imposed and not placed on her by any physician. The

 arbitrator .fi.nds_ it szgmﬁcant that dés.p.ivte these szgmﬁcant su‘oj ective lccl)'mp'lai.ntél after her full duty release to

work without restrictions,'petitioner has made no attempt to followup with Dr. Gurtler or aziy other doctor for

these c_.or_npl_aints. Thgrefore, the arbitrator gives greater weight to this factor;

* Based on the above factors, and t